
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Licensing 
Committee

Councillor A Bardoe (Chairman)
Councillor J Burrell (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor I D Armitt Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor R M Currans Councillor P Kelly
Councillor P Cutler Councillor C S McLean
Councillor M J Davis Councillor B E Read
Councillor D A Hammock Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor D E Hunnisett Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor J Jones

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Wednesday 26 September 2018

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
18 September 2018



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Wednesday 26 September 2018

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of any Grant(s) of Dispensation.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 
14 March 2017 (Pages 1 - 4)

4. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meetings of the Licensing 
sub - committee held on 6 December 2017, 21 May 2018 and 10 
September 2018. (Pages 5 - 20)
The minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 2018 were not 
available to be included in the main agenda pack and will be 
circulated under a separate cover. 

5. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

6. Draft Statement of Licensing Policy: Consultation (Pages 21 - 56)

7. Draft Statement of Gambling Policy Consultation (Pages 57 - 88)

8. Review of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Knowledge 
Test (Pages 89 - 90)

9. Taxi Driver Accreditation and Awareness Day: Presentation 

10. Delegated Action under Standing Order 38 : Consultation on 
Changes to Gaming Machines and Social Responsibilities: 
January 2018 (Pages 91 - 162)





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LICENSING COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Licensing Committee held on Tuesday 14 March 
2017 at 7.00pm.

PRESENT: Councillor A Bardoe (Chairman)
Councillor J Burrell (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor P Cutler
Councillor M J Davis
Councillor D A Hammock
Councillor J Jones
Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks

18. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Armitt, Hunnisett, Mrs 
Maria Kelly, Pat Kelly, McLean, and Read.

The Committee noted the appointment of Councillor D L Reynolds as a 
substitute Member and the Chairman welcomed him to the meeting.

19. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest received.

20. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES HELD ON 22 SEPTEMBER 2016 

The Minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 22 September 2016 were 
agreed as a correct record of that meeting.

21. LICENSING SUB - COMMITTEES CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meetings of the Licensing Sub Committee held on 29 
September 2015, 2 October 2015, 14 October 2016, and 17 November 2016, 
were agreed as correct records of those meetings.

22. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman reported that he had received additional comments relating to 
the Review of Hackney Carriage Byelaws and Informal Consultation 
Response, item 7 on the Agenda.

In view of the late receipt of the comments the Chairman reported that he had 
asked the Licensing Manager to update Members verbally on the comments 
when that item was discussed.

 



LICENSING COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 14 MARCH 2017

2

23. REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE 
LICENSING POLICY 1 APRIL 2017 TO 31 MARCH 2020 AND 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE. 

Members were reminded that at their meeting held on 22 September 2016 
[Min.No.6] the Committee considered and approved proposals for a number of 
amendments to the current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy (adopted on 01 April 2014 for a three year period). 

The aim of the amendments was to simplify and consolidate the Policy and to 
ensure that the Policy correctly reflected current Government guidance and 
statutory requirements.  

As a result of the approval, a consultation exercise on the amendments was 
carried out between the 24 October 2016 and 31 December 2016, with details 
being published on the Council’s website and referred to in the printed 
newsletter sent to the trades in October 2016.

Accordingly Members received a report which detailed the proposed new 
Policy and set out the responses to the proposals which were received from 
the Hackney Carriage trade organisations and a local operator.

Having considered the report, considerable concern was expressed that the 
Policy implied that applications received from persons convicted of Murder or 
Rape, where the conviction was over 10 years before the date of the 
application, would be considered for the granting of a licence.

While it was understood that having committed such an offence was not an 
automatic disqualification from obtaining a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire 
Licence, as rehabilitation of offenders was a matter to be considered, it was 
felt that protection of the public was of paramount importance.

RESOLVED that 

a. The responses to the consultation on the draft Statement of Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy at Appendix A to the Report, 
be noted.

b. For the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.2 of the Report and pending the 
repeal of and making of new Hackney Carriage Byelaws, the 
Committee notes that Byelaw 18(i) relating to ‘lost/found property’ is 
not being enforced and that the ‘Found Property Procedure’ at 
Appendix Q to the Policy, be agreed.

c. For the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.3 of the Report, the Versant 
English Test proficiency score of 56/80 not be lowered.

d. For the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.4 of the Report, the new style 
computer based Knowledge Test be continued with and that the 



LICENSING COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 14 MARCH 2017

3

number of applicants and pass and fail rates be monitored over a 
period of six months to obtain comparable data.

e. For the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.6 of the Report, Condition 14(i) 
relating to the requirement for operators to keep a copy of the driver’s 
enhanced DBS certificate, be deleted from Appendix H of the 
Operator’s Conditions.

f. For the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.7 of the Report, a 3 year Driving 
Qualification period be implemented in place of the age 21 restriction.  

g. For the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.8 of the Report, the condition 
relating to the requirement to carry and have available for use fire 
extinguishers in private hire vehicles, be reinstated in Appendix B, C 
and D, and that the Policy provision at para. 23.5 relating to risk 
assessments in carrying such equipment be endorsed.

h. The Statement of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 
at Appendix B to the Report, be adopted and that the Policy be 
effective from 1 April 2017, for a three year period.

i. The period after which a person convicted of murder or rape could be 
considered for the issue of a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Licence 
be increased from 10 to 20 years in the Guidelines Relating to the 
Relevance of Previous Convictions

j. Officers be asked to research and report on the viability of excluding 
persons convicted of murder or rape from holding a Hackney Carriage 
or Private Hire Licence.

24. REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE HACKNEY CARRIAGE BY - LAWS 
AND INFORMAL CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

The Committee received a report which informed Members that the current 
Hackney Carriage Byelaws which relate solely to the licensed Hackney 
Carriage trade became operative on 10 March 1975, and thus have been in 
place for 42 years,

It was noted that the repeal and replacement of the Byelaws was considered 
necessary to ensure that the Byelaws accurately reflect changes in legislation 
and updates to the Department of Transport’s (DfT) Model Byelaws, upon 
which the 1975 Byelaws are based.

The Committee were informed that Officers have been in informal discussions 
with the DfT on the Council’s proposals to replace the 1975 Byelaws with the 
current DfT Model Byelaws, but subject to some deviation relating to 

 how the Council will deal with ‘found property’; and,



LICENSING COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 14 MARCH 2017

4

 the inclusion of Byelaws relating to drivers notifying the Licensing 
Authority of any changes in their circumstances during the period of 
their licence:

Additionally it was noted that Informal consultation on the draft Hackney 
Carriage Byelaws had been carried out with the Hackney Carriage trade 
associations between 30 January 2017 and 26 February 2017 and that 
responses were set out in the Officer’s report.

The Licensing Manager also drew Members’ attention to a response to the 
Report which had been submitted at a late stage.

RESOLVED that the 

a. Responses from the Hackney Carriage trade associations to the 
informal consultation on the draft Hackney Carriage Byelaws, at 
Appendix A to the Report, be noted.

b. Committee approve, in principal, the draft Hackney Carriage Byelaws, 
at Appendix B to the Report and recommended their adoption to the 
General Assembly of the Council.

The meeting closed at 7.25 pm

Councillor Arron Bardoe
CHAIRMAN



1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee held on Wednesday 6 
December 2017 at 10.00 am

PRESENT: Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor D E Hunnisett

Also Present:

 

Ms S Cotton (Solicitor), Ms J Philpott (Licensing Manager), Ms C 
Hillman (Licensing Officer), Mr M Salisbury (Enforcement & 
Regulatory Services Manager), Mr N Murphy (Committee Co-
ordinator); Mr A Mumtaz, Mr E Keira and Mr J Semaan (all Dominoes 
Pizzas), Councillor C McLean (Ward Cllr. for Newtown)  

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Councillor Bardoe was proposed, seconded and duly elected Chairman of the 
meeting.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interests.

4. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items for the Sub Committee to consider.

5. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

The Chairman introduced Members present and called upon others present to 
identify themselves.  He then explained to the parties that the Sub-Committee 
intended to follow the procedure detailed in the Licensing Sub-Committee 
Rules of Procedure, circulated as item 5 on the agenda.

6. APPLICATION BY NAAZ LIMITED FOR A NEW PREMISES LICENCE FOR 
A DOMINO'S PIZZA STORE AT 62 LONDON ROAD, STONE, DARTFORD, 
KENT.  DA2 6AN 

The Sub Committee received a report from Ms Philpott the Licensing Manager 
setting out the details of an application for a new premises licence under 
section 34 of the 2003 Licensing Act.

The Application proposed the provision of late night refreshment in the form of 
a pizza delivery service and retail outlet.  The following hours of operation 
were proposed, 



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

 for pizza delivery and take away sales from 11.00pm until 1.00am 
 and the delivery of food only until 3.00am, 

from Monday to Sunday.

Ms Philpott explained that the Applicant had been inadvertently operating 
unlicensed for several years but had ceased when this was discovered, and 
had applied for a licence immediately. 

Ms Philpott informed the Sub Committee that a number of conditions for 
inclusion in any Licence had been agreed between the Police and the 
Applicant in relation to the Licensing objective “Crime and Disorder” and that 
other Responsible Authorities had not commented on the Application.

However it was further reported that local ward Councillors had registered 
concerns regarding the proposed operating hours and the “Prevention of 
Public Nuisance” objective of the licensing policy.

Accordingly the Chairman introduced Mr Mumtaz, Mr Keira and Mr Semaan 
and asked that they present their Application to the Sub Committee for 
consideration.

Mr Mumtaz made the following points

The Dominoes brand was a well - known franchised operation and the parent 
Company was very keen to maintain a solid reputation which supported local 
causes and offered the best possible service to its clientele.

Accordingly Dominoes would withdraw the franchise from any outlet where 
the reputation was damaged, thus it was in the interest of the franchisees to 
perform to a high standard, to keep the outlet clean and litter free, and provide 
the best customer experience possible.

Mr Mumtaz explained that the store had not received any complaints 
regarding litter or late night disturbance, during the period that it had been 
operating unlicensed, and also understood that no complaints had been made 
to the Responsible Authorities. 

Additionally Mr Keira provided statistics which demonstrated that the numbers 
of customers visiting the store after 11.00pm was quite small – less than 15% 
of their turnover. 

Mr Samaar informed the Sub Committee that Dominoes practiced a “good 
neighbour” approach to retailing, undertaking educational and charitable work, 
and retailed a top quality product.  He stressed that he had spent 18 years at 
this site and had, as far as he was aware, received no complaints relating to 
litter or anti - social behaviour.

He was critical of comments made by the objector as there appeared to be no 
solid evidence to support assertions of littering and the like.

Members asked the following questions:



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 6 DECEMBER 2017

3

For how long were you operating extended hours unlicensed?

For about four years.

We understand that parking problems have occurred due to your customers, 
is this so?

We are aware that passing car trade has caused problems with pavement 
parking, but this is at a very low level.

The store attracts “walk in” trade from passers - by during late night periods, is 
it possible that they dispose of their box thoughtlessly some distance from the 
shop?

This could be so but we have evidence that.

Can you explain what business benefit you are obtaining with late - night 
opening if you are only generating low levels of trade?

We are providing a service to the public.  We are open for the delivery of food, 
and it is a service to be open for passing trade, and the like.  Additionally we 
do provide a lot of food for workers at the local hospital.

Can you say why you are happy to close at 1.00pm?

We would very much like to have 24 hour opening but are happy to accept 
these hours.

Following these questions, the Chairman invited the objector to address the 
sub Committee.

Councillor Calvin McLean informed the Sub Committee that he was 
representing the views of his fellow ward councillors for the area where the 
Dominoes outlet was sited.

He explained that he and other ward councillors had received objections from 
local residents relating to possible issues regarding litter and public nuisance.  
He felt that growth in business at the outlet could only lead in one direction 
and that it was the duty of the Sub Committee to protect the public from this.
He explained that a letter had been circulated to all traders in the area some 
time ago relating to existing litter issues, but that no response had been 
received.

Councillor McLean informed the Sub Committee that any extension in hours 
beyond 11.00pm would undoubtedly lead to increase in litter and that it was 
the Council’s duty to protect local residents from this.

Additionally he believed that growth in trade of the outlet would lead to 
increase in late night traffic and disturbance to local residents.



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

Finally Councillor McLean explained that a mediation exercise had taken 
place, between objectors and applicants but that the Applicants were unwilling 
to amend the opening hours requested in the Application.

The Sub Committee asked the following questions:

Given the low numbers of prospective visitors to Dominoes in the later hours 
is it not possible that litter issues are caused earlier in the day, by earlier 
users?

That is possible.

Are there refuse bins close to the outlet well used?

They are and were introduced at the request of the shop management.

Do we have any firm evidence that litter deposits are caused by Dominoes 
users?

Obviously some litter is specific to the outlet branding, and this can be seen in 
the locale.

At the conclusion of the questions the Chairman invited the Objector and the 
Applicant to sum up their cases, and following their summaries the Members 
and the Clerk withdrew from the open meeting to consider the matter in 
private. 

On resumption of the proceedings in open session the Chairman stressed that 
the sub Committee had considered the submissions from all parties and had 
accorded weight to the to the comments of the Licensing Officer.

Accordingly, on the basis that this decision was appropriate to meet the aims 
of the licensing objectives it was

RESOLVED

1. That the License be granted to permit the following licensable 
activities and hours

a) Relevant licensable activities:

i. The provision of Late Night Refreshment;

b) Hours for the provision of Late Night Refreshment:

i. Monday to Sunday 23:00 – 03:00
ii. Take away service between 23:00 and 01:00 
iii. Delivery service until 03:00

c) Other times premises proposed to be open to the public: 

Monday to Sunday 11:00 – 01:00



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 6 DECEMBER 2017

5

2. The License be issued subject to the conditions set out in the 
Report of the Licensing Officer

The meeting closed at 11.45 am

Councillor A Bardoe 
CHAIRMAN





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee held on Monday 21 May 
2018 at 11.00 am

PRESENT:
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor D E Hunnisett

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Sarah Cotton – Solicitor
Angie Amon – Legal Officer
Joanne Philpott – Licensing Manager
Caroline Hillman – Licensing Officer
David Hook – Democratic Services Officer

Also Present:

Mrs Yvonne Rickards, Applicant on behalf of JGN Property Limited
Ms Vicky Tignal-Smith, staff member 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Councillor A Bardoe was proposed, seconded and duly elected Chairman of 
the Sub-Committee.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interests.

4. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman confirmed that there were no urgent items for the Sub-
Committee to consider.

5. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

The Chairman introduced Members present and called upon others present to 
identify themselves.  He then explained to the parties that the Sub-Committee 
intended to follow the procedure detailed in the Licensing Sub-Committee 
Rules of Procedure, circulated as Item 5 in the Agenda papers.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MONDAY 21 MAY 2018

2

6. APPLICATION BY YVONNE RICKARDS ON BEHALF OF JGN PROPERTY 
LIMITED FOR A NEW PREMISES LICENCE FOR THE WIG AND GOWN, 
43 SPITAL STREET, DARTFORD, KENT DA1 2DX 

The Sub-Committee received a report from the Council’s Licensing Manager 
setting out the details of an application for a New Premises Licence under 
Section 16 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the Wig and Gown, 43 Spital Street, 
formerly known as the Courthouse (Appendix A, agenda pages 25-46).

The Licensing Manager advised the Sub-Committee that the premises at 43 
Spital Street had been closed since September 2017 prior to the current 
application being received in March 2018. No representations had been 
received from the Planning Officer, the Fire Safety Officer, Trading Standards 
or the Child Protection Agency, in respect of the new premises licence 
application from Yvonne Rickards (on behalf of JGN Property Limited).

However, given that the Applicant proposed that the garden/courtyard at the 
rear of the premises be used by patrons eating and drinking until 23:00 hours: 
representations had been received from the Council’s Principal Environmental 
Health Officer (PEHO) on behalf of the Environmental Health Partnership, 
based on the licensing objective of “the prevention of public nuisance” (as 
detailed in Appendix B to the report). 

In accordance with the Rules of Procedure, the Chairman invited Mrs 
Rickards to present her case in support of the Application, before seeking 
detailed comments from the PEHO. Mrs Rickards confirmed the following 
points for the Sub-Committee in respect of the garden/courtyard area:

 Closing the garden/courtyard to customers from 21:00 hours was 
unrealistic;

 No music speakers would be erected in the area;
 The garden furniture would be of wood construction not metal;
 The seating area would have a half-canopy cover to deaden sound;
 The present fencing would be backed with wood panelling to prevent 

the passing of illegal/illicit substances or goods, increase privacy for 
both patrons and the public and to act as further sound-proofing;

 4 (four) security personnel would man the gate and door into the main 
premises on Thursdays, Fridays, Saturdays and bank holidays 
including Xmas Eve and New Year’s Eve;

 The door to the garden/courtyard would remain closed and the window 
blocked and sound-proofed

 Live music was proposed inside the premises every 6-8 weeks.
 

In response to detailed questions from the Sub-Committee, Mrs Rickards 
confirmed the following further points:

 She had worked extensively in the licensing industry since she was 18 
years old, through-out Kent and South-East England and was a current 
Licence Holder for a Café/Bar. She described herself as ‘old school’ 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MONDAY 21 MAY 2018

3

management with extensive knowledge and experience of both ‘hot 
and cold’ service provision in pubs, restaurants and hotels;

 She considered staff training to be essential, and demanded that her 
staff adopt an active and positive interface with all customers when on 
duty, both in terms of ID and age verification and their all-round 
behaviour; 

 The premises would be air-conditioned [given the requirement to have 
windows and doors closed when music was being played];

 In the case of resident complaints over noise levels, the schedule for 
‘Live’ music would be curtailed to every 6-8 weeks;

 DJ’d music would be provided at the week-end also the odd ‘Comedy 
Night’ to raise the clientele profile subject to review; 

 The premises would be installing noise-limiting equipment to ensure all 
music remained at a comfortable ‘green’ level of emissions;

 The absence of outside speakers in the garden/courtyard area should 
ensure noise levels were not an issue;

 The capacity of the garden/courtyard area was estimated at 30 (thirty);
 The door from the main premises into the garden/courtyard was at the 

end of a corridor, and had a self-closing swing mechanism [to address 
the potential danger of it being left open by customers/staff];

 Extended licensing hours [21:00 – 23:00] for the garden/courtyard area 
were sought in particular to accommodate evening trade in the 
Summer, and to compete with other premises in the Town offering a 
garden facility;

 The proposed half-roof over the seating area would be of a wood 
construction not fabric to address fire prevention concerns specifically 
over patrons who smoked.
 

The Chairman thanked Mrs Rickards for responding to the Sub-Committee’s 
detailed questions and asked the Principal Environmental Health Officer 
[PEHO] to address the Sub-Committee with her specific concerns against the 
application as submitted.

The PEHO advised the Sub-Committee that the premises at 43 Spital Street 
Dartford had been the subject of previous complaints from residents to 
Environmental Health & Safety on noise grounds since 2008. A Noise 
Abatement Notice had been issued in response against the then licence 
holder during the summer of 2011 and subsequently, in the spring of 2013, 
the garden/courtyard area had been voluntarily closed from 21:00 hours to 
patrons, after which complaints had ceased. 

The PEHO expressed concern that reversing the current policy in respect of 
the garden/courtyard, and increasing use of the area by patrons from 21:00 to 
23:00 hours in respect of the new application; would have a significant and 
detrimental impact for residents of both the Cloisters area and the flats that 
overlooked the rear of the premises at 43 Spital Street; in terms of increased 
noise levels, irrespective of the absence of a music provision. She advised 
that it was generally acknowledged and accepted that noise levels increased 
amongst patrons during the later licensing hours at premises, as customers 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MONDAY 21 MAY 2018

4

became ‘immune’ to the decibel levels they increasingly generated, both to be 
heard within individual conversations and collectively. Whilst door control was 
proposed, in reality, there was little that security staff could do to prevent a 
general increase in noise level amongst patrons as evenings progressed. 

The PEHO had proposed a compromise timing of 22:00 hours for the closure 
of the garden/courtyard area, with a verbal counter proposal received from the 
applicant for closure of the garden/courtyard at 22:30 hours. However, given 
that glass collection, bottle deposits and general clear-up would extend 
activity outside to approximately 23:00 hours, the PEHO retained her 
concerns over an increase in the proposed closure time for the 
garden/courtyard area beyond 22:00 hours.

The following points were confirmed variously by the Licensing Manager, the 
PEHO and the Applicant, in response to further questions from the Sub-
Committee:

 Kent Police [not represented] had no issues regarding patrons smoking 
in the garden/courtyard area up to 23:00 hours or at the front of the 
premises during licensing hours;

 Noise levels from conversing patrons in the garden/courtyard area after 
21:00 hours remained a cause of concern, irrespective of the fact that 
no music was proposed in that area;

 Noise from the collection of glasses and in particular the depositing of 
bottles by staff in allocated containers after 21:00 remained an issue of 
concern for Environmental Health and had attracted most complaints 
under the previous licence holder in the period 2008 to 2011;

 In April 2011, on the evidence of noise recordings, an Abatement 
Notice had been imposed following concerted complaints  from 
residents over consistently loud and raised voices in the 
garden/courtyard area and the rear gates, with further complaints 
received in 2012, leading to the voluntary closure of the garden area 
after 21:00 hours in 2013 and objections to metal garden furniture [on 
noise grounds] in 2014;

 The delivery of fresh bread products between 2 a.m. and 3 a.m. daily 
was not a potential cause for concern;

 CCTV footage [agenda p.17 para (f)] would be made available to 
Council Officers on demand as well as Kent Police representatives;

 Rear gates to the garden/courtyard would be covered in wood for 
privacy and remain padlocked in-between agreed delivery times with 
Mrs Yvonne Rickards available as DPS to open the gates on a needs 
basis.

Following the responses recorded above from all parties to Members’ 
additional questions, the Chairman invited the Objector and the Applicant to 
briefly summarise their respective cases. At the conclusion of those summary 
statements, the Sub-Committee withdrew from the public proceedings to 
consider their decision in private, accompanied initially by the Committee 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MONDAY 21 MAY 2018

5

Clerk, and subsequently (at the request of the Chairman) by the Council’s 
legal representatives present.

On resumption of the proceedings in open session, at the request of the 
Chairman, the Council Solicitor informed all parties present that her role in the 
adjourned proceedings had been confined to hearing the Sub-Committee’s 
final decision and confirming its legal basis, and that she had played no part in 
making findings of fact on behalf of the Sub-Committee.

The Chairman stressed that the Sub-Committee had considered all the 
submissions and evidence from all parties in making its decision and 
accordingly, on the basis that the decision was appropriate to meet licensing 
objectives for:

(i) the prevention of crime and disorder; and
(ii) public nuisance

 
RESOLVED:

1. That the Licence be granted to permit the following licensable 
activities and hours:

Relevant licensable activities:

 Sale and supply of alcohol for consumption on and off the premises.
 The provision of Late Night Refreshment;
 The provision of recorded music
 The provision of live music

Hours for the sale and supply of alcohol:

Sunday to Thursday 10:00 – midnight
Friday and Saturday 10:00 – 02:00
Sundays prior to a Bank Holiday and Christmas Eve 10:00 – 02:00 
New Year’s Eve 10:00 to 03:00

Hours for the provision of Late Night Refreshment and recorded music:

Thursday 19:00 – midnight
Friday and Saturday 19:00 – 02:00
Sundays prior to a Bank Holiday and Christmas Eve 19:00 – 02:00 
New Year’s Eve 10:00 to 03:00 – Recorded music only

Hours for the provision of ‘Live’ music:

Thursday 19:00 – midnight

Other times premises proposed to be open to the public: 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MONDAY 21 MAY 2018

6

Sunday to Thursday 08:00 – 00:30
Friday and Saturday 08:00 – 02:30
Sundays prior to a Bank Holiday and Christmas Eve 08:00 – 02:30
New Year’s Eve 08:00 – 03:30

2. That the License be issued subject to the conditions set out in the 
Licensing Managers report (paragraphs 3 to 14 inclusive, agenda 
pages 16-19) as amended by the Licensing Sub-Committee as set 
out below:

The Prevention of Crime and Disorder

1. CCTV will be provided in the form of a recordable system, capable of 
providing pictures of evidential quality in all lighting conditions 
particularly facial recognition.  

 Cameras shall encompass all ingress and egress to the premises, 
fire exits and all areas where the sale and supply of alcohol occurs. 

 Equipment must be maintained in good working order, be correctly 
time and date stamped, recordings MUST be kept on the hard drive 
and kept for a period of  28 days and handed to Police or Local 
Authority upon reasonable request.  

 The premises licence holder must ensure at all times a DPS or 
appointed member of staff is capable and competent at downloading 
CCTV footage in a recordable format to the Police and Local 
Authority upon reasonable request. 

 In the event of technical failure of the CCTV equipment the premises 
licence holder or DPS must report the failure to the Police Licensing 
Officer and Local Authority within 24 hours unless the CCTV will be 
repaired before that time 

2. All persons that sell or supply alcohol to customers must have licensing 
training.  

 Training should take place within six weeks of employment and any 
new employees will be supervised until the training has taken place.  

 Refresher training should be repeated a minimum of every six 
months or earlier if required due to changes of legislation.  

 Training records must be kept on the premises and shall contain the 
nature, content and frequency of all training. 

 Records must be made available for inspection by Police, Police 
Licensing Officer and authorised officers from the Local Authority 
upon request either electronically or hard copy.

3. When the premises is open between Thursday-Sunday and bank 
holidays  from 20:00 hours till close the designated premises 
supervisor shall ensure that at least one personal licence holder is 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MONDAY 21 MAY 2018

7

available on the licensed premises while the sale or supply of alcohol is 
being undertaken at the premises.

4. When the premises is open between Thursday-Sunday and bank 
holidays from 21:00 hours till close, all bottles will be decanted into 
polycarbonate or suitably toughened glass vessels save for when 
complete bottles of wine/champagne have been purchased.

5. When the premises are open on Thursday, Friday and Saturday and 
bank holidays no admission or re-admission after 00:00.

6. When the premises are open between 20:00hrs till close on Thursday, 
Friday and Saturday and bank holidays a minimum of 4 SIA door 
supervisors must be present at the customer entrance/exit of the 
premises. 

7. When the premises close door supervisors will assist in the dispersal of 
patrons from the venue and the area immediately in front of the 
premises reminding customers to leave quietly.

8. The licensee shall ensure that no customers will take glasses or open 
bottles from the premises.

9. The premises licence holder or DPS shall maintain an accurate and up 
to date register in respect of all stewards, security staff or door 
supervisors working at the premises when it is open to the public. The 
register will comprise of

(a) The name, address and telephone number of the member of staff;
(b)  Any registration number relating to the steward or door supervisor 

whether employed directly by the licensee or through an agency;
(c)  The name, address and telephone number of the agency providing 

stewards, security staff or door supervisor where not employed 
directly by the premises licence holder;

(d)  The dates and times of commencement and finishing of work; 
(e)  Signature of the member of staff; 
(f)   Details of any incident in which the member of staff is involved 

including any calls to the police and any police action taken.

10. The premises shall have a written drugs policy, this will detail the 
strategies to minimise the use and supply of illegal drugs within the 
premises.  The drugs policy shall include a structured training policy for 
all staff covering the issues of misuse of drugs in relation to licensed 
premises.  Records must be kept to show members of staff who have 
taken the training.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MONDAY 21 MAY 2018

8

11. The premises licence holder or designated premises supervisor must 
keep an incident register.  Staff are to be trained to complete an 
Incident book/record immediately after the incident, but no later than 
the end of their shift.  

The register must be kept on the premises and will detail

 Day, date and time of incident

 Nature of incident 

 Resolution

 Each entry is to be checked and signed by the DPS/premises 
licence holder no later than 1 week after the entry has been 
made.   

The register must be made available to Police, Police Licensing 
Officers and authorised officers from the Local Authority either 
electronically or hard copy.

12. No entertainment of a sexual or adult nature shall take place at this 
venue.

13. No under 18 children are to be present at the premises  after 21:00 
hours 

The Prevention of Public Nuisance

1. Doors and windows to the premises shall be kept shut during the 
playing of music, with the exception of doors being opened to 
allow access and egress of patrons.

2. The rear garden shall not be used by patrons after 21:00 otherwise 
than on a Friday, Saturday and Sunday prior to a Bank Holiday, 
Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve, when the rear garden shall not be 
used by patrons after 22:30

3. Metal furniture shall not be used in the rear garden.

4. A speaker system shall not be installed in the rear garden. Live and 
recorded music shall not be played in the rear garden.

5. A Noise Management Scheme , including the installation  of an 
electronic noise limiting device ,to be  utilised at all times  when live or 
recorded music is played, to be submitted and approved by the Local 
Authority  Environmental Protection . Levels set to be tamper proof and 
to be agreed to the satisfaction of Environmental Protection. The 
scheme may include the utilisation of sound lobbies and secondary 
glazing.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MONDAY 21 MAY 2018

9

6. Bottles and other waste should not be removed from the premises and 
tipped into refuse and recycling bins between 21:00 and 08:00, other 
than kitchen waste which should not be tipped into the refuse and 
recycling bins between 21:30 and 08:00. Waste and recycling bins 
utilised shall be lidded and large enough to hold all waste generated by 
the premises.

7. Hours for deliveries and collections from the premises shall be between 
08:00 to 20:00 Monday to Saturday and 09:00 and 17:00 on Sundays, 
save for bakery deliveries.

8. Signage shall be used, together with announcements, if possible, to 
advise patrons and staff to be quiet when leaving the premises. The 
signs shall be large, bold and clearly displayed for all patrons to see.

9. A log shall be maintained of all noise complaints received by the 
premises.

The meeting closed at 12.10 pm

 
Councillor A Bardoe, CHAIRMAN





LICENSING COMMITTEE 
26 SEPTEMBER 2018

DRAFT STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY – 2019 - 2024

1. Summary

1.1 To consult the Committee on the draft Statement of Licensing Policy (2019 – 
2024).

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee considers the draft Statement of Licensing Policy 2019-
2022 at Appendix A to the report and submits a formal response through its 
Chairman.   

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The current Statement of Licensing Policy (the Policy) was adopted on 7 
January 2014, for a period of five years and will expire on the 6 January 
2019. 

3.2. As the Licensing Authority, the Council is required to undertake a 
statutory consultation exercise before adopting its new Policy.  The 
consultation expires on 12 October 2018.

3.3. At the Cabinet meeting on the 26 July 2018 [Min.No.36], it was resolved 
that the Licensing Committee be invited to provide a formal response to 
the consultation on the draft Policy at Appendix A to the report. 

3.4. The Licensing Act 2003 provides a clear focus on the promotion of four 
statutory objectives which must be addressed when licensing functions 
are undertaken:

• the prevention of crime and disorder;
• public safety;
• the prevention of public nuisance; and
• the protection of children from harm.

3.5.  Each of the above objectives is of equal importance. There are no other 
statutory licensing objectives, so that the promotion of the four objectives 
is a paramount consideration at all times.

3.6. The legislation also supports a number of other key aims and purposes 
which includes protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-
social behaviour and noise nuisance caused by irresponsible licensed 
premises, effectively managing the night-time economy, taking action 
against those premises that are causing problems, recognising the 
important role which pubs and other licensed premises play in local 
communities by minimising the regulatory burden on business, 



LICENSING COMMITTEE 
26 SEPTEMBER 2018

encouraging innovation and supporting responsible premises, providing a 
regulatory framework for alcohol which reflects the needs of local 
communities, empowering the licensing authority to make and enforce 
decisions about the most appropriate licensing strategies for its local area, 
encouraging greater community involvement in licensing decisions and 
giving local residents the opportunity to have their say regarding licensing 
decisions that may affect them.

3.7. Section 4 of the 2003 Act provides that, in carrying out its functions, a 
licensing authority must ‘have regard to’ guidance issued by the Secretary 
of State under section 182. The Guidance (revised in April 2018) is 
therefore binding on all licensing authorities to that extent. However, this 
Guidance cannot anticipate every possible scenario or set of 
circumstances that may arise and, as long as licensing authorities have 
properly understood this Guidance, they may depart from it if they have 
good reason to do so and can provide full reasons. Departure from this 
Guidance could give rise to an appeal or judicial review, and the reasons 
given will then be a key consideration for the courts when considering the 
lawfulness and merits of any decision taken.

3.8. The draft Policy at Appendix A to the report contains no departures from 
the Guidance. 

3.9. Once adopted, the Policy is intended to inform and guide applicants, 
responsible authorities and other persons about how the Licensing 
Authority will make licensing decisions. 

3.10. An application which is submitted in line with the adopted Policy is less 
likely to give rise to relevant representations, or, if the Licensing Authority 
is asked to make a determination on receipt of representations, less likely 
to have additional measures imposed to promote the licensing objectives. 
This approach is supported by the Guidance and case law. In the British 
Beer and Pub Association, The Association of Licensed Multiple 
Retailers, The British Institute of Innkeeping v Canterbury City Council 
[2005] EWHC 1318 (Admin), Mr Justice Richards stated:

‘A policy … not only guides the decision-maker but also serves to inform 
an applicant about what he should consider in preparing his application. 
Far from being objectionable, that is one of the purposes of having such a 
policy…An application that takes account of the matters set out in the 
policy, for example by including what is referred to in the policy or by 
giving a reasoned justification for not doing so, is less likely to give rise to 
relevant representations and more likely to be granted without additional 
conditions.’ [para 82]

3.11. The adopted Policy should not:
 compel applicants to complete an operating schedule or; 
 suggest that applicants provide any more detail other than as 

required by law or; 
 duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or 

responsibilities imposed by other legislation.



LICENSING COMMITTEE 
26 SEPTEMBER 2018

3.12. The Committee is invited to consider the draft Policy at Appendix A to the 
report and to submit a formal response through its Chairman.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

STRATEGIC AIM:  TO CREATE A SAFER BOROUGH IN WHICH TO LIVE, 
WORK AND SOCIALISE 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES: SC 1: Use the Council’s statutory functions to 
increase public safety in the Borough. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications The statutory framework for the Council’s 
Statement of Licensing Policy is provided by the 
Licensing Act 2003 and Secretary of State 
Guidance 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Draft Statement of Licensing Policy 2019 - 2024

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Licensing Act 2003, Guidance issued 
under s.182 of the Licensing Act 2003. 
The British Beer and Pub Association v 
Canterbury City Council

Joanne Philpott - Senior 
Licensing Officer
(01322) 343024

Licensing - 
Strategic.

N/A





                                                                                                                                  

- 1 -

LICENSING ACT 2003

DARTFORD 
BOROUGH 
COUNCIL

  STATEMENT OF LICENSING
POLICY

07 January 2019 - 06 January 2024

If you or anybody you know requires this or any 
other council information in another language, 
please contact us and we will do our best to 
provide this for you. Braille, Audio tape and large 
print versions of this document are available upon 
request. 

Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343432
Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk

Calls are welcome via NGT Relay 

mailto:customer.services@dartford.gov.uk


                                                                                                                                       

- 2 -

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY

CONTENTS

SECTION HEADING PAGE

1.0 INTRODUCTION 3

Licensing and Planning 5
Cumulative Impact 6
Early Morning Restriction Orders 7
Late Night Levy 8
Advice & Guidance 8
Consultation 9
Reviews 9
Enforcement 10
Right of Appeal 10
Annual Fees – Suspension
For Non-Payment 10

2.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVES 11

3.0 PREVENTION OF CRIME &
DISORDER 12

4.0 PUBLIC SAFETY 14

5.0 PREVENTION OF PUBLIC
NUISANCE 15

6.0 PROTECTION OF CHILDREN
FROM HARM 16

7.0 ADMINISTRATION, EXERCISE
AND DELEGATION 18

Delegation of Functions 20

APPENDIX 'A' DEFINITIONS 21

APPENDIX 'B' FURTHER INFORMATION &
CONTACTS 26

APPENDIX 'C' LICENSING ENFORCEMENT POLICY 28



                                                                                                                                       

- 3 -

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Licensing Act 2003 as amended by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011 and its various statutory instruments (the 2003 Act), sets out the law on alcohol 
licensing.  It provides for four different types of authorisation or permission, as follows:

• Premises Licence – to use Premises for Licensable Activities (i.e. the sale or supply of 
alcohol, the provision of entertainment, the provision of late night refreshment or any 
combination of these activities);

• Club Premises Certificate – to allow a Qualifying Club to engage in qualifying club 
activities as set out in Section 1 of the 2003 Act;

• Temporary Event Notice (TEN) – to carry out Licensable Activities at a temporary event;
• Personal Licence – to sell or authorise the sale of alcohol from Premises in respect of 

which there is a Premises Licence.

1.2 The statutory guidance issued under Section 182 of the 2003 Act (the Section 182 
Guidance1), provides detailed advice to licensing authorities on the requirements and their 
responsibilities under the 2003 Act.

1.3 The Dartford Borough Council (the Licensing Authority) is responsible for administering the 
2003 Act in the Borough of Dartford.  This includes issuing licences and enforcing the 
Conditions of the licence, certificate or authorisation, often working with the Police and 
other Responsible Authorities. 

1.4 The objective of the licensing process is for a unified system of regulation to allow 
Licensable Activities and Qualifying Clubs activities to be conducted in a manner which 
promotes the following four objectives, each of which is considered to be of equal 
importance (the Licensing Objectives): 

 the prevention of crime and disorder
 public safety
 the prevention of public nuisance
 the protection of children from harm

1.5 The 2003 Act requires that the Licensing Authority publish a ‘Statement of Licensing Policy’ 
that sets out the policies it will generally apply to promote the Licensing Objectives, when 
making decisions on applications made under the 2003 Act (the Policy). 

This Policy will take effect on 7 January 2019 and will remain in effect for a period of five 
years until 6 January 2024.  This Policy may however be subject to Review at any time by 
the Licensing Authority, in accordance with paragraphs 1.45 and 1.46 of this Policy.

1.6 The aims of this Policy are in line with the Licensing Objectives and: 

a. help build and maintain a fair and prosperous society that properly balances the 
rights of individuals and their communities;

b. integrate its aims and objectives with other initiatives, policies plus strategies that 
will:

1 June 2013



                                                                                                                                       

- 4 -

 encourage people, especially young people, to participate in leisure and cultural 
activities

 reduce crime and disorder 
 encourage visitors to the Borough of Dartford
 continue to develop the daytime economy and encourage an early evening 

and night time economy which is viable and sustainable
 reduce alcohol misuse, especially under-age drinking
 encourage employment
 encourage the self-sufficiency of local communities
 reduce the burden of unnecessary regulation on business
 continue to value music in licensed Premises

1.7 This Policy has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 2003 Act and 
having regard to the Section 182 Guidance.  Where it is necessary to depart from the 
Section 182 Guidance, either in this Policy or at any other time, the Licensing Authority will 
give clear and cogent reasons for doing so.  The Licensing Authority will endeavour to work 
with other local authorities (particularly where licensing authorities' boundaries meet), to 
ensure that a consistent approach is taken in licensing matters, whilst respecting the 
differing needs of individual communities.

1.8 When considering applications, the Licensing Authority will have regard to this Policy, the 
2003 Act, the Licensing Objectives, the Section 182 Guidance and any supporting 
regulations that may from time to time be made.  It will also seek proper integration with 
local crime prevention, planning, transport, employment and cultural strategies.  To this 
end, the Licensing Committee may provide reports to the Development Control Board on 
matters regarding licensed Premises in the Borough of Dartford.  

1.9 This Policy does not undermine the rights of any person to apply under the 2003 Act for a 
variety of permissions and have the application considered on its individual merits, as well 
as against any relevant policy and statutory framework.  It does not override the right of 
any person to make representations on any application, or seek a Review of a licence or 
certificate or authorisation where permitted to do so under the 2003 Act. 

1.10 The principles of a fair and public hearing are important when it comes to licensing 
matters.  In formulating this Policy, the Licensing Authority has had regard to the provisions 
of the Human Rights Act 1998.  This Act places a duty on public authorities to protect the 
rights of individuals in a variety of circumstances, and to balance those rights against the 
rights of persons trading in Licensable Activities and to achieve proportionality.  

1.11 The Equality Act 2010 places a legal obligation on public authorities to have due regard to 
the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; to advance 
equality of opportunity; and to foster good relations, between persons with different 
protected characteristics.  The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual 
orientation.

The Licensing Authority will have full and proper regard to the Equality Act 2010 in 
determining applications, so as to avoid any possible indirect discriminatory impact on 
particular groups.

1.12 The object of licensing is to maintain appropriate control of licensed Premises, Qualifying 
Clubs, TENS and the people who manage them or hold personal licences within the terms 
of the 2003 Act.  Where Relevant Representations are made, the Licensing Authority will 
seek to make objective judgements as to whether Conditions may need to be attached to a 
licence, certificate or authorisation to secure achievement of the Licensing Objectives.  



                                                                                                                                       

- 5 -

1.13 If no Relevant Representations are received, the Licensing Authority must grant the licence 
in the terms sought in the application, subject only to Conditions which are consistent with 
the Operating Schedule and any relevant Mandatory Conditions.

1.14 The Licensing Authority expects every individual, club or business holding a licence, 
certificate or authorisation, to be responsible for minimising the impact of their activities and 
anti-social behaviour by their customers/patrons, within the immediate area surrounding 
their licensed Premises.  On receipt of Relevant Representations, Conditions may be 
imposed by the Licensing Authority, which seek to manage the behaviour of 
customers/patrons that are within the control of the individual, club or business holding the 
licence, certificate or authorisation concerned.  Each case will be considered on its own 
merits.

1.15 Licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general control of nuisance and anti-
social behaviour by individuals once they are away from the licensed Premises and, 
therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual, club or business holding the licence, 
certificate or authorisation concerned.  Therefore, other mechanisms may be utilised, 
where appropriate, to tackle unruly or unlawful behaviour of patrons/customers when 
beyond the immediate area surrounding the licensed Premises.  These include:

 Partnership working with the Kent Police (and other agencies as appropriate) to 
promote enforcement of the law concerning public safety, crime and disorder and 
antisocial behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices;

 To control the consumption of alcohol in any part of the Borough of Dartford that is 
experiencing alcohol-related disorder or nuisance, through Designated Public Place 
Orders (does not include beer gardens or premise frontages);

 Partnership working with businesses, transport operators and other Licensing Authority 
departments, to create a safe and clean environment.

1.16 A key aim of this Policy is to maintain a safe and family friendly environment in the Borough 
of Dartford.  Conditions that would be relevant in the Dartford Town Centre may not be 
appropriate in rural areas.  Each application will be considered on its merits.

1.17 Whilst the Licensing Authority will avoid imposing Conditions which duplicate other 
statutory provisions, it is mindful that requirements and responsibilities are placed on it and 
licence holders by other legislation.  Legislation which may be relevant includes:
• The Gambling Act 2005
• The Environmental Protection Act 1990
• The Noise Act 1996
• The Clean Neighbourhoods and Environmental Act 2005
• The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005
• Health and Safety (First-Aid) Regulations 1981
• The Equality Act 2010

Licences and planning permission

1.18 The Licensing Authority will ensure that planning permission, building control approvals and 
licensing regimes are separated to avoid duplication and inefficiency.

1.19 The use of any licensed Premises for the sale or supply of alcohol may be subject to 
planning controls.  There are several key differences between licensing and planning 
regimes.  Licensing is concerned with the fitness of the individual running or managing a 
business that sells or supplies alcohol and the detailed issues concerning the operation and 
management of the licensed Premises.  Planning is concerned with the use of the licensed 
Premises.  

1.20 The Licensing Authority expects in general, that any matter relating to the use of the 
licensed Premises under the planning regime, will have been resolved before an application 



                                                                                                                                       

- 6 -

is made under the 2003 Act, for a licence, certificate or other authorisation.  Applicants 
should seek advice regarding planning permission or building control approval from the 
Local Planning Authority, prior to submitting an application to the Licensing Authority under 
the 2003 Act.

1.21 The Licensing Authority is not bound by decisions made by the Local Planning Authority on 
any related planning application. However, a process of consultation will ensue with the aim 
of agreeing mutually acceptable operating hours and scheme designs. 
 

1.22 With the exception of the approval and Review of this Policy, decisions on licensing matters 
will be taken by the Licensing Authority in accordance with a published and approved 
scheme of delegation aimed at underlining the principles of timely, efficient and effective 
decision-making, as set out in paragraph 7.8 of this Policy.

Cumulative impact of a concentration of licensed Premises

1.23 "Cumulative impact" is not mentioned specifically in the 2003 Act, but means the potential 
impact on the promotion of the Licensing Objectives of a significant number of licensed 
Premises concentrated in one area.  For example, the potential impact on crime and 
disorder or public nuisance in Dartford Town Centre of a large concentration of licensed 
Premises in that part of the Borough.  The cumulative impact of licensed Premises on the 
promotion of the Licensing Objectives is a proper matter for the Licensing Authority to 
consider in this Policy.

1.24 Where, after considering the available evidence and consulting the statutory authorities and 
other bodies/persons listed in paragraph 1.46 of this Policy, the Licensing Authority is 
satisfied that it is appropriate and necessary to include an approach to cumulative impact in 
this Policy, it will indicate by way of a policy statement, that it is adopting a special provision 
of refusing new licences whenever it receives Relevant Representations about the 
cumulative impact on the Licensing Objectives from Responsible Authorities and Any Other 
Persons, which it concludes after hearing those representations, should lead to refusal.

1.25 There will be an evidential basis for the decision to include special provisions relating to 
cumulative impact within this Policy.  For example, the Dartford and Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership will often have collated information that demonstrates cumulative impact 
as part of its general role on anti-social behaviour; and crime prevent strategies may have 
already identified cumulative impact as a local problem.  Similarly, environmental health 
officers may be able to demonstrate concentrations of valid complaints relating to noise 
disturbance. 

1.26 Cumulative impact assessments (CIAs) may relate to premises licensed to carry on any 
licensable activity, including the sale of alcohol for consumption on or off the premises, 
and the provision of late night refreshment. This includes late night refreshment 
providers which are not licensed to sell alcohol. A CIA may relate to all premises 
licences and Club Premises Certificates in the area described in the assessment or 
parts thereof, or only to Premises of a particular kind described in the assessment. For 
example, it may be appropriate for the Licensing Authority to only include off-licences or 
nightclubs within the scope of its assessment. The Licensing Authority must make 
clear, when publishing its CIA, which Premises types it applies to. CIAs do not apply to 
TENs; however it is open to the Police and EHA (as Relevant Persons) to refer to 
evidence published within a CIA when objecting to a TEN. 

1.27 While the evidence underpinning the publication of a CIA should generally be suitable 
as the basis for a decision to refuse an application or impose conditions, it does not 
change the fundamental way that decisions are made under the 2003 Act. Each 
decision in an area subject to a CIA therefore still needs to be made on a case-by-case 
basis and with a view to what is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. Importantly, the publication of a CIA would not remove the Licensing 



                                                                                                                                       

- 7 -

Authority’s discretion to grant applications for new licences or applications to vary 
existing licences, where it considers this to be appropriate in the light of the individual 
circumstances of the case. 

1.28 In summary, the steps to be followed in considering whether to adopt special provisions 
within this Policy are:

 identification of concern about crime and disorder or public nuisance;
 consideration of whether it can be demonstrated that crime and disorder and nuisance 

are arising and are caused by the customers of licensed Premises, and if so identifying 
the area from which problems are arising and the boundaries of that area; or that the 
risk factors are such that the area is reaching a point where a cumulative impact is 
imminent;

 consultation with those specified by section 5(3) of the 2003 Act as part of the general 
consultation required in respect of the whole Policy;

 subject to that consultation, inclusion of special provisions about future Premises 
Licence or Club Premises Certificate applications from that area within the terms of this 
Policy;

 publication of the special provisions as part of this Policy required by the 2003 Act.

1.29 The effect of adopting special provisions of this kind is to create a rebuttable presumption 
that applications for new Premises licences or Club Premises Certificates or material 
variations will normally be refused if relevant representations to that effect are received, 
unless it can be demonstrated that the operation of the licensed Premises involved will not 
add to the cumulative impact already being experienced.  

1.30 Applicants would need to address any special provisions in their Operating Schedules in 
order to rebut such a presumption.  However, special provisions must stress that this 
presumption does not relieve Responsible Authorities or Any Other Persons of the need to 
make Relevant Representations before the Licensing Authority may lawfully consider giving 
effect to its special provisions.  If no Relevant Representation is received, it would remain 
the case that any application must be granted in terms that are consistent with the 
Operating Schedule.  However, Responsible Authorities, or Any Other Persons, can make a 
Relevant Representation maintaining that it is necessary to refuse the application for the 
promotion of the prevention of crime and disorder and referring to information that had been 
before the Licensing Authority when it developed this Policy.

1.31 The absence of special provisions does not prevent any Responsible Authority or Any 
Other Persons making representations on a new application for the grant of a licence on the 
grounds that the licensed Premises will give rise to a negative cumulative impact on one or 
more of the Licensing Objectives.

1.32 If adopted, special provisions will be reviewed regularly to assess whether they are needed 
any longer or need expanding.  While special provisions are in existence, applicants will 
need to demonstrate why the operation of the licensed Premises would not add to the 
cumulative impact being experienced.

1.33 The Licensing Authority recognises that the diversity of licensed Premises selling alcohol, 
serving food and providing entertainment covers a wide range of contrasting styles and 
characteristics and will have full regard to those differences and the differing impact these 
will have on the local community.  The Licensing Authority will not consider representations 
for a saturation policy based purely on the numbers of a specific type of business located in 
a defined area.

1.34 The Licensing Authority recognises that, within this Policy, it may be able to approve 
licences that are unlikely to add significantly to the problems arising from saturation, and 
will consider the circumstances of each individual application. 



                                                                                                                                       

- 8 -

Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMROs)

1.35 The Section182 Guidance states “EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such 
as high levels of alcohol-related crime and disorder in specific areas at specific times; serious 
public nuisance; and other instances of alcohol-related anti-social behaviour which is not 
directly attributable to specific premises.”

1.36 Through an EMRO, the Licensing Authority can restrict the sale of alcohol between 12 
midnight and 06.00am on all or some days, where it considers that there are alcohol related 
crime and disorder issues in the whole or a part of the Borough.

1.37 The Licensing Authority will consider evidence from Responsible Authorities, the Dartford 
and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership, together with its own evidence, to determine 
whether an EMRO is appropriate for the promotion of the Licensing Objectives.  The 
Licensing Authority must be satisfied that it has sufficient evidence to identify a problem in a 
specific area attributable to the supply of alcohol at two or more licensed Premises in that 
area.  Evidence will be considered in the same manner as with other licensing decisions.  
The Licensing Authority will also consider whether other measures may address the 
problems that it has identified as the basis for introducing an EMRO and consider the 
potential burden that would be imposed on licence holders as well as the potential benefits in 
terms of promoting the Licensing Objectives.

1.38 Other measures that could be taken instead of making an EMRO might include:

• introducing a cumulative impact policy (evidence based with Police data support);
• reviewing licences of specific problem licensed Premises;
• encouraging the creation of business-led best practice schemes in the area involving those 

licence holders with an interest in the late night economy and agencies who support the 
Licensing Objectives.

1.39 Where the Licensing Authority proposes to make an EMRO, it must follow the statutory 
advertisement and notification procedures set out in the Licensing Act 2003 (Early Morning 
Restriction Orders) Regulations 2012.  Any person wishing to make representations for, or 
against, the proposal, will have 42 days in which to lodge their comments.  If, following 
representations, there are any changes to the original proposal, the Licensing Authority will 
consult on any new EMRO proposal.  Representations will be heard by the Licensing Sub-
Committee.

It is for the General Assembly of the Council to decide the area, days and times in relation to 
which the EMRO would apply.  However, EMROs will not apply to any licensed Premises on 
New Year’s Eve.

1.40 The Licensing Authority will monitor the effectiveness of any EMRO, to ensure it continues to 
be appropriate for the promotion of the Licensing Objectives and periodically review whether 
it is appropriate to continue to apply it.

Late Night Levy

1.41 The late night levy enables the Licensing Authority to raise a contribution from late-opening 
alcohol suppliers towards the costs of policing crime and disorder connected to the supply of 
alcohol in the Borough of Dartford, between midnight and 6am.  If the levy is introduced (a 
local power that the Licensing Authority can choose whether or not to exercise), it is payable 
by all holders of Premises Licences or Club Premises Certificates which authorise the supply 
of alcohol at times beginning at or after midnight and ending at or before 6am (the Licensing 
Authority may determine the times but these must be the same each night).  

1.42 Licensed Premises that do not wish to operate in the levy period will be able to make a free 
minor variation to their licence before the levy is introduced.  The Licensing Authority may 



                                                                                                                                       

- 9 -

decide what exemptions and reductions should apply from a list set out in Late Night Levy 
(Expenses, Exemptions and Reductions) Regulations 20122.  Licensed Premises which are 
not part of the wider night-time economy (e.g. bingo halls, community halls, theatres and 
cinemas etc.) will be exempted from the levy.  Other licensed Premises will have to meet 
specific criteria to be considered for these exemptions.  The Licensing Authority has the 
discretion to exempt licensed Premises that only open late on New Year’s Eve.  

1.43 The amount of the late night levy is set at a national level.  The charge is calculated 
according to rateable value. This system applies to the existing licence fee and the levy 
charge is collected by the Licensing Authority, alongside the annual licence fee.

1.44 The Late Night Levy (Application and Administration) Regulations 2012 sets out the 
consultation procedure with the Police and other parties, which the Licensing Authority must 
comply with, before deciding whether to introduce the late night levy in the Borough of 
Dartford.

Advice and Guidance

1.45 The Licensing Authority recognises the valuable cultural, social and business importance 
that licensed Premises and events requiring a licence under the 2003 Act provide and 
welcomes the diversity of activities that are provided by licence holders.  For this reason, 
pre-application discussions will be encouraged to assist applicants to develop their 
Operating Schedule to the standards the Licensing Authority will normally expect.  The 
Licensing Authority will offer as much advice and guidance to applicants, as resources 
permit. 

1.46 The Licensing Authority will also seek to liaise with applicants and/or encourage mediation 
between applicants and others who may make Relevant Representations, to achieve a 
satisfactory outcome for all involved wherever possible and where resources permit.  
Where an applicant considers that Relevant Representations may be likely or probable, the 
applicant is advised to discuss the proposal with the Licensing Authority and those from 
whom they think Relevant Representations are likely, prior to submitting their application.  
Once an application has been lodged, there are statutory timescales imposed upon the 
application and determination process, which restrict the opportunity for such discussions, 
liaison and informal resolution, through mediation, between the applicant and those making 
Relevant Representations.

Consultation

1.47 The Licensing Authority is required to formally review this Policy every five years, as a 
minimum.  However, subject to the consultation provisions set out below, the Licensing 
Authority will keep this Policy under review to give effect to the Licensing Objectives and/or 
any changes to legislation or otherwise as it considers necessary.  Amendments will be 
published, either as a statement of the revisions, or as a revised ‘Licensing Policy 
Statement’.

1.48 There are a number of stakeholders who have an interest/stake in the leisure industry, 
including businesses, customers, residents and regulators, all of whom have views and 
concerns that require consideration as part of the licensing function and promotion of the 
Licensing Objectives.  When reviewing this Policy, the Licensing Authority will consult with:

 Chief Officer of Kent Police;
 Kent & Medway Towns’ Fire and Rescue Authority;
 Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership;
 Representatives of holders of Premises Licences, Club Premises Certificates and 

Personal Licences issued by the Licensing Authority;

2 see Home Office Guidance ‘Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 - Late Night Levy’



                                                                                                                                       

- 10 -

 Representatives of businesses and residents in the Borough of Dartford.

Reviews 

1.49 The Section 182 Guidance recognises that the promotion of the Licensing Objectives relies 
heavily on a partnership between the Licensing Authority, Responsible Authorities and 
licence holders and/or Any Other Persons, in pursuit of common aims.  It is considered 
good practice for the Licensing Authority and/or Responsible Authorities to give licence 
holders early warning of their concerns about problems identified at the licensed Premises 
concerned and of the need for improvement.  It is expected that a failure to respond to such 
warnings, would lead to a decision to request a Review.

1.50 The 2003 Act specifies that only Responsible Authorities or Any Other Persons may seek a 
Review of a Premises Licence and in the case of a Club Premises Certificate, this will also 
include members of the club.  No more than one Review will normally be permitted by the 
Licensing Authority within any 12 month period, on identical or substantially similar grounds, 
other than in exceptional and compelling circumstances (e.g. where new problems have 
arisen) or where a Review is required, following a Closure Order.

1.51 The Licensing Authority will first consider whether the reasons for the Review are relevant 
to one or more of the Licensing Objectives.  Secondly, the Licensing Authority must be 
satisfied that the application is not frivolous, vexatious or repetitious.

1.52 The Licensing Authority is a Responsible Authority for Premises Licences and Club 
Premises Certificates’ applications and will have the power to make Relevant 
Representations which could lead to the refusal, removal or Review of a licence without 
representation from the Police or other Responsible Authority.

Enforcement

1.53 The Licensing Authority has adopted the principals of the Regulators' Compliance Code in 
the administration and enforcement of the licensing regime.  Specifically, the Licensing 
Authority is committed to the principles of good enforcement practice by carrying out its 
regulatory functions in a fair, open and consistent manner.

1.54 The Regulators' Compliance Code is based on the principles that businesses should:

 receive clear explanations from enforcers of what they need to do and by when; 
 have opportunities to resolve differences before enforcement action is taken - unless 

immediate action is needed; 
 receive an explanation of their rights of appeal.

1.55 The Licensing Authority recognises the interests of both individual citizens and the 
requirements of businesses and will work closely with partners to assist licence holders to 
comply with the law and the Licensing Objectives it seeks to promote. However, 
proportionate but firm action will be taken against those who commit serious offences or 
persistently break the law.  The Licensing Authority has set clear standards of service and 
performance that the public and businesses can expect.  In particular, a Licensing 
Enforcement Policy (see Appendix C) has been adopted that explains how the Licensing 
Authority will undertake and apply the principles of effective enforcement.  This Licensing 
Enforcement Policy can be also be viewed on the Licensing Authority’s website 
www.dartford.gov.uk

1.56 The Licensing Authority has established protocols with Kent Police, Kent & Medway 
Towns’ Fire and Rescue Authority and Kent County Council Trading Standards on 
enforcement issues.  These protocols provide for the targeting of resources towards high-
risk licensed Premises and licensing activities that require greater attention, while providing 
a lighter touch in respect of low risk licensed Premises that are well operated.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


                                                                                                                                       

- 11 -

1.57 The principle of using a scoring scheme based on risk factors, will normally prevail and 
proactive inspections will usually be undertaken by the Licensing Authority in accordance 
with a priority inspection scheme.  This will ensure that resources are more effectively 
allocated to higher risk or ‘problem licensed Premises’.  Monitoring visits will also take place 
in around licensed Premises (see Appendix 'C').

Right of Appeal

1.58 The applicant, Any Other Persons and the Police, have a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ 
Court, against the Licensing Authority’s decision.  

1.59 It is important that the Licensing Authority gives comprehensive reasons for its 
decisions in anticipation of any appeals. Failure to give adequate reasons could itself 
give rise to grounds for an appeal. It is particularly important that reasons should also 
address the extent to which the decision has been made with regard to this Policy and 
the Guidance. Reasons will be promulgated to all the parties of any process which 
might give rise to an appeal under the terms of the 2003 Act. 

1.60 It is important that the Licensing Authority also provides all parties who were party to 
the original hearing, but not involved directly in the appeal, with clear reasons for any 
subsequent decisions where appeals are settled out of court. Local residents in 
particular, who have attended a hearing where the decision was subject to an appeal, 
are likely to expect the final determination to be made by a court. 

1.61 Appeals must be lodged within 21 days, beginning with the day on which they are notified of 
the decision of the Licensing Authority.

Annual Fees - Suspension for Non-Payment 

1.62 The Licensing Authority will suspend a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate for 
non-payment of annual fees when they become due.  There are a limited number of 
exceptions to this rule:

 if the failure to pay was due to an administrative error (whether by the licence holder, the 
Licensing Authority or anyone else);

 if before or when the fee becomes due, the licence holder notifies the Licensing Authority 
in writing, that they dispute either their liability for or the amount of the fee; or

 the grace period of 21 days after the fee becomes due, has not expired.

Should these exceptions not apply, the Licensing Authority will serve a ‘notice of 
suspension’ on the licence holder, specifying a day, at least 2 working days after the date of 
the notice, on which the suspension will begin.  The suspension will last, until the fee is paid 
and the Licensing Authority has served an ‘acknowledgement of receipt’.  The receipt day 
specified on this acknowledgement, will be the date on which the suspension will be lifted.

2.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVES

2.1 The following sections set out the Licensing Authority's policy relating specifically to the 
Licensing Objectives: 

 The prevention of crime and disorder
 Public safety
 The prevention of public nuisance
 The protection of children from harm3

3 The responsible authority for the protection of children from harm is: North Kent Social Services, C/o Civic Centre, Home Gardens, 
Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR



                                                                                                                                       

- 12 -

2.2 The Licensing Objectives are the only matters which will be taken into account by the 
Licensing Authority when considering and determining applications.  Where the Licensing 
Authority receives Relevant Representations from a Responsible Authority or Any Other 
Persons, it may consider attaching Conditions to licences, certificates or authorisations, to 
promote the Licensing Objectives, as appropriate.

2.3 Conditions imposed by the Licensing Authority are ‘preventative’ as opposed to ‘punitive’ 
and are proportionate, reasonable and appropriate for the promotion of the Licensing 
Objectives.  Conditions are tailored to the individual style and characteristics of the 
particular licensed Premises and events concerned and may be drawn from the ‘Model 
Pool of Conditions’ (not an exhaustive list) set out in supporting guidance to the Section 
182 Guidance.  The Licensing Authority may consider it appropriate to impose Conditions 
not in the ‘Model Pool.’  Each application and the imposition of Conditions, will be 
considered on its merits.

2.4 This Policy provides lists of possible factors and control measures that would influence the 
achievement of the Licensing Objectives but, because of the wide variety of licensed Premises 
and Licensable Activities to which this Policy applies, the listed factors and control measures 
are not exhaustive.  Applicants know their licensed Premises best and are encouraged to 
address each Licensing Objective relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their 
licensed Premises and events in their Operating Schedule.

2.5 The Licensing Authority recommends the selection of control measures, to be based upon 
a risk assessment of the licensed Premises, events, activities and the customers expected 
to attend (e.g. their age, number, etc.) Applicants will therefore need to identify whether 
additional measures will be taken on an occasional or specific basis, such as when a 
special event or promotion is planned, which is intended to, or likely to attract, larger 
audiences. 

2.6 Whilst the Licensing Authority may not require risk assessments to be documented (other 
than where required by legislation), it considers such documentation to be good practice 
and a useful tool in the instruction and training of staff.  It is also a sound basis for review 
by the licence holder, in the event of an application for variation or a response to changing 
circumstances/conditions at the licensed Premises being required.

2.7 The Licensing Authority considers the effective and responsible management of the 
licensed Premises, instruction, training and supervision of staff and the adoption of best 
practice to be amongst the most essential control measures for the achievement of all the 
Licensing Objectives.

3. PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER

3.1 The Licensing Authority is committed to further improving the quality of life for the people of 
the Borough of Dartford, by continuing to reduce crime and the fear of crime.  

3.2 The Licensing Authority will consult and involve the Dartford and Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership (CSP) in its decision making, in order to maximise the effectiveness of 
reducing crime, misuse of drugs and the fear of crime.

3.3 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 provides a wide range of measures for 
preventing crime and disorder and imposes a duty on the Licensing Authority (and its CSP 
partners), to consider crime and disorder reduction in the exercise of all its duties. The 2003 
Act reinforces this duty.

3.4 The promotion of the Licensing Objective, ‘to prevent crime and disorder’, places a 
responsibility on individuals, clubs or businesses holding a licence, certificate or 
authorisation to co-operate with the Licensing Authority in achieving this Objective. 



                                                                                                                                       

- 13 -

Applicants will be encouraged to demonstrate in their Operating Schedule, when necessary, 
that suitable and sufficient measures relevant to the individual style and characteristics of 
their licensed Premises and events, have been identified and which will be implemented 
and maintained, to reduce or prevent crime and disorder on and in the immediate area 
surrounding their licensed Premises. 

3.5 When addressing the issue of crime and disorder, the applicant must consider any factors 
that may impact on crime and disorder.  These might include:

 Underage drinking
 Drunkenness on licensed Premises
 Public drunkenness
 Drugs
 Violent behaviour
 Anti-social behaviour

3.6 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants when preparing 
their Operating Schedule, having regard to the individual style and characteristics of their 
licensed Premises and events:

 Effective and responsible management of licensed Premises
 Training and supervision of staff
 Adoption of best practice guidance (e.g. Safer Clubbing, National Alcohol Harm 

Reduction Strategy Toolkit4 and other voluntary codes of practice, including those 
relating to drinks promotions e.g. The Point of Sale Promotions published by the 
British Beer and Pub Association)

 Acceptance of accredited ‘proof of age’ cards for example “PASS Card” promoted by 
Kent Trading Standards and Kent Police – verification must include the individual’s 
photograph, date of birth and a holographic mark .e.g. driving licence, passports or 
military ID

 Provision of effective CCTV in and around licensed Premises
 Employment of Security Industry Authority Licensed Door Supervisors 
 Provision of toughened or plastic glasses
 Provision of secure deposit boxes for confiscated items (‘sin bins’)
 Provision of litterbins and other security measures, such as lighting, outside the 

licensed Premises
 Membership of the Dartford Town against Crime (D-TAC) Partnership.

3.7 With the exception of community premises e.g. church and village halls etc., anyone who 
authorise the sale or supply of alcohol must apply for a Personal Licence.  A premises 
supervisor must be designated by individuals, clubs or businesses holding a licence, 
certificate or authorisation and named in the Operating Schedule (the Designated 
Premises Supervisor (DPS)).  The DPS must also hold a Personal Licence.  The 
Licensing Authority will normally expect the DPS to have been given day-to-day 
responsibility for running the licensed Premises, by the Premises Licence holder.  In 
exceptional circumstances, the Police may object to the designation of a new premises 
supervisor as a DPS, where they believe that such appointment would undermine the 
crime prevention Licensing Objective.

3.8 Certain temporary events (at which Licensable Activities are to be undertaken) which are 
not authorised by a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate do not have to be 
authorised by the Licensing Authority on an application.  Instead, a person/organiser 
wishing to hold an event at which such activities are proposed to be carried on (the 
‘Premises User’) must notify the Licensing Authority, the Police and the EHA of the event, 
using the form of Temporary Event Notice (TEN) prescribed by legislation5.  Depending on 

4 Department of Health, the Home Office and the Department of Children, Schools, and Families - 2008
5 The Licensing Act 2003 (Permitted Temporary Activities) (Notices) (Amendment) Regulations 2012



                                                                                                                                       

- 14 -

the nature and location of such events, these events can have serious crime and 
disorder/public nuisance implications.  

3.9 Under the 2003 Act ‘premises’ can mean any place. Events authorised under a TEN will 
therefore not always be in a building with a formal address and can take place, for 
example, in public parks and plots within larger areas of land. In all cases, the premises 
user should provide a clear description of the area in which they propose to carry on 
licensable activities, including whether the premises are, for example, an open field or a 
beer tent. 

3.10 The 2003 Act provides for two types of Temporary Event Notices (TENs) – the ‘standard 
TEN’ and the ‘late TEN’.

3.11 A ‘standard TEN’ must be submitted no less than 10 Working Days’ before the day of the 
event.  The Premises User is encouraged to provide the earliest possible notice  of any 
events planned, particularly as a Licensing Sub-Committee hearing may need to be 
convened, if objections have been received and to enable the Licensing Authority, Police 
and/or the EHA to work with the Premises User to identify and reduce the risk of crime and 
disorder.  

3.12 The Police and/or the EHA may submit an Objection Notice to the Licensing Authority.  A 
Licensing Sub-Committee hearing may need to be convened to decide on the basis of the 
Licensing Objectives, whether the event should go ahead. 

3.13 Objections to a ‘standard TEN’ may result in the Licensing Sub-Committee imposing 
conditions on the TEN, but only where the venue at which the event is to be held, has an 
existing Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate.  One or more Conditions (from the 
existing Conditions on the Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate) will be imposed 
on the ‘standard TEN’, but only if the Licensing Sub-Committee considers it appropriate for 
the promotion of the Licensing Objectives.  It is to be noted that the Police and/or the EHA 
may agree a modification of the proposed arrangements directly with the ‘Premises User’.

3.14 A ‘late TEN’ must be submitted no later than 5 clear working days and no earlier than 9 
working days before the event is due to take place.  The Police and/or the EHA may 
intervene to prevent a ‘late Ten’ taking place by submitting an Objection Notice to the 
Licensing Authority if they are satisfied that the event will undermine any of the Licensing 
Objectives.  If an objection is made to a ‘late TEN’, then the Licensing Authority will issue a 
counter notice.  In effect, a ‘late TEN’ which receives an objection, cannot go ahead.  There 
is no scope under the 2003 Act for the modification of a’ late TEN ‘.

3.15 When giving a TEN, the Premises User must consider the promotion of the Licensing 
Objectives.  

3.16 A TEN does not relieve the Premises User from any requirements under planning law for 
appropriate planning permission, where it is required.

3.17 Premises Users may find the following documents helpful:
 The Event Safety Guide - A guide to health, safety and welfare at music and similar 

events (HSE 1999) ("The Purple Book") ISBN 0 7176 2453 6
 Managing Crowds Safely (HSE 2000) ISBN 0 7176 1834 X
 Steps to Risk Assessment: Case Studies (HSE 1998) ISBN 0 7176 1580 4
 The Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds (The Stationary Office 1997) ("The Green 

Guide") ISBN 0 11 300095 2
 Safety Guidance for Street Arts, Carnivals, Processions and Large Scale 

Performances, published by the independent Street Arts Network, copies of which 
may be obtained through:www.streetartnetwork.org/pages/publications.



                                                                                                                                       

- 15 -

3.18 Exceptional events of local, national or international significance may arise, which could not 
have been anticipated when the application for a Premises Licence or Club Premises 
Certificate was first made.  In these circumstances, the Secretary of State may make a 
‘licensing hours order’ to allow licensed Premises to open for specified, generally extended 
hours on these special occasions.  This avoids the need for the Licensing Authority to 
process large numbers of TENS’ or applications to vary Premises Licences and Club 
Premises Certificates.  Typical events might include a one-off local festival or a Royal 
Jubilee.

3.19 Where the Licensing Authority has given notice in writing to the holder of the Premises 
Licence, prohibiting the exhibition of a film on the grounds that it contains matter, which, if 
exhibited, would be likely to:

 Encourage or incite crime or lead to disorder; or
 Stir up hatred or incite violence towards any section of the public on grounds of 

colour, race or ethnic or racial origin, disability, religious beliefs, sexual orientation or 
gender;

the Licensing Authority will expect that the film will not be exhibited in the licensed 
Premises, except with its written consent and in accordance with any Conditions attached 
to such consent.

3.20 The Licensing Authority will require all films to comply with the British Board of Film 
Classification (BBFC) guidelines.

4.0 PUBLIC SAFETY

4.1 The Licensing Authority is committed to ensuring that the safety of any person visiting or 
working in licensed Premises is not compromised.  To this end, applicants will be 
encouraged to demonstrate in their Operating Schedule, where necessary, that suitable 
and sufficient measures relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their licensed 
Premises and events, have been identified and will be implemented and maintained to 
ensure public safety.

4.2 When addressing the issue of public safety, the applicant must consider the factors that 
may impact on the standards of public safety.  These may include:

 The occupancy capacity of the licensed Premises
 The age, design and layout of the licensed Premises, including means of escape in 

the event of fire
 The nature of the Licensable Activities to be provided, in particular the sale or supply 

of alcohol, and including whether those activities are of a temporary or permanent 
nature

 The hours of operation noting the difference between opening hours and the hours of 
Licensable Activities ("drinking up time")

 Customer profile (e.g. age, disability)
 The use of special effects such as lasers, pyrotechnics, smoke machines, foam 

machines, strobe lighting etc.

4.3 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants when preparing 
their Operating Schedule, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their 
licensed Premises and events:

 Suitable and sufficient risk assessments 
 Effective and responsible management of licensed Premises
 Provision of a sufficient number of people employed or engaged to secure the safety 

of the licensed Premises and patrons



                                                                                                                                       

- 16 -

 Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or engaged to 
secure the safety of the licensed Premises and patrons/customers

 Adoption of best practice guidance
 Provision of effective CCTV in and around licensed Premises
 Provision of toughened or plastic glasses
 Implementation of crowd management measures
 Regular testing (and certification where appropriate) of procedures, appliances, 

systems etc. pertinent to safety.

5.0 PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE

5.1 Licensed Premises have a significant potential to adversely impact on communities through 
public nuisances that arise from their operation.  The Licensing Authority wishes to 
proactively maintain and protect the amenity of residents and other businesses from the 
potential consequence of the operation of licensed Premises, whilst recognising the 
valuable cultural, social and business importance that such licensed Premises provide.

5.2 The Licensing Authority interprets ‘public nuisance’ in its widest sense and takes it to 
include such issues as noise, light, odour, litter and anti-social behaviour, where these 
matters impact on those living or working in or around the licensed Premises. Individuals, 
clubs or businesses holding a licence, certificate or authorisation, are  responsible for 
minimising the impact of their activities and public nuisance by their customers/patrons, 
within the immediate area surrounding their licensed Premises, for example on the 
pavement, in a beer garden or in a smoking shelter, where and to the extent that these 
matters are within their control.

5.3 Applicants need to clearly understand that the Licensing Authority will pay particular 
attention to whether or not stricter Conditions should be imposed, including controls on 
licensing hours, where licensed Premises are in residential areas, with a view to protecting 
the quality of life of residential occupiers.

5.4 In the case of shops, stores, supermarkets and garages selling alcohol, for consumption off 
the licensed Premises, the general policy will be to allow sales of alcohol at all times when 
the licensed Premises are open for business.  Any decision not to allow sales of alcohol at 
particular times, will be based on evidence of the need to prevent crime, disorder and 
public nuisance (following Relevant Representations). 

5.5 Applicants will be encouraged to demonstrate in their Operating Schedule, when 
necessary, that suitable and sufficient measures relevant to the individual style and 
characteristics of their licensed Premises and events, have been identified and will be 
implemented and maintained to prevent public nuisance.  

5.6 When addressing the issue of prevention of public nuisance, the applicant must consider 
factors likely to contribute to public nuisance.  These factors may include:

 The location of licensed Premises and proximity to residential and other noise 
sensitive premises, such as hospitals, hospices, schools, nurseries and places of 
worship

 The hours of operation, particularly if between 23.00 and 07.00
 The nature of activities to be provided, including whether those activities are of a 

temporary or permanent nature and whether they are to be held inside or outside the 
licensed Premises

 The design and layout of the licensed Premises and in particular the presence of noise 
limiting features

 The occupancy capacity of the licensed Premises
 The availability of public transport
 Last admission time



                                                                                                                                       

- 17 -

 The steps the applicant has taken or proposes to take to ensure that staff leave the 
licensed Premises quietly

 The steps the applicant has taken or proposes to take to prevent disturbance by 
patrons arriving or leaving the licensed Premises

  Whether routes to and from the Premises, on foot or by car or service or delivery 
vehicles, pass residential premises

 Whether other measures have been taken or are proposed such as the use of CCTV 
or the employment of SIA Registered Door Supervisors

 The arrangements made or proposed for parking by patrons, and the effect of this 
parking on local residents

 The likelihood of any violence, disorder or policing problems arising if a licence were 
granted

 Whether taxis and private hire vehicles serving the licensed Premises are likely to 
disturb local residents

 The siting of external lighting, including security lighting that is installed 
inappropriately

 Whether the licensed Premises would result in increased refuse storage or disposal 
problems or additional litter in the vicinity of the licensed Premise and any measures 
or proposed measures to deal with this

 The history of previous nuisance complaints proved against the licensed Premises, 
particularly where statutory notices have been served on the present licensees.

5.7 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants when preparing 
their operating schedule, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their licensed 
Premises and events: 

 Effective and responsible management of the licensed Premises
 Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or engaged to 

prevent incidents of public nuisance 
 Control of operating hours for all or parts (e.g. garden areas) of the licensed 

Premises, including such matters as deliveries
 Adoption of best practice guidance (e.g. Good Practice Guide on the Control of Noise 

from Pubs and Clubs6, produced by Institute of Acoustics or "Licensed Property: 
Noise Control" available from www.beerandpub.com). 

 Installation of soundproofing, air conditioning, acoustic lobbies and sound limitation 
devices

 Management of people, including staff, and traffic (and resulting queues) arriving and 
leaving the licensed  Premises

 Liaison with public transport providers
 Siting of external lighting, including security lighting
 Management arrangements for collection and disposal of litter
 Effective ventilation systems to prevent nuisance from odour. 

6.0 PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM

6.1 In the context of many licensed Premises such as pubs, restaurants, café bars and hotels, 
the Licensing Authority does not wish to see the development of family-friendly 
environments frustrated by overly restrictive Conditions in respect of children, where there 
is no good reason to impose them.  Nothing, therefore, in this Policy limits the access of 
children to licensed Premises unless it is appropriate for the prevention of harm to children.  
No statement of policy can properly anticipate every issue of concern that could arise in 
respect of children with regard to individual licensed Premises and as such, general rules 
will be avoided.  Consideration of the individual merits of each application remains the best 
mechanism for judging such matters.

6 March 2003



                                                                                                                                       

- 18 -

6.2 Applicants are encouraged to demonstrate in their Operating Schedule, when necessary, 
that suitable and sufficient measures relevant to the individual style and characteristics of 
their licensed Premises and events, have been identified and will be implemented and 
maintained to protect children from harm.  The Licensing Authority commends the Portman 
Group Code of Practice7 on the naming and packaging of alcoholic drinks.

6.3 The protection of children from harm is an important issue and the risk of harm to children 
remains a paramount consideration when determining applications. The Licensing 
Authority will work actively with the Police and child protection agencies/bodies in enforcing 
the 2003 Act, where there are concerns regarding under-age sales and/or drinking.

6.4 In certain circumstances, children are more vulnerable and their needs will require special 
consideration.  This vulnerability includes their susceptibility to suggestion, peer group 
influences, inappropriate example, the unpredictability of their age and the lack of 
understanding of danger.  The ‘protection of children from harm’ includes:

(a) the protection of children from moral, psychological and physical harm and, in 
relation to the exhibition of films, the transmission of programmes; and

(b) the protection of children from exposure to strong language, sexual imagery and 
sexual expletives.  

6.5 Whilst children may be adequately protected from harm by the action taken to protect 
adults, they may also need special consideration and no policy can anticipate every 
situation.  When addressing the issue of protecting children from harm, the applicant must 
consider factors that may lead to or impact on harm to children. These factors include the 
potential for children to: 

 Purchase, acquire or consume alcohol
 Being exposed to drugs, drug taking or drug dealing
 Being exposed to gambling
 Being exposed to activities of an adult or sexual nature
 Being exposed to incidents of violence or disorder
 Being exposed to environmental pollution such as noise or smoke
 Being exposed to special hazards such as falls from a height

6.6 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants when preparing 
their Operating Schedule, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their 
licensed Premises and events:

 Effective and responsible management of the licensed Premises
 Provision of a sufficient number of people employed or engaged to secure the 

protection of children from harm
 Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or engaged to 

secure the protection of children from harm
 Limitations on the hours when children may be present, in all or parts of the licensed 

Premises
 Limitations or exclusions by age when certain activities are taking place
 Imposition of requirements for children to be accompanied by an adult
 Acceptance of accredited ‘proof of age’ cards for example “PASS Card” promoted by 

Kent Trading Standards and Kent - verification must include the individual’s 
photograph, date of birth and a holographic mark .e.g. driving licence, passports or 
military ID

 The placing of machines to comply with the codes of practice under the Gambling Act 
2005 so that they can be properly supervised.

7 5th Edition – 31 May 2013



                                                                                                                                       

- 19 -

6.7 Where a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate authorises the exhibition of a film 
(including the exhibition of adverts), it must include a Condition requiring the admission of 
children to films to be restricted in accordance with the recommendations of the British 
Board of Film Classification (BBFC) or by the Licensing Authority.

6.8 The Licensing Authority will expect licensees to implement measures that restrict children 
from viewing age-restricted films classified according to the recommendations of the BBFC 
or the Licensing Authority.  In the case of a film exhibition that has not been classified, the 
Licensing Authority will expect the licensee to certify that an assessment of the suitability of 
the film for exhibition to children in accordance with the BBFC guidelines has been carried 
out and that this has been confirmed by the Licensing Authority in writing, prior to public 
viewing.

6.9 Where Regulated Entertainment is provided, the Licensing Authority will require the 
presence of an adequate number of adult staff to control the access and egress of children 
and to protect them from harm whilst on the licensed Premises (see the Section 182 
Guidance).  Where children are present as performers, the Licensing Authority will normally 
require an adequate number of adult staff to be responsible for the child performers. 

6.10 Complete bans on children entering all or part of licensed Premises will be rare, but the 
options for limiting the access of children, where appropriate, for the prevention of harm to 
children, include the following:

(1) limitations on the hours when and/or where children may be present;
(2) age limitations (below 18);
(3) limitations or exclusions when certain activities are taking place.
(4) requirements for an accompanying adult;
(5) full exclusion of people under 18 from the licensed Premises when any Licensable 

Activities are taking place;
(6) limitation on parts of the licensed Premises.

6.11 Examples of licensed Premises where children’s access will be limited, include where: 

(1) there have been convictions for serving alcohol to minors or where there is some 
evidence of under-age drinking

(2) there is a known association with drug taking or dealing
(3) there is a strong element of gambling on the licensed Premises
(4) entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is commonly provided
(5) there is a presumption that children under 18 should not be allowed (e.g. to 

nightclubs, except where under 18 discos are being held)
(6) Licensable Activities are taking place during times when children under 16 may be 

expected to be attending compulsory full-time education.

7.0 ADMINISTRATION, EXERCISE & DELEGATION

7.1 The Licensing Authority is involved in a wide range of licensing decisions and functions and 
has established a Licensing Committee to discharge its licensing functions under the 2003 
Act.  Powers/functions are further delegated to officers, under the Scheme of Delegations to 
Officers and to the Licensing Sub-Committee.  

7.2 The Licensing Sub-Committee provides a speedy, efficient and cost effective service to all 
parties involved in the licensing process.

7.3 Many of the decisions and functions are largely administrative in nature, such as the grant 
of non-contentious applications, including for example, the grant of Premises Licences, 
Club Premises Certificates and authorisations where no relevant representations have been 
made.  These decisions are delegated to officers.  



                                                                                                                                       

- 20 -

7.4 Where Relevant Representations are received, the application will be dealt with by the 
Licensing Sub-Committee, unless such Representations are considered irrelevant, frivolous 
or vexatious, or withdrawn or informally resolved before the Licensing Sub-Committee 
hearing.  

7.5 The table at paragraph 7.8 of this Policy, sets out the how the Licensing Authority exercises 
it licensing functions, which, where appropriate, will include the imposition of Conditions 
relevant to the Licensing Objectives.

7.6 Any arrangements made by virtue of the Scheme of Delegations to Officers, do not to 
prevent the Licensing Authority, Licensing Committee or Licensing Sub-Committee from 
exercising those functions. 

7.7 Meetings of the Licensing Committee and Licensing Sub-Committee are open to the public, 
except where confidential and/or exempt matters are being discussed.  Licensing Sub-
Committee members may retire into private session, to consider their decision.



                                                                                                                                       

- 21 -

7.8 Delegation of Functions:

Matter to be dealt with General 
Assembly of 
the Council 

Licensing 
Committee

Licensing 
Sub-
committee

Officers

Approval of Statement of 
Licensing Policy In all cases
Establish a Sub-Committee In all cases
Application for a Personal 
Licence

If a Police 
representation 
received

If no 
representation 
received

Application for a Personal 
Licence with unspent 
convictions

In all cases

Application for a Premises 
Licence/Club Premises 
Certificate

If a relevant 
representation 
received

If no relevant 
representation 
received

Application for a Provisional 
Statement

If a relevant 
representation 
received

If no relevant 
representation 
received

Application to vary Premises 
Licence/Club Premises 
Certificate

If a relevant 
representation 
received

If no relevant 
representation 
received

Application for a Minor 
Variation

In all cases

Application to vary the 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor

If a Police 
representation 
received

If no 
representation 
received

Request to be removed as 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor

In all cases

Application for Transfer of 
Premises Licence

If a Police 
representation 
received

If no 
representation 
received

Application for Interim 
Authorities

If a Police 
representation 
received

If no 
representation 
received

Application to Review 
Premises Licence/Club 
Premises Certificate

In all cases

Decision on whether a 
representation is relevant, 
frivolous, vexatious etc.

In all cases

Decision to object when local 
authority is a consultee and 
not the relevant authority 
considering the application

In all cases

Determination of a Police and 
or EHA objection to a 
‘standard’ Temporary
Event Notice

In all cases



                                                                                                                                       

- 22 -

Appendix A - Definitions

The following provides an explanation of the terminology referred to in this Policy:

'Any Other Persons' 
Anyone who can demonstrate that their business or residence is affected (or is likely to be 
affected) by Licensable Activities at the licensed Premises and entitled to make Relevant 
Representations.

'Appeals'
Appeals against decisions of the Licensing Authority are to the Magistrates' Court.  The appeal 
must be lodged within 21 days of being notified of the Licensing Authority's decision. On appeal, a 
Magistrates' Court may, dismiss the appeal; substitute its own decision; remit the case to the 
Licensing Authority with directions; and make an order for costs.

‘Associate [of the proposed ‘premises user’]
Is:
a. the spouse or civil partner of that person;
b. a child, parent, grandchild, grandparent, brother or sister of that person;
c. an agent or employee of that person; or
d. the spouse or civil partner of a person within (b) or (c).

For these purposes, a person living with another as that person’s husband or wife is to be treated 
as that person’s spouse.

'Closure Order'
Powers exercisable by the Police:

(a) to seek court orders to close licensed Premises in the Borough of Dartford, which are 
experiencing or likely to experience disorder; and 

(b) to close down instantly, individual licensed Premises that are:
• disorderly;
• likely to become disorderly; or
• are causing nuisance as a result of noise from the licensed Premises; or
• persistently selling alcohol to children.

These powers are available in relation to Premises licensed for the provision of Regulated 
Entertainment; and Late Night Refreshment and to Premises for which a TEN has effect.

'Club Premises Certificate'
Authorises the supply of alcohol and Regulated Entertainment in a Qualifying Club.  There is 
technically no sale by retail of alcohol (except to guests) because members of the club already own 
all the assets of the club, including the alcohol.  The money passing across the bar is merely a 
mechanism to preserve equity between members, where one may consume more than another.  
There is no requirement for a Personal Licence or to specify a Designated Premises Supervisor. 
The supply of alcohol must only be to a club member or a bona fide guest of a member.

'Conditions'
Can only be attached to Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates and must be tailored to 
the individual type, location and characteristics of the licensed Premises and events concerned.  
Conditions must be appropriate to promote one or more of the Licensing Objectives and be 
proportionate.

'Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS)'
The individual who holds a valid Personal Licence and is named on a Premises Licence which 
authorises the sale by retail of alcohol.  The DPS is the key person who will usually be charged 
with day to day management of the licensed Premises by the Premises Licence holder.  The DPS 



                                                                                                                                       

- 23 -

will provide an essential point of contact for police, fire officers or Licensing Authority officers so 
that problems can be dealt with swiftly.

'EHA'
Dartford Borough Council exercising its environmental health functions.

'Interim Authority Notice'
Issued following death, mental incapacity, insolvency or dissolution of the Premises Licence holder 
and allows for the Premises Licence to be reinstated for a maximum of three months to allow time 
for a Transfer application.

'Late Night Refreshment'
The supply of hot food heated to above ambient temperature or that, after it has been sold, can be 
heated on the licensed Premises) and/or drink to members of the public (whether for consumption 
on or off the licensed Premises) between the hours of 11.00pm and 05.00am.

'Licensable Activities'
 The sale by retail of alcohol;
 The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club, or to the order of a member of the club;
 The provision of Regulated Entertainment;
 The provision of Late Night Refreshment.

‘Live Music’8

Amplified live music is not considered to be Regulated Entertainment, provided the following 
criteria are satisfied: 

 there is a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate in place permitting “on sales”; 
 the Premises are open for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the licensed 

Premises; 
 live music is taking place between 8am and 11pm; 
 if the live music is amplified, the audience consists of no more than 200 people.

Where a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate permits live music beyond 11pm, any 
related conditions on the licence will still be applicable after that time.

Any Condition attached to the Premises Licence relating to live music, granted before 1 October 
2012, ceases to have effect in respect of the live music when offered between 8am and 11pm, 
unless the Condition has been or is reinstated by the Licensing Authority, on Review of the licence.

Unamplified live music provided anywhere, is not regarded as Regulated Entertainment, if it takes 
place between 8am and 11pm, regardless of the number of people in the audience. 

Unamplified live music after 11pm and amplified live music in non-licensed venues will still require 
formal authorisation from the Licensing Authority by way of a Premises Licence, Club Premises 
Certificate or Temporary Event Notice.

The provision of facilities for making music, the provision of facilities for dancing and the provision 
of facilities for anything similar to either music or dancing are not classed as Licensable Activities.

Morris dancing and any other similar forms of dance, such as maypole dancing, which is 
accompanied by amplified, live music and recorded music are exempt under the 2003 Act

Examples of performances that generally don’t need a licence are:
• karaoke
• busking

8 Live Music Act 2012



                                                                                                                                       

- 24 -

• spontaneous singing – e.g. people singing along to recorded music in a pub;
• incidental music - live music that is incidental to other activities that aren’t classed as Regulated 

Entertainment;
• rehearsals and sound checks (unless members of the public are charged admittance for the 

purpose of making profit)
• DJ playing tracks (unless he/she performs a set which consists mixing recorded music to create 

new sounds).

Entertainment facilities such as dance floors, microphone stands and pianos made available for 
use by the public are not licensable.

'Local Planning Authority'
Dartford Borough Council exercising its planning functions.

'Mandatory Conditions'
Conditions which the Licensing Authority is required (by the 2003 Act) to impose on a Premises 
Licence and Club Premises Certificate e.g. conditions relating to door supervision, exhibition of 
films, plays and where the licence authorises the supply of alcohol.

'Objection Notice'
By the Police on a Personal Licence application, where an applicant has an unspent conviction for 
a relevant or foreign offence;
By the Police and/or EHA in relation to a TEN;
By the Police in relation to an Interim Authority Notice

'Operating Schedule'
A document containing a statement of the following matters (and any others that may be 
prescribed):

 Steps to address the Licensing Objectives
 The Licensable Activities to be conducted on the licensed Premises
 The times during which the Licensable Activities are to take place and any other times 

when the licensed Premises are open to the public
 Where the licence is required only for a limited period, that period
 Where the Licensable Activities include the supply of alcohol, the name and address of the 

individual to be specified as the Designated Premises Supervisor.

'Personal Licence'
Granted to an individual and which authorises that individual to supply alcohol or authorises the 
supply of alcohol in accordance with a Premises Licence.  A Personal Licence lasts for 10 years 
and can be renewed.  It ceases to have effect when revoked, forfeited, surrendered or suspended.  
A Personal Licence holder is not required where the licensed Premises concerned do not supply 
alcohol as one of its Licensable Activities or for the supply of alcohol in a club which holds a Club 
Premises Certificate.  Only the Police can object to the grant of a Personal Licence (there is no 
equivalent to Relevant Representations as for Premises Licences).

‘Premise or Premises’
Means ‘any place’ in the 2003 Act.  Licensed Premises will therefore not always be a building with 
a formal address and postcode but may include, for example, public parks, recreation grounds and 
private land.

'Premises Licence'
Granted in respect of any licensed Premises used for one or more Licensable Activities.  Has effect 
until revoked, surrendered or on the death, insolvency etc. of the licence holder. 

'Qualifying Club'
There must be at least 25 members, a bona fide membership scheme in place, and the club must 
be conducted in good faith.  Instant membership is not permitted. 



                                                                                                                                       

- 25 -

'Regulated Entertainment'
Covers the provision of entertainment where the entertainment takes place in the presence of an 
audience and is provided, at least partly, to entertain that audience.  The descriptions of 
entertainment in the 2003 Act are:

 A performance of a play (but note the changes brought in on 27 June 2013 by the Licensing 
Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment)(Amendment)(Order) 2013 referred to below*)

 An exhibition of a film
 An indoor sporting event ((but note the changes brought in on 27 June 2013 by the 

Licensing Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment)(Amendment)(Order) 2013 referred to 
below*)

 A boxing or wrestling entertainment (indoors or outdoors)(including a contest, exhibition or 
display which combines boxing or wrestling with one or more martial arts (“combined 
fighting sports”);

 A performance of live music (but note the changes brought in on 1 October 2012 by the 
Live Music Act 2012 referred to above);

 Any playing of recorded music
 A performance of dance ((but note the changes brought in on 27 June 2013 by the 

Licensing Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment)(Amendment)(Order) 2013 referred to 
below*)

 Entertainment of a similar description to the performance of live music, the playing of 
recorded music and the performance of dance.

Will require a Premises Licence, Club Premises Certificate or TEN if the entertainment is provided 
for members of the public or a section of the public, or for members of a club or its guests, or at a 
charge with the intention of making a profit unless the activities 

*The following are no longer classified as ‘Regulated Entertainment’ and as such, are not required 
to be licensed where they are performed between 8a.m and 11p.m:

 A performance of a play (up to audience limits of 500 people)
 A performance of dance (up to audience limits of 500 people and NOT including exhibitions 

of a sufficiently adult nature)
 An indoor sporting event (up to audience limits of 1000 people)

'Relevant Representations'
Made by a Responsible Authority or Any Other Persons for example in opposition to, or in support 
of, an application for a Premises Licence, Club Premises Certificate or a proposed EMRO.  
Relevant Representations must relate to the Licensing Objectives.  The making of Relevant 
Representations engages the Licensing Authority’s discretion to take 'steps' consistent with the 
Licensing Objectives when considering the application.  

'Responsible Authority'
Are automatically notified of all new applications.  Whilst all Responsible Authorities may make 
Relevant Representations regarding applications for Premises Licences and Club Premises 
Certificates and full variation applications, it is the responsibility of each Responsible Authority to 
determine when they have appropriate grounds to do so.

Responsible Authorities are:

 the Licensing Authority and any other licensing authority in whose area part of the licensed 
Premises is situated

 the Chief Officer of Police for the Borough of Dartford
 the Kent and Medway Towns’ Fire and Rescue Authority
 Kent Public Health Department
 the Health and Safety Executive
 Dartford Borough Council exercising its local planning authority functions



                                                                                                                                       

- 26 -

 Dartford Borough Council exercising its environmental health functions for minimising or 
preventing the risk of pollution of the environment or of harm to human health

 North Kent Social Services – Safeguarding Children’s Services (the body responsible for 
the protection of children from harm)

 in relation to a vessel, a navigation authority, the Environment Agency, or the British 
Waterways Board

 Kent Trading Standards
 Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the Secretary of State).

'Review'
At any stage, following the grant of a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate, a 
Responsible Authority and/or Any Other Person, may ask the Licensing Authority to Review the 
licence or certificate because of a matter arising at the licensed Premises in connection with any of 
one or more of the Licensing Objectives.  The Licensing Authority will hold a Licensing Sub-
Committee hearing and as a result, may take any appropriate steps to promote the Licensing 
Objectives, such as modifying the Conditions, excluding Licensable Activities; removing a DPS, 
suspending the licence/certificate for up to three months, revoke the licence/certificate or reinstate 
Conditions. 

'Temporary Event Notice (TEN)'
A permitted temporary activity involving one or more Licensable Activities subject to the following 
limitations:

1. The number of standard TENS a person may give per annum - limited to 50 times p.a. for a 
Personal Licence holder and 5 times p.a. for other people

2. The number of late TENS a person may give per annum – limited to 10 times p.a. for a 
Personal Licence holder and 2 times p.a. for other people

3. The number of times a TEN may be given in respect of any particular licensed  Premises – 
limited to 12 times in a calendar year

4. The length of time a TEN – limited to 168 hours or 7 days;
5. The maximum aggregate duration of the periods covered by TENS at any individual

licensed Premises - limited to 21 days per calendar year
6. The scale of the event in terms of the maximum number of people attending at any one 

time - a maximum of 499 persons.

For the purposes of determining the overall limits of 50 TENS per Personal Licence holder (in a 
calendar year) and of 5 for a non-personal licence holder (in a calendar year), TENS given by an 
Associate or a person who is in business with a ‘premises user’ (and that business involves 
carrying on Licensable Activities) count towards those totals. The limits applying to late temporary 
event notices are included within the overall limits applying to the total number of TENS.

A TEN may only be given by an individual and not, for example, by an organisation or club or 
business.  The individual giving the notice is the proposed “premises user”.  For businesses, clubs 
or organisations, an individual will therefore need to be identified as the proposed ‘premises user’.

A TEN is only required for an indoor sporting event or the performance of dance or a play if the 
activity takes place before 08:00 or after 23:00 on any day.  As no more than 499 people can be 
permitted on authorised Premises by a TEN, a TEN cannot authorise the performance of a play or 
dance, or an indoor sporting event, where such an activity is licensable, because the relevant 
audience limit is exceeded.  Other Regulated Entertainment, or the sale or supply of alcohol, would 
need to be authorised by a TEN or a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate.

'Transfer'
On an application to transfer the Premises Licence into a new name e.g. if a Premises Licence 
holder sells his licensed  Premises, an application may be made to transfer the Premises Licence 
to the new owner.



                                                                                                                                       

- 27 -

Appendix B - Further Information & Contacts

Further information about the Licensing Act 2003 (as amended) and the Licensing Authority’s 
‘Statement of Licensing Policy’ can be obtained from:

Licensing Section
Dartford Borough Council
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
Kent
DA1 1DR

Tel:      01322 343024
Fax:      01322 343607
Email:     licensing@dartford.gov.uk
Website: www.dartford.gov.uk

Information is also available from:

Home Office (Guidance to the Act)
The Alcohol Team
The Home Office
4th Floor, Fry Building (North West)
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF

Email:     alcoholstrategy@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk
Website: www.gov.uk

HMSO (The Licensing Act 2003)
Website: www.hmso.gov.uk

Responsible Authorities:

Medway Police Station Kent Fire & Rescue Service
Eastbridge Fire Safety Office
Purser Way Dartford Fire Station
Gillingham Watling Street
Kent Dartford
ME7 1NE Kent

DA2 6EG

Tel:    01634 792733 Tel:      01322 278729
Fax:    01322 227962

Email: licensing.north.division@kent.police.pnn.uk Email: Dartford.firesafety@kent.fire-uk.org

Health & Safety/Environmental Health/Planning
Dartford Borough Council
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
Kent
DA1 1DR

Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343422
Email: environmental.admin@dartford.gov.uk (H & S/Environmental)

planning.admin@dartford.gov.uk (Planning)

mailto:licensing@dartford.gov.uk
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:alcoholstrategy@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/
http://www.hmso.gov.uk/
http://www.hmso.gov.uk/
mailto:licensing.north.division@kent.police.pnn.uk
mailto:Dartford.firesafety@kent.fire-uk.org
mailto:environmental.admin@dartford.gov.uk
mailto:planning.admin@dartford.gov.uk


                                                                                                                                       

- 28 -

Area Manager Kent Public Health Department
North Kent Social Services Room 3.45, Sessions House 
Safeguarding Children’s Services County Hall
c/o Civic Centre County Road
Home Gardens Maidstone
Dartford Kent
Kent ME14 1XQ
DA1 1DR

Tel: 0300 3336379

KCC Trading Standards
Legal & Licensing Department
1st Floor, Invicta House
Maidstone
Kent
ME14 1XX

Tel: 01732 525291
Email: ts.licensing@kent.gov.uk

OTHER USEFUL CONTACTS:

The British Institute of Inn-keeping Security Industry Authority
(BII) (S.I.A.)
Wessex House PO Box 9
80 Park Street Newcastle Upon Tyne
Camberley NE82 6YX
Surrey 
GU15 3PT

Tel:         01276 684449 Tel:  08702 430100
Fax:        01276 23045 Fax:  08702 430125
Website: www.bii.org.uk Web: www.the-sia.org.uk

British Beer & Pub Association Bar, Entertainment & Dance
(BBPA) Association (BEDA)
Market Towers 5 Waterloo Road
1 Nine Elms Lane Stockport
London. SW8 5NQ Cheshire
SW8 5NQ SK1 3BD

Tel:         020 7627 9191 Tel: 01614 290012
Fax:        020 7627 9123 Fax: 01614 297214
Website: www.beerandpub.com Website: www.beda.gov.uk

The Portman Group Alcohol Concern
7-10 Chandos Street Waterbridge House
Cavendish Square 32-36 Loman Street
London London
W1G 9DQ SE1 0EE

Tel:      020 79073700 Tel:   020 7928 7377
Website: www.portman-group.org.uk Web: www.alcoholconcern.org.uk

mailto:ts.licensing@kent.gov.uk
http://www.bii.org.uk/
http://www.the-sia.org.uk/
http://www.beerandpub.com/
http://www.beda.gov.uk/
http://www.portman-group.org.uk/
http://www.alcoholconcern.org.uk/


                                                                                                                                       

- 29 -

Appendix C - Licensing Enforcement Policy

1. Aim

This Enforcement Policy is intended to fairly and firmly enforce the law in a consistent and 
transparent way, and in accordance with the four licensing objectives:-

 Prevention of crime and disorder
 Public Safety
 Prevention of public nuisance
 Protection of children from harm

The Licensing Authority will assist and advise wherever appropriate, but proportionate action will 
be taken against those who breach the provisions of the 2003 Act.

The Licensing Authority has adopted the provisions of the Regulators' Compliance Code9. In 
accordance with this Code, this Licensing Enforcement Policy helps to promote efficient and 
effective approaches to regulatory inspection and enforcement, which improve regulatory 
outcomes without imposing unnecessary burdens. 

In certain instances, the Licensing Authority may conclude that a provision in the Regulators' 
Compliance Code is either not relevant or is outweighed by another provision.  In exercising its 
licensing functions, the Licensing Authority will ensure that any decision to depart from the Code 
will be properly reasoned, based on material evidence and documented.

2. Liaison with Police and other Responsible Authorities

The Licensing Authority takes a proactive stance towards the proper regulation of, and 
enforcement of the provisions of the 2003 Act.  The Licensing Authority promotes and endorses 
multi-agency co-operation where appropriate and will work actively with the Police and other 
Responsible Authorities, in enforcing the licensing legislation. This may necessitate the sharing of 
information in relation to those persons involved in licensing and relevant licensed Premises based 
on the requirements of the 2003 Act, Criminal Justice and Police Act 1994, Crime and Disorder Act 
1998, the Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 and other relevant legislation.

The Data Protection Act 2018 enables the Licensing Authority to exchange relevant personal 
information (through the Kent & Medway Information Sharing Agreement 2018) with other bodies. 

On occasions, complaints about licensed Premises may be dealt with by other agencies/bodies 
such as Trading Standards and/or Kent Police.  The Licensing Authority will normally take a lead 
on issues including:-

• Noise
• Production and display of relevant licences and documents
• Unauthorised Licensable Activities in relation to the provision of regulated entertainment
• Breaches of Conditions of Premises Licences
• Breaches of requirements under a Temporary Event Notice
• Exposing and keeping of alcohol on licensed Premises for unauthorised sale.

This Licensing Enforcement Policy does not restrict or prevent other regulatory bodies from 
carrying out enforcement under their own regulatory powers.

9 Issued by BERR - 17 December 2007



                                                                                                                                       

- 30 -

3. Licensing Premises’ Visits

Officers will make licensing visits to licensed Premises, and may on occasion be accompanied by 
the Police and/or other regulatory agencies.

The Licensing Authority considers that working with business is the primary method to achieve the 
Licensing Objectives, but will take appropriate enforcement action if necessary.

The visiting regime for licensed Premises is not decided solely on a risk assessment basis.  The 
Licensing Authority will, as part of its proactive stance, make regular visits to and in the vicinity of 
licensed Premises, in order to assess the impact of their operation on residents and other 
businesses in the area.

There will be a presumption that visits will take place when various crime and disorder and other 
indicators show that there are potential problems developing in relation to specific licensed 
Premises or areas in the Borough.

The Licensing Authority will monitor patron movement to, from and between licensed Premises and 
the provision and accessibility of transport to assist dispersal of persons away from licensed 
Premises. The information gained from these monitoring exercises will inform the development of 
this Licensing Enforcement Policy.

4. Consistency

The Licensing Authority, in exercising its licensing functions and its officers, will act in a fair and 
consistent manner. Officers, whilst exercising their professional judgement in individual cases, will 
do so within a framework based on consistency and fairness in action.

There will be specific circumstances when the Licensing Authority, exercising its licensing functions 
will share an enforcement role with the Police or other regulatory agencies. When this occurs, the 
same degree of consistency and fairness will be applied.

5. Proportionality

The Licensing Authority will, as far as the law allows and where co-operation is given, work with 
business/licensees to enable them to meet their legal obligations without undue cost.

The Licensing Authority will take into account the cost of compliance by ensuring that any 
enforcement or remedial action required is proportionate to the risks.  However, clear breaches of 
the 2003 Act may attract prosecution and/or recommendations for Review of the licence, where it 
is deemed to be in the public interest.

6. Enforcement Action/Options

i. The initial contact between Licensing Authority and business/licensees, will normally be 
informal, with the provision of advice, guidance and support.

ii. Enforcement action can include the following progressive approach to achieve compliance:

 Verbal advice - which may be documented
 Written advice
 Verbal warning - which may be documented
 Written warning
 Statutory Notice
 Formal Caution
 Prosecution



                                                                                                                                       

- 31 -

The individual circumstances of the breach of the 2003 Act will determine the level of 
enforcement by the Licensing Authority.  All actions will be considered in accordance with 
the requirements of the Human Rights Act 1998 and on the individual merits of each case.

iii. A Responsible Authority or Any Other Persons may make an application to the Licensing 
Authority for the Review of a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate because of a 
matter arising at the licensed Premises in connection with any of the Licensing Objectives.  
The Licensing Sub-committee will consider a Review application and further evidence from 
the licence holder against any claims made and may consider one or more of the following 
steps as necessary;

• modify the Conditions of the Premises licence/Club Premises Certificate;
• exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;
• remove the Designated Premises Supervisor;
• suspend the licence for a period not exceeding 3 months;
• revoke the licence.

Alternatively, the Licensing Sub-Committee may consider that no action is required or issue 
a warning regarding future conduct.

It is to be noted that the Licensing Authority is a Responsible Authority for Premises 
Licences and Club Premises Certificates’ applications and will have the power to refuse, 
remove or Review a licence without representation from the Police or other Responsible 
Authority.

iv Before deciding whether to prosecute for any breaches of the 2003 Act, the following factors 
will be considered by the Licensing Authority:-

 The seriousness of the alleged offence
 The history of the business/person concerned
 The willingness of the business/individual to prevent a reoccurrence of the problem and 

the level of co-operation with Officers, Police and/or other agencies.
 Whether it is in the public interest to prosecute
 The realistic prospect of conviction
 Whether any other action (including a formal caution) would be appropriate
 The views of any complainant and other parties with an interest in a prosecution.

On conviction of a relevant offence under the 2003 Act, Magistrates’ may endorse, suspend 
or revoke a Personal Licence.





LICENISNG COMMITTEE 
26 SEPTEMBER 2018

DRAFT STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY - 2019 - 2022

1. SUMMARY

1. To consult the Committee on the draft Statement of Gambling Policy (2019-
2022).

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That the Committee considers the draft Statement of Gambling Policy 2019-
2022 at Appendix A to the report and submits a formal response through its 
Chairman.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The current Statement of Gambling Policy (the Policy) was adopted on 
3 January 2016, for a period of three years and will expire on 2 January 
2019

3.2 As the Licensing Authority, the Council is required to undertake a 
statutory consultation exercise before adopting its new Policy.  The 
consultation expires on 12 October 2018

3.3 At the Cabinet meeting on the 26 July 2018 [Min.No.37], it was 
resolved that the Licensing Committee be invited to provide a formal 
response to the consultation on the draft Gambling Policy at Appendix 
A to the report.

3.4 The Gambling Act 2005 provides a clear focus on the promotion of 
three statutory objectives which must be addressed when licensing 
functions are undertaken:

• preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, 
being associated with crime and disorder or being used to support 
crime;

• ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and
• protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 

harmed or exploited by gambling.

3.5 Each of the above objectives is of equal importance. There are no 
other statutory licensing objectives, so that the promotion of the three 
objectives is a paramount consideration at all times. 

3.6 Section 6 of the 2005 Act provides that, in carrying out its functions, a 
licensing authority must ‘have regard to’ guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission. The Guidance (revised in September 2015) is 
therefore binding on all licensing authorities to that extent. However, 
this Guidance cannot anticipate every possible scenario or set of 



LICENISNG COMMITTEE 
26 SEPTEMBER 2018

circumstances that may arise and, as long as licensing authorities have 
properly understood this Guidance, they may depart from it if they have 
good reason to do so and can provide full reasons. Departure from this 
Guidance could give rise to an appeal or judicial review, and the 
reasons given will then be a key consideration for the courts when 
considering the lawfulness and merits of any decision taken Policy is 
intended to inform and guide applicants, responsible authorities and 
other persons about how the Authority will make licensing decisions. 

3.7 The draft Policy at Appendix A to the report contains no departures 
from the Guidance.

3.8 Once adopted, the Policy is intended to inform and guide applicants, 
responsible authorities and other persons about how the Licensing 
Authority will make licensing decisions.

3.9 The existence of a clear and robust statement of policy provides 
greater scope for licensing authorities to work in partnership with 
operators, other local businesses, communities, and responsible 
authorities to identify and to proactively mitigate local risks to the 
licensing objectives.

3.10 The adopted Policy should not: 
 compel applicants to complete an operating schedule or; 
 suggest that applicants provide any more detail than as required by 

law or; 
 duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or 

responsibilities imposed by other legislation

3.11 The Committee is invited to consider the draft Policy at Appendix A to 
the report and to submit a formal response through its Chairman.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

STRATEGIC AIM:  TO CREATE A SAFER BOROUGH IN WHICH TO 
LIVE, WORK AND SOCIALISE 

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES: SC 1: Use the Council’s statutory functions to 
increase public safety in the Borough

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications The statutory framework for the  Gambling Policy 
is provided in the Gambling Act 2005 and the 
extensive national guidance which has been 
issued following the enactment to the primary 



LICENISNG COMMITTEE 
26 SEPTEMBER 2018

legislation

Staffing Implications Licensing Section already in place.

Administrative Implications Licensing Section already in place.

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Draft Statement of Gambling Policy 2019 - 2022 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Gambling Act 2005
Gambling Commission 
Gambling Commission 
Guidance – March 2015 

12/06/2018 Joanne Philpott
(01322) 343024

Licensing 
Strategic

N/A





GAMBLING POLICY

Page 1

Gambling Policy 
Statement

Dartford Borough 
Licensing Authority

03 January 2019 to 02 January 2022
If you or anybody you know requires this or any 
other council information in another language, 
please contact us and we will do our best to 
provide this for you. Braille, Audio tape and large 
print versions of this document are available upon 
request. 

Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343432
Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk

Calls are welcome via NGT Relay 

mailto:customer.services@dartford.gov.uk


GAMBLING POLICY

Page 2

Contents
Item Page

1. Introduction 3
2. Consultation 4
3. Declaration 4
4. The Licensing Objectives 6
5. Casinos 8
6. Functions 8
7. Local Risk Assessments 9
8  Responsible Authorities 10
9. Interested parties 11
10. Exchange of information 12
11. Enforcement 12

The appendices that follow form part of this Gambling Policy Statement 

Appendix 1: Permits 13
(i) Unlicensed family entertainment centre gaming machine permits 13
(ii) (Alcohol) licensed premises gaming machine permits 14
(iii) Prize gaming permits 14
(iv) Club gaming and club machine permits 15
Appendix 2: Premises Licences 17
(i) Decision making – general 17
(ii) “Premises” 18
(iii) Location 19
(iv) Planning 19
(v) Duplication 19
(vi) Door supervisors 19
(viii) Reviews 20
(ix) Provisional statements 20
(x) Adult gaming centres 21
(xi) (Licensed) family entertainment centres 21
(xii) Tracks 22
(xiii) Casinos 23
(xiv) Bingo 24
(xv) Temporary Use Notices 24
(xvi) Occasional Use Notices 24
(xvii) Travelling fairs 24
(xviii) Betting premises 24
Information Exchange 25
GamCare Information 25
Appendix 3: Responsible Authorities Contact Details 26
Appendix 4: Summary of licensing authority delegations 27



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 3

1. Introduction

Dartford Borough Licensing Authority is situated in the County of Kent, which contains 12 District 
Licensing Authorities and 1 Unitary Authority in total. Each is represented on the Kent & Medway 
Regulatory Licensing Steering Group (K&MRLStGp) whose role includes the identification of 
issues on which a consistent countywide approach is considered essential and the formulation of 
recommended policy that establishes a minimum standard on these identified issues. 

This Gambling Policy Statement has been formulated in conjunction with the K&MRLStGp.

The Borough of Dartford lies at the heart of the Thames Gateway and is easily accessible, being 
located at Junction 1 of the M25 motorway and only 17 miles from London. To the south, the town 
is by-passed by the A2. The Dartford Tunnels carry northbound traffic under the Thames and the 
Queen Elizabeth II Bridge takes traffic moving southwards. From the town centre the land rises 
sharply to residential districts in the east and west. A number of parishes lie to the south and east 
of the town, each of which has its own centre.

The majority of gambling premises are located in the Town Centre and include three Adult Gaming 
Centres and several Betting Shops (Bookmakers). There are also Betting Shops found within the 
parishes and at other locations in the Borough. Additionally, the majority of Public Houses and 
Members’ Clubs have gaming machines which may require permits from Dartford Borough 
Licensing Authority (the Licensing Authority).

The Licensing Authority is required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a statement of the 
principles that it proposes to apply when exercising its functions.  This statement must be 
published at least every three years.  The statement can also be reviewed from “time to time” and 
the amended parts re-consulted upon.  The statement must then be re-published.

In determining its Gambling Policy Statement, the Licensing Authority must have regard to the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities1 and will give appropriate weight to the 

1 5th Edition 2015 updated September 2016



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 4

views of those it has consulted. The Licensing Authority consulted widely on this Gambling Policy 
Statement before finalising and publishing it.

The Gambling Act 2005 requires that the following parties be consulted by Licensing Authority:

 The Chief Officer of Police
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons 

carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons 

who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions under the 
Gambling Act 2005

2. Consultation 

In accordance with the Act, this Gambling Policy Statement has been prepared in consultation with 
the following parties: 

 North Kent Area Commander, North Kent Police
 Neighbouring Authorities 
 Bodies designated under section 157 of the Act as ‘Responsible Authorities’ 
 Person/bodies representative of gambling businesses 
 Representatives of persons or business who hold premises licences 
 Organisations working with people who are problem gamblers 
 Representatives of health care organisations 
 Representatives of voluntary and community organisations working with children and 

young people 

The names and addresses of those persons/bodies consulted in the preparation of this Gambling 
Policy Statement are available on request to the Licensing Authority.

The consultation took place between 01 August 2018 and 26 September 2018. Consultation 
documents were provided on the Licensing Authority’s website. The full list of comments made, 
and the consideration by the Licensing Authority of those comments, is available on request to the 
Licensing Authority.
 
Appropriate weight has been given to the views of those consulted, and in determining the weight 
given, the factors the Licensing Authority has taken into account include: 

 Who made the representations, including their expertise or interest; 
 Relevance of the factors to the licensing objectives; 
 How many other people expressed the same or similar views; 
 The relevance of the representations, i.e. did they relate to matters the Licensing 

Authority should take into account.

3. Declaration 

In producing this Gambling Policy Statement, the Licensing Authority has had regard to: 

 The licensing objectives set out in the  Gambling Act 2005; 
 The guidance issued by the Gambling Commission in March 2015 and updated in 

September 20162; 
 The Gambling Regulation: Licensing Authority handbook issued by the Local 

Government Association3; 

2 5th Edition
3 June 2015



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 5

 Any relevant Codes of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission; 
 Any relevant Regulations issued by the Secretary of State; and 
 The response of those consulted on this Gambling Policy Statement. 

Nothing in the Gambling Policy Statement overrides the right of any person to make an application, 
make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence. 

The Licensing Authority will consider each application on its own merits, in accordance with the 
statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005 and the Gambling Commission’s Guidance. 
However, the Licensing Authority may, if it considers it right to do so, depart from this Gambling 
Policy Statement and the Gambling Commission’s Guidance. Reasons for ‘departure’ will be 
clearly explained. 

The Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its 
exchange of information, which includes the requirement that the Data Protection Act 2018 will not 
be contravened. The Licensing Authority will also have regard to any guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission on this matter as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of 
State. 

The Licensing Authority will maintain a register of licences and permits issued under the Gambling 
Act 2005, together with such other information as may be prescribed. The register and information 
will be available for inspection by members of the public at all reasonable times. The Licensing 
Authority will, on the payment of a reasonable fee, provide a copy of an entry in the register, or of 
information, to a member of the public on request. 

Any person wanting information on the content of the register or the cost of a copy of an entry from 
the register should contact the Licensing Team (see section 15 for contact details). 

The Licensing Authority has not passed a resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 
excluding the issue of casino licences. Should the Licensing Authority decide in the future to pass 
a ‘no casino’ resolution, it will update this Gambling Policy Statement with details of that resolution. 

In carrying out its functions under the Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing Authority has regard to the 
Human Rights Act 1998, and in particular: 

 Article 1, Protocol 1 – peaceful enjoyment of possessions. A licence is considered a 
possession in law and people should not be deprived of their possessions except in the 
public interest; 

 Article 6 – right to a fair hearing; 
 Article 8 – respect for private and family life. In particular, removal or restriction of a 

licence may affect a person’s private life; and 
 Article 10 – right to freedom of expression. 



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 6

4. Licensing Objectives 

This section provides additional information in relation to the principles the Licensing Authority will 
apply in the promotion of the three licensing objectives. 

Objective 1 - Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

The Licensing Authority acknowledges that the Gambling Commission plays a leading role in 
preventing gambling from being a source of crime. If during the course of considering a Premises 
Licence application, or at any other time, the Licensing Authority receives information that causes it 
to question the suitability of the applicant to hold a licence, these concerns will be brought to the 
attention of the Gambling Commission without delay. 

The Licensing Authority will consider the location of premises in the context of this licensing 
objective. For example, if an application for a licence or permit is received in relation to premises 
that are in an area noted for particular problems with organised crime, the Licensing Authority will 
consider what (if any) controls might be appropriate to prevent those premises becoming a source 
of crime.  These might include conditions being put on the licence, such as a requirement for door 
supervisors. 

The Licensing Authority notes that in the case of Premises Licences, disorder is intended to mean 
activity that is more serious and disruptive than nuisance. Factors to consider in determining 
whether a disturbance was serious enough to constitute disorder would include whether police 
assistance was required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see or hear it.  
However, the Licensing Authority may use other powers to deal with premises that are causing a 
nuisance. 

Should there be persistent or serious disorder problems that an operator could or should do more 
to prevent; the Licensing Authority will bring this to the attention of the Gambling Commission so 
that it can consider the continuing suitability of the operator to hold an operating licence. In 
addition, the Licensing Authority has the ability to review licences 

In relation to preventing disorder, the Licensing Authority does have the ability under section 169 of 
the Gambling Act 2005, to impose licence conditions. 

Objective 2 - Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

The Licensing Authority acknowledges that the Gambling Commission has stated that it would 
generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with ensuring that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open way, as this will be a matter for either the management of the 
gambling business, and therefore subject to an operating licence, or the individual and therefore 
subject to a personal licence. 

The Licensing Authority will however have a role to play in respect of the licensing of tracks, as the 
track operator will not necessarily have an operating licence issued by the Gambling Commission. 
In such instances, the Licensing Authority may consider the imposition of conditions on the 
Premises Licence to ensure that the environment in which the betting takes place is suitable. 

The Licensing Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission will achieve the promotion of this 
objective by working to ensure that: 

 Operating and personal licences are issued only to those who are suitable to offer 
gambling facilities or work in the industry; 

 Easily understandable information is made available by operators to players about, for 
example: the rules of the game, the probability of losing or winning, and the terms and 



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 7

conditions on which business is conducted; 
 The rules are fair; 
 Advertising is not misleading; 
 The results of events and competitions on which commercial gambling takes place are 

made public; and 
 Machines, equipment and software used to produce the outcome of games meet 

standards set by the Commission and operate as advertised. 

The Licensing Authority will bring any concerns it may have over the promotion of this objective to 
the attention of the Gambling Commission so that it can consider the continuing suitability of the 
operator to hold an operating licence, or individual to hold a personal licence.

Objective 3 - Protecting children and other vulnerable people from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling 

The Licensing Authority understands that, with limited exceptions, the intention of the Gambling Act 
2005 is that children and young persons should not be permitted to gamble and should be 
prevented from entering those gambling premises which are adult-only environments.  
Furthermore, the Licensing Authority acknowledges that the objective in relation to children is 
explicitly to protect them from being “harmed or exploited by gambling”; and that this requires there 
to be restrictions on advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at children or advertised 
in such a way that makes them particularly attractive to children.
 
In carrying out its function under the Gambling Act 2005 the Licensing Authority will consider 
whether specific measures will be needed to protect children on particular categories of premises. 
This may include requirements such as supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from 
areas frequented by children and supervision of gaming machines in licensed family entertainment 
centres (FECs). These considerations will also be particularly relevant on tracks (where children 
will be permitted in the betting areas on race-days).  

To assist those licensed premises that are subject to a mandatory condition that prohibits entry to 
persons under the age of 18, the Licensing Authority would recommend that, as a minimum, a 
‘Challenge 21’ policy is in operation. This means that whilst persons who are aged 18 or over may 
be permitted entry to the premises, any person who appears under the age of 21 is challenged and 
required to provide appropriate ID.  Appropriate ID is either a passport, photo driving licence or a 
photo ID card bearing the PASS hologram. 

The Licensing Authority will consider, in relation to particular premises, whether any special 
considerations apply in relation to the protection of “vulnerable persons”. Any such considerations 
will be balanced against the Licensing Authority’s aim to permit the use of premises for gambling. 
In making such considerations, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the fact that whilst the 
Gambling Commission has not defined “vulnerable persons”, it has for regulatory purposes, 
assumed that this group includes people who: 

 gamble more than they want to; 
 people who gamble beyond their means; and 
 may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a 

mental impairment, alcohol or drugs. 

The Licensing Authority will consider the location of premises in the context of this licensing 
objective.  For example, the proximity of gambling premises to schools and vulnerable adult 
centres, or to residential areas where there may be a high concentration of families with children.



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 8

5. Casinos 
 
No Casinos resolution – Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 gives a licensing authority the 
ability to resolve not to issue casino Premises Licences. The Licensing Authority has not passed a 
‘no casino’ resolution. Should the Licensing Authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, 
it will update this Gambling Policy Statement with details of that resolution. 

6. Functions under the Gambling Policy 

‘Gambling’ is defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as either, gaming, betting or taking part in a lottery. 

 ‘Gaming’ means playing a game of chance for a prize; 
 ‘Betting’ means making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race, competition, or any 

other event; the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring; or whether anything is true 
or not; 

 A ‘lottery’ is where persons are required to pay in order to take part in an arrangement, 
during the course of which one or more prizes are allocated by a process, which relies wholly 
on chance. 

The Gambling Act 2005 provides for three categories of licences: 

 Operating Licences; 
 Personal Licences; and 
 Premises Licences. 

The Licensing Authority will be responsible for issuing Premises Licences and the Gambling 
Commission for issuing Operating and Personal Licences. Licensing remote gambling falls to the 
Gambling Commission, via an Operator’s Licence. 

The main function of the Licensing Authority under the Gambling Act 2005 is to: 

 Licence premises for gambling activities 
 Grant permits for gambling and gaming machines in clubs 
 Regulate gaming and gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises 
 Grant permits to family entertainment centres for the use of certain lower stake gaming 

machines 
 Grant permits for prize gaming 
 Consider notices given for the temporary use of premises for gaming 
 Consider occasional use notices for betting at tracks 
 Register small societies lotteries 

Premises Licences granted by the Licensing Authority may authorise the provision of facilities on: 

 Casino premises; 
 Bingo premises; 
 Betting premises, including tracks; 
 Adult gaming centres; and 
 Family entertainment centres. 

Except in the case of tracks, Premises Licences may only be issued to people with a relevant 
Operating Licence granted by the Gambling Commission. Premises Licences are transferable to 
someone else holding a valid Operating Licence. The Licensing Authority may attach conditions to 
Premises Licences. 



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 9

Other forms of authorisation issued by the Licensing Authority may include authorising the 
temporary use of premises, occasional use notices, five different sorts of permit for unlicensed 
family entertainment centres, prize gaming, gaming machines on alcohol-licensed premises, club 
gaming and club gaming machines. 

Application forms and information on application fees is available on the Licensing Authority’s 
website www.dartford.gov.uk

7. Local Risk Assessments 

The ‘Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP)’4 issued by the Gambling Commission 
formalises the need for operators to consider local risks. As part of the application process, 
licensees are required to submit a local risk assessment when applying for a new Premises 
Licence.  

From April 2016, the ‘Social responsibility (SR) Code 10.1.1’ (issued by the Gambling Commission) 
will require existing licence holders to assess individual premises in order to identify any local risk 
that gambling facilities may pose on the promotion of the licensing objectives and to have policies, 
procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks. 

Licence holders will also be required to update an assessment: 

 when applying for a variation of a Premises Licence; 
 to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those identified 

in a licensing authority’s gambling policy statement; and 
 when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their 

mitigation of local risks. 

Applicants for a new grant Premises Licence will need to undertake a local risk assessment. For 
example, if the premises has a problem with crime in betting shops the risk assessment 
should include Maglocks, staff working double crewed, full CCTV retained for 28 days and 
made available to Police and Council officers on request.  

The Licensing Authority may require that risk assessments compiled at the time of applying for a 
new grant, or for a variation, of a Premises Licence, be shared with it. Where the Licensing 
Authority has concerns over new or existing risks, it may require a licensee to share their risk 
assessment with it.  By adopting this proactive approach, the Licensing Authority and licensees 
should be able to reduce the occasions on which a premises review is required.

The Licensing Authority expects an applicant or licence holder, when carrying out their risk 
assessment, to primarily concentrate on the steps they intend to take, so as to promote the 
licensing objectives. These steps might include: 

 details of training policies and training undertaken by staff 
 information of age verification procedure and how refusals to serve / admit on age 

grounds are recorded 
 location of age restricted gaming machines 
 keeping an ‘incident’ book and recording relevant incidents in or outside the premises, 

e.g. anti-social behaviour 
 approach to managing self-exclusion 
 involvement/impact of any work in local schemes or partnership working with other 

local businesses 

4 February 2015 and updated April 2015

file:///C:/Users/jphilpott/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.IE5/5FNZGLYU/www.dartford.gov.uk


GAMBLING POLICY

Page 10

The above list is not exhaustive - it merely provides examples of matters that may be relevant to 
the promotion of the licensing objectives.

The Licensing Authority has not undertaken any local area assessments. The local neighbourhood 
police team will be able to provide current information on any crime and disorder or anti-social 
behaviour issues occurring in the local of an applicant or licensed premises.

8. Responsible Authorities

Responsible Authorities are public bodies that must be notified of applications and that are entitled 
to make representations to the Licensing Authority in relation to applications for, and in relation to, 
Premises Licences. All representations made by Responsible Authorities are likely to be relevant 
representations if they relate to the licensing objectives.

Section 157 of the Gambling Act 2005 identifies the bodies that are to be treated as Responsible 
Authorities. They are:

 a licensing authority in England and Wales in whose area the premises is wholly/partly 
situated;

 the Gambling Commission;
 the Chief Officer of Police/Chief Constable for the area in which the premises is wholly 

or partially situated;
 the Fire and Rescue authority for the same area;
 in England and Wales, the local planning authority;
 an authority which has functions in relation to pollution to the environment or harm to 

human health;
 anybody, designated in writing by the licensing authority as competent to advise about 

the protection of children from harm;
 HM Revenue & Customs; and
 any other person prescribed in regulations by the Secretary of State.

In exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Gambling Act 2005 to designate, in writing, a 
body which is competent to advise it about the protection of children from harm, the following 
principles have been applied by the Licensing Authority:

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the licensing 
authority’s area;

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather than 
any particular vested interest group etc.

In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Licensing Authorities, the Licensing 
Authority designates the following for this purpose: 

The contact details of all the responsible bodies under the Gambling Act 2005 are listed at 
Appendix 3 and are also available via the Licensing Authority’s website at: www.dartford.gov.uk.

Kent Social Services
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
Kent
DA1 1DR

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


GAMBLING POLICY

Page 11

9. Interested parties

Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a review of an 
existing licence.  These parties are defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as someone who, in the 
opinion of the licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the application is made,-

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities;
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities; or
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”.

Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as Councillors and 
Members of Parliament.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested person will 
be required, as long as the Councillor or Member of Parliament represents the ward likely to be 
affected.  Other than these however, the Licensing Authority will generally require written evidence 
that a person 'represents' someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to 
be affected by the authorised activities and/or business interests that might be affected by the 
authorised activities.  A letter from one of these persons requesting the representation is sufficient. 

The Licensing Authority will view trade associations, trade unions, residents’ and tenants’ 
associations as interested parties only if they have a member who lives sufficiently close to the 
premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities.

The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in exercising 
its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is an interested party.  The 
overriding principle is that each case will be decided upon its merits.  The Licensing Authority will 
not apply a rigid rule to its decision-making.  The factors that the Licensing Authority may take into 
account when determining what ‘sufficiently close to the premises’ means (in each case) might 
include:

 the size of the premises
 the nature of the premises
 the distance of the premises from the location of the person making the representation
 the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes likely to be taken by 

those visiting the establishment); and
 the nature of the complainant.  This is not the personal characteristics of the 

complainant but the interests of the complainant, which may be relevant to the distance 
from the premises.  For example, it would be reasonable for the Licensing Authority to 
conclude that “sufficiently close to be likely to be affected” could have a different 
meaning for (a) a private resident (b) a residential school for children with truanting 
problems and (c) residential hostel for vulnerable adults.

In determining whether a person with business interests might be affected by the premises, the 
factors likely to be relevant include:

 the size of the premises
 the ‘catchment’ area of the premises (i.e. how far people travel to visit); and
 whether the person making the representation has business interests in that catchment 

area that might be affected.

The Gambling Commission has emphasised to licensing authorities, that ‘demand’ cannot be a 
factor in decisions.  

Moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for Premises Licences. 
This is because such objections do not relate to the licensing objectives (Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities para 5.28). All objections must be in line with the licensing 
objectives.



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 12

10.  Exchange of Information

In holding and exchanging information with other bodies during the exercise of its functions under 
the Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the 
Data Protection Act 2018 (through the Kent & Medway Information Sharing Agreement 2018) 
and the requirements of the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

The Licensing Authority will have regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission on 
this matter as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State.

11.  Enforcement 

The main enforcement and compliance role for the Licensing Authority will be to ensure 
compliance with licences and permits issued by it and any conditions attached to them, including 
compliance with relevant codes of practice, dealing with temporary permissions and registration of 
small lotteries.

The Licensing Authority is required by the Gambling Act 2005 to state the principles to be applied 
by it in exercising the functions under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; 
and the powers under section 346 of the Act, to institute criminal proceedings in respect of the 
offences specified.

The Kent & Medway Licensing Steering Group has formulated an Enforcement Protocol which 
each Licensing Authority and Responsible Authority has agreed. The purpose of this protocol is to 
facilitate co-operation and co-ordination between enforcement agencies in pursuance of both the 
Gambling Act 2005 and the Licensing Act 2003. The protocol underpins the mutual operational 
support required to tackle licensing issues.

The Licensing Authority’s approach to regulatory inspection and enforcement will be in accordance 
with the Regulators’ Code5 as follows:

 Proportionate: only intervene when necessary: remedies should be appropriate to the risk 
posed, and costs identified and minimised;

 Accountable: justify decisions and be subject to public scrutiny;
 Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;
 Transparent: be open and keep regulations simple and user friendly; and
 Targeted: be focused on the problem and minimise side effects. 

The Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as 
possible.

The Licensing Authority will comply with the codes of practices developed by the Crown 
Prosecution Service in the management of criminal cases.

The Licensing Authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of premises within its 
area. In order to ensure that any compliance issues are recognised and resolved at the earliest 
stage, operators are requested to give the Licensing Authority a single named point of contact, who 
should be a senior individual, and whom the Licensing Authority will contact first, should any 
compliance queries or issues arise.  

The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for the Operator and Personal Licences 
and be responsible for compliance as regards unlicensed premises.

5 April 2014



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 13



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 14

Appendix 1
In this Appendix, the Licensing Authority set out how it will comply with the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance for Licensing Authorities extracts of which are in italics:

 “The licensing authority should set out in its statement what factors it may take into account when 
considering applications for premises licences, permits and other permission and matters that it will 
consider when determining whether to review a licence.  The licensing authority will take into 
account considerations such as the proximity of gambling premises to schools and vulnerable adult 
centres, or to residential areas where there may be a high concentration of families with children 
and  should be detailed (where they are relevant).  Any such policy must, however, come with the 
qualification that each case will be decided on its merits, so if an applicant can show how they 
might overcome licensing objective concerns, that will have to be taken into account. “ (6.32)

1. Permits 

(i) Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming machine permits: 
(Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule 10 paragraph 7)

Where a premise does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide gaming machines, it 
may apply to the Licensing Authority for this permit.  

The applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for making gaming 
machines available for use (Section 238)

The Licensing Authority has considered and intends to require applicants to demonstrate:

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible 
in unlicensed family entertainment centres;

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the 
Gambling Act 2005); and

 that staff are trained to have full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes.

It should be noted that the Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions to this type of permit and 
that the “statement of principles” only applies to initial applications and not to renewals (paragraph 
18(4)).  

For initial applications, the Licensing Authority does not have to have regard to the licensing 
objectives but does need to have regard to guidance issued by the Gambling Commission. 

“In their three year licensing Gambling Policy Statement, licensing authorities may include a 
statement of principles that they propose to apply when exercising their functions in considering 
applications for permits…., licensing authorities will want to give weight to child protection issues.” 

 “An application for a permit may be granted only if the licensing authority is satisfied that the 
premises will be used as an unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC), and if the chief officer 
of police has been consulted on the application. Relevant considerations to take into account 
would be the applicant's suitability…, such as any convictions that they may have that would make 
them unsuitable to operate a family entertainment centre..; and the suitability of the premises in 
relation to their location and issues about disorder." 

Statement of Principles: The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are 
policies and procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited 
to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. The efficiency of such 
policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits. However, they may include 
appropriate measures/training for staff as regards suspected truant school children on the 
premises, measures/training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children 



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 15

being on the premises, or children causing perceived problems on/around the premises. The 
Licensing Authority will also expect, as per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, that applicants 
demonstrate a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FEC's; that the applicant has no relevant convictions and that staff are 
trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes.
 
With regard to renewals of these permits, the Licensing Authority may refuse an application for 
renewal of a permit only on the grounds that an authorised local authority officer has been refused 
access to the premises without reasonable excuse, or that renewal would not be reasonably 
consistent with pursuit of the licensing objectives.

(ii) (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits – (Schedule 13 Para 4(1))

There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises, 
to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  The premises need merely to 
notify the Licensing Authority.  The Licensing Authority can remove the automatic authorisation in 
respect of any particular premises if:
 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the licensing 

objectives;
 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 of the 

Gambling Act 2005 (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the licensing authority, that a 
fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and operation of the machine has been complied with) 

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or
 an offence under the Gambling Act 2005 has been committed on the premises

If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then an application for a permit must be made 
and the Licensing Authority must consider the application based upon the licensing objectives, any 
guidance issued by the Gambling Commission (issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 
2005),  and “such matters as it thinks relevant.” The Licensing Authority considers that “such 
matters” will be decided on a case by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to 
protect children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or being exploited by gambling and will 
expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machines.

Measures which will satisfy the Licensing Authority that there will be no access may include the 
adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are 
not being used by those under 18 years old. Notices and signage may also help. As regards the 
protection of vulnerable persons applicants may wish to consider the provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

It should be noted that the Licensing Authority can decide to grant the application with a smaller 
number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied for.  Conditions 
(other than these) cannot be attached.

It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by 
the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the machine.

(iii) Prize Gaming Permits – (Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule 14 Para 8 (3))

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a statement of principles that 
they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Schedule” which “may, in particular, 
specify matters that the licensing authority proposes to consider in determining the suitability of the 
applicant for a permit”.  



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 16

Given that the premises will particularly appeal to children and young persons, in considering what 
to take into account in the application process and what information to request for the applicant, 
the Licensing Authority will want to give weight to child protection issues, and will ask the applicant 
to set out the types of gaming that he or she is intending to offer. The applicant should be able to 
demonstrate:

 that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in regulations; and
 that the gaming offered is within the law.

In making its decision on an application for this permit the Licensing Authority does not need to 
have regard to the licensing objectives, but must have regard to guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission.  

Permit holders must comply with the following provisions in the Gambling Act 2005 (the Licensing 
Authority cannot attach conditions relating to these provisions):

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations;
 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which the 

gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and completed on the 
day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in the 
premises on the day that it is played; 

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in regulations (if 
a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other gambling. 

(iv) Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

Members’ Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) may apply for a Club 
Gaming Permit or a Club Gaming Machines Permit.  The Club Gaming Permit will enable the 
premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming 
and games of chance as set-out in forthcoming regulations.  A Club Gaming Machine Permit will 
enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D).

“Members' clubs must have at least 25 members and be established and conducted “wholly or 
mainly” for purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate regulations.  It 
is anticipated that this will cover bridge and whist clubs, which will replicate the position under the 
Gaming Act 1968.  A members’ club must be permanent in nature, not established to make 
commercial profit, and controlled by its members equally.  Examples include working men’s clubs, 
branches of Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations.” (25.6)

“Before granting the permit the authority will need to satisfy itself that the premises meet the 
requirements of a members’ club and may grant the permit if the majority of members are over 
18.”(25.17)

The Licensing Authority may only refuse an application on the grounds that:

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or miners’ 
welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has 
applied;

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons;
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the applicant while 

providing gaming facilities;
(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Gambling Commission or the police (Gambling 

Commission’s Guidance for Local Authorities 25.40)



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 17

It should be noted that there is a ‘fast-track’ procedure available for premises that hold a Club 
Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003.  “Under the fast-track procedure there is no 
opportunity for objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the grounds upon 
which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced” and “The grounds on which an application 
under the process may be refused are:

(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed under schedule 
12;

(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other gaming; or
(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last ten years 

has been cancelled.”

There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a category B3A, B4 or C 
machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision of a code of 
practice about the location and operation of gaming machines. 



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 18

Appendix 2
2. Premises Licences

(i) Decision making - general: Premises Licences will be subject to the permissions/restrictions 
set-out in the Gambling Act 2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default 
conditions which will be detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  The Licensing 
Authority is able to exclude default conditions and also attach others, where it is believed to be 
appropriate and evidence supports the need for additional conditions.

The Licensing Authority is aware that in making decisions about Premises Licences, it should aim 
to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it:

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
 in accordance with its Gambling Policy Statement.

“Conditions imposed by the licensing authority must be proportionate to the circumstances which 
they are seeking to address.  In particular, licensing authorities should ensure that the premises 
licence conditions:

 are relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a
     gambling facility;
 are directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
 are fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises: and
 are reasonable in all other respects.” 

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although there will be a 
number of measures the Licensing Authority will consider utilising should there be a perceived 
need, such as the use of supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc. There are 
specific comments made in this regard under some of the licence types that follow. The Licensing 
Authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own suggestions as to the way in 
which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.

The Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which may be required for buildings 
which are subject to multiple Premises Licences. Such measures may include the supervision of 
entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by children; and the 
supervision of gaming machines in a non-adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue the 
licensing objectives.  

The Licensing Authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are on offer in 
premises to which children are admitted:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access other 
than through a designated entrance;

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located;
 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by the 

staff or the licence holder; and
 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed notices 

indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18 years.

These conditions will apply to premises including buildings where multiple Premises Licences are 
applicable.



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 19

There are also conditions which the Licensing Authority cannot attach to Premises Licences which 
are:

 any condition on the Premises Licence which makes it impossible to comply with an operating 
licence condition 

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation;
 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the Gambling Act  

2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this 
provision prevents it being reinstated ) and

 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes

The Gambling Commission has also emphasised to local authorities, that ‘demand’ cannot be a 
factor in decisions.  

(ii) “Premises”: Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”.  It is for the Licensing Authority to 
decide whether different parts of a building can be properly regarded as being separate premises 
and as the Gambling Commission Guidance states, it “will always be a question of fact in the 
circumstances.”  The Gambling Commission does not however consider that areas of a building 
that are artificially or temporarily separate can be properly regarded as different premises.

The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

“In considering applications for multiple licences for a building or those for a specific part of the 
building to be licensed, licensing authorities “should be aware that:

 the third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by gambling.  In 
practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in gambling, but also that they 
are not permitted to be in close proximity to gambling.  Therefore premises should be 
configured so that children are not invited to; participate in, have accidental access to, or 
closely observe gambling where they are prohibited from participating; 

 entrances and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more licences should be 
separate and identifiable so that the separation of different premises is not compromised and 
that people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area.”.  In this context it should normally be possible to 
access the premises without going through another licensed premises or premises with a 
permit.

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises licence”.(7.18)

“Licensing authorities should pay particular attention to applications where access to the licensed 
premises is through other premises (which themselves may be licensed or unlicensed).  Clearly, 
there will be specific issues that authorities should consider before granting such applications, for 
example, whether children can gain access; compatibility of the two establishments; and ability to 
comply with the requirements of the Act.   But, in addition an overriding consideration should be 
whether, taken as a whole, the co-location of the licensed premises with other facilities has the 
effect of creating an arrangement that otherwise would, or should, be prohibited under the Act.” 

It should be noted that an applicant cannot obtain a full Premises Licence until the premises in 
which it is proposed to offer the gambling are constructed. The Gambling Commission has advised 
that references to "the premises" are to the premises in which gambling may now take place. Thus 
a licence to use premises for gambling will only be issued in relation to premises that are ready to 
be used for gambling. The Licensing Authority agrees with the Gambling Commission that it is a 
question of fact and degree whether premises are finished to a degree that they can be considered 
for a Premises Licence. The Gambling Commission emphasises that requiring the building to be 
complete ensures that the authority can, if necessary, inspect it fully, as can other Responsible 
Authorities with inspection rights.



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 20

(iii) Location: The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

“Licensing authorities will need to consider the location of premises within the context of this6 
licensing objective.  If an application for a licence or permit is received in relation to premises that 
are in an area noted for particular problems with organised crime, for example, licensing authorities 
should think about what (if any) controls might be appropriate to prevent those premises becoming 
a source of crime.  These might include conditions being put on the licence." 

“For example, a licensing authority statement of policy could and should, set out the general 
principles that the licensing authority will apply when determining whether the location of proposed 
gambling premises is acceptable (with or without conditions) in light of the licensing objectives. For 
example, a licensing authority statement of policy might set out that the authority will consider very 
carefully whether applications for premises licence in respect of certain gambling premises located 
very close to a school, or a centre for gambling addicts should be granted in light of the third 
licensing objective.  Any such policy must, however, come with the qualification that each case will 
be decided on its merits, and will depend to a large extent on the type of gambling that it is 
proposed will be offered on the premises.  If an applicant for a premises licence can show how 
licensing objective concerns can be overcome, that will have to be taken into account.”  (6.12) 

(iv) Planning: Planning and licensing are different regulatory systems and will be dealt with 
separately.  

“When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the licensing authority 
should not take into account whether those building have or comply with the necessary planning or 
building consents.  Those matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control and building 
regulation powers, and not form part of the consideration for the premises licence.  Section 210 of 
the 2005 Act prevents licensing authorities taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by the 
applicant obtaining planning or building consent when considering a premises licence application.  
Equally the grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may 
be appropriate under the law relating to planning or building.”  

The Licensing Authority will listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which 
are not able to be met by licensees due to planning restrictions such as the primary use of the 
premises and/or the permitted hours of operation.

(v) Duplication: The Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory 
regimes so far as possible.  

(vi) Door Supervisors:

“Licensing authorities may require persons operating premises in which gambling takes place to 
take measures such as the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling 
areas frequented by children (assuming such non-gambling areas are compatible with 
requirements of the Act); and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific 
premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives.” 

“Any person employed to fulfil a condition on a premises licence that requires door supervision 
should hold a relevant licence issued by the Security Industry Authority (SIA).”

Door supervisors at licensed casino or bingo premises are exempt from the requirements of the 
Private Security Industry Act 2001. Where the Licensing Authority has imposed door supervision 
requirements on such licences, the personnel will not need licensing under the 2001 Act.  However 
where a casino or bingo premises are licensed for the sale of alcohol under the Licensing Act 2003 

6 Preventing gambling being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime.



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 21

then Door Supervisors employed are required to be licensed by the SIA under the PSIA Act 2001 
to enable them to perform their functions under that Act. In all other instances, the Door 
Supervisors must, as a minimum, be trained to the Level 2 National Standard for Door Supervision.

There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices or adult gaming centres has required door 
supervisors for the protection of the public. The Licensing Authority will make a door supervision 
requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of trading at the premises that the 
premises cannot be adequately supervised from the counter and that door supervision is both 
necessary and proportionate.

(viii) Reviews: Interested parties or Responsible Authorities can make requests for a review of a 
Premises Licence; however, it is for the Licensing Authority to decide whether the review is to be 
carried-out.  This will be on the basis of whether the request for the review is relevant to the 
following matters:

 it is in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission
 it is in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
 it is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
 it is in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s  Gambling Policy Statement 

as well as consideration as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or would certainly not 
cause this authority to wish alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is substantially the 
same as previous representations or requests for review.

The Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of any reason that it 
thinks is appropriate.

(ix) Provisional Statements: The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

“As the Court has held in a 2008 case, operators can apply for a premises licence in respect of 
premises which have still to be constructed or altered, and licensing authorities are required to 
determine any such applications on their merits. Such cases should be considered in a two stage 
process; first, licensing authorities must decide whether, as a matter of substance after applying 
the principles in section 153 of the Act, the premises ought to be permitted to be used for 
gambling; second, in deciding whether or not to grant the application a licensing authority will need 
to consider if appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the situation that the premises 
are not yet in the state in which they ought to be before gambling takes place. An authority is 
entitled to decide that it is appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged 
to grant such a licence.” (7.61)

“If a provisional statement has been granted, the licensing authority is constrained in the matters it 
can consider when an application for a premise is made subsequently in relation to the same 
premises.  No further representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken 
into account unless they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.  In addition, the 
authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms different to those attached to the 
provisional statement) only by reference to matters:

(a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence stage; or
(b) which, in the authority’s opinion, reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances 
(c) Where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan and information 

submitted with the provisional statement application. This must be a substantial change to the 
plan and licensing authorities should discuss any concerns they have with the applicant 
before making a decision”. (11.7,11.8 and 11.9)



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 22

“A licensing authority must not have regard to whether or not a proposal by the applicant is likely to 
be permitted in accordance with planning or building law.” 

(x) Adult Gaming Centres (AGC):

“No-one under the age of 18 is permitted to enter an AGC.  Licensing authorities will wish to have 
particular regard to the location of an entry to AGC's to minimise the opportunities for children to 
gain access.  This may be of particular importance in areas where young people may be 
unsupervised and an AGC is in a complex, such as a shopping centre or airport.”

The Licensing Authority will have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons 
from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that 
there will be sufficient measures to, for example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the premises.

The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the licensing 
objectives. However appropriate measures/licence conditions may cover issues such as:

 Proof of age schemes;
 CCTV;
 Supervision of entrances/machine areas;
 Physical separation of areas;
 Location of entry;
 Notices/signage;
 Specific opening hours;
 Self-barring schemes;
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

This list is neither mandatory, nor exhaustive and is merely indicative of example measures. 

(xi) (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres:

Family Entertainment Centres are wholly or mainly used for having gaming machines available for 
use.

The Licensing Authority will have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons 
from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, for 
example, that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the 'adult only' gaming machine areas.

The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the licensing 
objectives however appropriate measures/licence conditions may cover issues such as:

 CCTV;
 Supervision of entrances;
 Physical separation of areas;
 Location of entry;
 Notices/signage;
 Specific opening hours;
 Self-barring schemes;
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare;
 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children on the 

premises.

This list is neither mandatory, nor exhaustive and is merely indicative of example measures.



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 23

The Licensing Authority will refer to the Gambling Commission’s website to see any conditions that 
apply to operator licences covering the way in which the area containing the category C machines 
should be delineated.  The Licensing Authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or 
default conditions applying to Premises Licences.
  
(xii) Tracks: Although there are currently no tracks within the Licensing Authority's area, for 
completeness of this Gambling Policy Statement, the Licensing Authority will have regard to: 

 “Only one premises licence may be issued for any particular premises at any time….There is 
one exception to this rule, namely a track (i.e. a horse race course, dog track or other premises 
where races or sporting events take place), which may be subject to more than one premises 
licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track…  The Act set out that 
there will be a main (betting premises) licence for the track, and in addition subsidiary premises 
licences for other gambling activities may be issued.  The normal limitations in terms of access 
by children and young persons will apply, although in relation to a premises licence in respect 
of a track, children and young persons will be permitted to enter track areas where facilities for 
betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place.  This is subject 
to the rule that children and young persons may not enter any areas where gaming machines 
(other than category D machines) are provided…In principle there is no reason why all types of 
gambling should not co-exist upon a track, but authorities will want to think about how a third 
licensing objective is delivered by the co-location of premises.  As with the granting of multiple 
licence in a single building, licensing authorities will need to ensure that entrances to each type 
of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not 
permitted to enter.” 

 “Premises licences in relation to tracks are unusual in that, because the track operator does not 
need to have an operating licence (although may have one), the premises licence will need to 
contain requirements on the premises licence holder about his responsibilities in relation to the 
proper conduct of betting.  The conduct of the betting on tracks will be regulated primarily 
through the operating licences that the persons offering betting on the track will need to hold 
(whether a general betting operating licence, or a pool betting operating licence). But the track 
operator will have a role to play in ensuring, for example, that the betting areas are properly 
administered, and licensing authorities will have an important role in regulating tracks, because 
of the particular rules surrounding on-course betting, and the sub-division of the track into 
different areas.” 

 “Special rules apply to applicants for a premises licence in relation to a track.  Most importantly, 
as noted above, the applicant need not hold an operating licence.  That is because, unless the 
occupier of the track wishes to offer pool betting (or general betting) facilities himself (for which 
he will need a licence), the betting that is provided upon the track will not be provided by him, 
but will be provided by other operators who come on-course.  Since those people will require 
the necessary operating licences, the Act allows the track operator to obtain a premises licence 
without also having to hold an operating licence.  This track premises licences (sic) then 
authorises anyone upon the premises with an operating licence to offer betting facilities.” 

 “The secondary aspect to this rule is that each individual operator who comes onto the track on 
race days does not need to hold a premises licence.  Instead, he will be covered by the 
umbrella of the premises licence held by the track operator.” 

The Licensing Authority will consider the location of gaming machines at tracks. There is no 
minimum age for players of category D gaming machines. The holder of any permit or Premises 
Licence has to comply with the codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission on the 
location of and access to gaming machines by children and young persons, and the separation 
from category C and B machines where those are also located on the same premises.



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 24

 “applications for track premises licences will need to demonstrate that, where the applicant 
holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use his entitlement to four gaming 
machines, these machines are located in areas from which children are excluded.”  

The Licensing Authority has the power under the Gambling Act 2005, to restrict the number of 
betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made available, by 
attaching a licence condition to a betting Premises Licence.  

 “In relation to betting premises away from tracks, the Commission is proposing that licensing 
authorities should take into account the size of the premises and the ability of staff to monitor 
the use of the machines by vulnerable people when determining the number of machines 
permitted.  Similar considerations apply in relation to tracks, where the potential space for 
such machines may be considerable, bringing with it significant problems in relation to the 
proliferation of such machines, the ability of track staff to supervise them if they are scattered 
around the track and the ability of the track operator to comply with the law and prevent 
children betting on the machine.  Licensing authorities will want to consider restricting the 
number and location of betting machines, in the light of the circumstances of each application 
for a track betting premises licence.”

 “In the Commission’s view, it would be preferable for all self-contained premises operated by 
off-course betting operators on track to be the subject of separate premises licences.  This 
would ensure that there was clarity between the respective responsibilities of the track operator 
and the off-course betting operator running a self-contained unit on the premises” 

 “Section 151 of the Act requires applicants for premises licences to submit plans for the 
premises.  To ensure that licensing authorities gain a proper understanding of what they are 
being asked to license the should, in their licensing policies, set out the information that they 
will require, which should include detailed plans for the racetrack itself and the area that will be 
used for temporary “on-course” betting facilities (often known as the “betting ring”) and in the 
case of dog tracks and horse racecourses fixed and mobile pool betting facilities operated by 
the Tote or track operator, as well as any  other proposed gambling facilities. 

 “…licensing authorities should attach a condition to track premises licences requiring the track 
operator to ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, or that 
other measures are taken to ensure that they are made available to the public.  For example, 
the rules could be printed in the race-card or made available in leaflet form from the track 
office.” 

(xiii) Casinos

Casinos and Competitive Bidding – The Licensing Authority is aware that where its area is 
enabled to grant a Premises Licence for a new style casino (i.e. regulations under Section 175 of 
the Gambling Act 2005) there are likely to be a number of operators which will want to run the 
casino.  In such situations, the Licensing authority will run a ‘competition’ under Schedule 9 of the 
Gambling Act 2005.  

Betting Machines in Casinos – The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

“Section 181 contains an express power for licensing authorities to restrict the number of betting 
machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made available by attaching a 
licence condition to a betting premises licence or to a casino premises licence (where betting is 
permitted in the casino).  When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the number of 
betting machines in particular premises, the licensing authority, amongst other things, should take 
into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available for person-to-
person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and 
young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable persons.” 

Credit: The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 25

“Section 177 does not prevent the licensee from permitting the installation of cash dispensers 
(ATMs) on the premises.  Such machines may accept credit cards (and debit cards) and the 
arrangement is subject to a requirement that the licensee has no other commercial connection in 
relation to gambling (aside from the agreement to site the machines) with the service-provider and 
does not profit from the arrangement, not make any payment in connection with the machines.  
Guidance on the further conditions that may apply in relation to such machines will be included in 
the next version of this guidance”

(xiv) Bingo - The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

“It is important that if children are allowed to enter premises licensed for bingo that they do not 
participate in gambling, other than on category D machines. Where category B3, B4 or C machines 
are available in premises to which children are admitted licensing authorities should ensure that:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the remainder of 
the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access other than through a 
designated entrance;

 only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located;
 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by staff of 

the operator or the licence holder; and
 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed notices 

indicating that access is prohibited to persons under 18 years.”

(xv) Temporary Use Notices: There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use 
Notices.  The Licensing Authority will decide what constitutes a ‘set of premises’ where Temporary 
Use Notices are received relating to the same building/site.

(xvi) Occasional Use Notices: - The Licensing Authority has very little discretion as regards these 
notices aside from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.  
The Licensing Authority will consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is 
permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.  

(xvii) Travelling Fairs: The Licensing Authority will decide whether, where category D machines 
and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for use at travelling 
fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary 
amusement at the fair is met and there is sufficient supervision of gaming machines in order to 
pursue the licensing objectives, i.e. the protection of children.

The Licensing Authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory definition 
of a travelling fair.

The 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair, is per calendar year, and applies 
to the piece of land on which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different 
travelling fairs occupying the land.  The Licensing Authority will work with its neighbouring licensing 
authorities to ensure that land which crosses shared boundaries is monitored so that the statutory 
limits are not exceeded.

(xviii) Betting Premises (Bookmakers): The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

Betting Machines – “Section 181 contains an express power for licensing authorities to restrict the 
number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made available 
by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises licence or to a casino premises licence 
(where betting is permitted in the casino).  When considering whether to impose a condition to 
restrict the number of betting machines in particular premises, the licensing authority, amongst 
other things, should take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions 



GAMBLING POLICY

Page 26

available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the 
machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by 
vulnerable persons.”

Credit -“Section 177 does not prevent the licensee from contracting a third-party to install cash 
dispensers (ATMs) on their premises, which may accept both credit and debit cards. Such an 
arrangement is subject to requirements that the premises licence holder has no other commercial 
connection in relation to gambling with the provider of the ATMs (aside from the agreement to site 
the machines), does not profit from the arrangement, and does not make any payment in 
connection with the machines. All premises licences also include a mandatory condition which 
requires that any ATM made available for use on the premises must be located in a place that 
requires any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling in order to do so.” (9.12)

Information Exchange: The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

 “As applicants for premises licences (except occupiers of tracks who do not propose to offer 
gambling themselves) will have to hold an operating licence from the Commission before the 
premises licence can be issued, licensing authorities will not need to investigate the suitability 
of the applicant.  If during the course of considering a premises licence application, or at any 
other tie, the licensing authority receives information that causes it to question the suitability of 
the applicant to hold an operating licence, these concerns should be brought to the attention of 
the Commission without delay” (5.10)”

 “Regulatory issues rising from the prevention of disorder are likely to focus almost exclusively 
on premises licensing, rather than on operating licences.  (Though if there are persistent or 
serious disorder problems that an operator could or should do more to prevent, the licensing 
authority should bring this to the attention of the Commission so that it can consider the 
continuing suitability of the operator to hold an operating licence.)” (5.13)

 “If it comes to the attention of licensing authorities that Alcohol-licensed premises or clubs or 
institutes are playing bingo during the course of a week which involves significant stakes and 
prizes and makes it possible that the £2,000 in seven days is being exceeded, authorities 
should inform the Commission.” (18.18)

GAMCARE:

(National Association for Gambling Care, Educational Resources and Training)

GamCare provides confidential counselling, advice and information for those affected by a 
gambling problem.

HELPLINE:  Speak to an adviser on Freephone 0808 8020 133, 8am to midnight, 7 days a 
week.

WEBSITE:  www.gamcare.org.uk

file:///C:/Users/jphilpott/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.IE5/5FNZGLYU/www.gamcare.org.uk


GAMBLING POLICY

Page 27

Appendix 3
Responsible Authorities Contact details:

Licensing Authority:

Dartford Borough Licensing Authority
Licensing Section
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
DA1 1DR
www.dartford.gov.uk
licensing@dartford.gov.uk
Tel: 01322 343024

Gambling Commission:

Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham
B2 4BP
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk
Tel: 0121 230 6500

HM Revenue & Customs;

Medvale House
Moat Road
Maidstone
Kent
ME15 6AE
www.gov.uk

Kent Fire & Rescue Service:

Fire Safety Office
Dartford Fire Station 
Watling Street
Dartford
DA2 6EG
Dartford.firesafety@kent.fire-uk.org
Tel: 01322 224229

Local Planning Authority:

Dartford Borough Licensing Authority
Planning Department
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
DA1 1DR
Planning.admin@dartford.gov.uk
Tel: 01322 343434

Environmental Protection/ H&S:

Dartford Borough Licensing Authority
Environmental Health
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
DA1 1DR
Environmental.admin@dartford.gov.uk
Tel: 01322 343434

Child Protection Service:

o social.services@kent.gov.uk
o Tel: 03000 411111

Chief Officer of Police for the area in which 
the premises is wholly or partially situated:

Police Licensing 
Medway Police Station
Purser Way
Gillingham
Kent
ME7 1NE
Licensing.north.division@kent.pnn.police.uk
Tel: 01634 792733

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:licensing@dartford.gov.uk
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/
http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/
mailto:Dartford.firesafety@kent.fire-uk.org
mailto:Planning.admin@dartford.gov.uk
mailto:Environmental.admin@dartford.gov.uk
mailto:social.services@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Licensing.north.division@kent.pnn.police.uk


GAMBLING POLICY

Page 28

Appendix 4

Summary of Licensing Authority’s delegations under the Gambling Act 2005

Matter to be dealt with Full Licensing 
Authority

Sub-Committee of 
licensing 

committee

Officers

Final approval of three year 
licensing policy X

Policy not to permit casinos X
Fee setting
(where appropriate)

X

Application for Premises 
Licences

Where 
representations have 

been received and 
not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 

received or 
representations have 

been withdrawn
Application for a variation 
to a licence

Where 
representations have 

been received and 
not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 

received or 
representations have 

been withdrawn
Application for a transfer of 
a licence

Where 
representations have 

been received 

Where no 
representations have 

been received 
Application for a 
provisional statement

Where 
representations have 

been received and 
not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 

received or 
representations have 

been withdrawn
Review of a Premises 
Licence

X

Application for a club 
gaming/club machine 
permits

Where objections 
have been made 

(and not withdrawn)

Where no objections 
made / objections 

withdrawn
Cancellation of a club 
gaming/club machine 
permits

X

Applications for other 
permits

X

Cancellation of a licensed 
premises gaming machines 
permits

X

Consideration of temporary 
use notice

X

Decision to give a counter 
notice to a temporary use 
notice

X



LICENSING COMMITTEE
26 SEPTEMBER 2018

REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE 
KNOWLEDGE TEST

1. Summary

1.1 To review Private Hire and Hackney Carriage drivers’ Knowledge Test and 
recommend accordingly.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the:
(a) Council continues the use of  computer based test;
(b) routes be reintroduced in the Knowledge Test information pack;
(c) pass mark be lowered by 2 points - 22/30 for Private Hire and 29/35 for Hackney 

Carriage.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Private Hire Operators within Dartford have requested that the knowledge 
test be reviewed as they are struggling to recruit new drivers.

3.2 The Operators advise that a number of the applicants who fail the knowledge 
test are being licensed by other authorities, without the stringent checks that 
applicants undertake before being licensed by Dartford Borough Council, but 
still picking up and dropping off within the Dartford area.

3.3 In April 2016, the Knowledge Test was changed from a written test to a 
computer-based test, to streamline the process and to make it more cost 
effective and efficient for prospective drivers. Under the old style, the test was 
held every three months. The computer-based test allows sittings every four 
weeks, making the process quicker for applicants

3.4 The routes were removed from the Knowledge Test information pack as the 
computer-based test is multiple choice and ensures that driver applicants have 
a full geographical knowledge of the Borough and not just the routes

3.5 During the period April 2015 to April 2016, 48 applicants sat the old style written 
test, which included learning all the routes. Of those 48, the following results 
were achieved:

HC 20 pass (74%) 7 fail (26%) Pass mark – 31/35

PH 9 pass (43%) 12 fail (57%) Pass mark – 24/30

3.6 During the period April 2016 to 05 September 2018, 166 driver applicants sat 
the new style computer based test. Of those 166, the following results were 
achieved:



LICENSING COMMITTEE
26 SEPTEMBER 2018

HC 22 pass (26%) 62 fail (74%) Pass mark – 31/35

PH 23 pass (28%) 59 fail (72%) Pass mark – 24/30

3.7 This shows that the pass rate of the applicants sitting the computer-based test 
has considerably reduced.

3.8 With reference to the above test results, had the pass mark been lowered by 2 
points, 32 (39%) Hackney Carriage applicants and 35 (42%) Private Hire 
applicants would have passed the knowledge test. 

3.9 The recommendation to reduce the pass mark by 2 points, will not have a 
detrimental effect on the high standards of the Private Hire and Hackney 
carriage trade but it will ensure that drivers working within the Borough continue 
to undergo all the safety checks required to be a driver within Dartford, 
including the Safe Guarding, Prevent and Policy training. 

3.10 The recommendation is to continue with computer-based test but to reintroduce 
the routes into the Knowledge Test pack and to lower the pass mark to 22/30 
for Private Hire and 29/35 for Hackney Carriage. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
 
The licensing function supports the Safer Communities theme of the Corporate 
Plan, specifically, strategic objective SC1: To use the Council’s statutory functions 
to increase public safety in the Borough.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications As detailed in the body of the report
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

05.09.18 Joanne Philpott Licensing N/A



LICENSING COMMITTEE
26 SEPTEMBER 2018

REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING 
ORDER 38: GAMING MACHINES AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
CONSULTATION

1. Summary

1.1 To report to the Licensing Committee, in accordance with the requirements of 
Standing Order 38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under Standing Order 
38(2)(a) by the Strategic Director (External Services), in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Licensing Committee, to submit a response to the 
Government Consultation on changes to Gaming Machines and Social 
Responsibility measures by the 21 January 2018 deadline. Urgent action was 
required in order to submit a response by the deadline given that no meeting 
of the Licensing Committee was scheduled during the timeframe for the 
consultation.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee notes the action taken by the Strategic Director (External 
Services), in consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee, 
under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in relation to submitting a response to the 
Government Consultation on changes to Gaming Machines and Social 
Responsibility measures by the 21 January 2018 deadline.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Standing Order 38 concerns the delegation of urgent and routine 
matters.  Standing Order 38(2)(a) provides for the delegation to each 
member of the Management Team the authority to act in respect of any 
function of the Cabinet, a Committee, Board or Panel which in his/her 
opinion is either urgent or of a routine nature, subject however to 
members of the Management Team first consulting with the Chairman 
or Vice-Chairman of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or Panel 
responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of Reference.  
Standing Order 38(2)(b) requires that a report of the action taken, 
including a note of the circumstances which made it necessary, must be 
made to the next meeting of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or Panel 
responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of Reference.

3.2. The Committee is asked to note the actions of the Strategic Director 
(External Services), as specified in Appendix A, taken under delegated 
authority and in consultation with the Chairman, in relation to submitting 
a response to the Government Consultation on changes to Gaming 
Machines and Social Responsibility measures by the 21 January 2018 
deadline.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.



LICENSING COMMITTEE
26 SEPTEMBER 2018

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – The report relating to the Gaming Machines and Social 
Responsibility consultation.

Appendix B – Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters Standing 
Order 38 form.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Twyman
(01322) 343330

Democratic 
Services/
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



LICENSING COMMITTEE
UNDER SO 38 – DELEGATED AUTHORITY

Appendix A

GAMING MACHINES AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
CONSULTATION

1. Summary

1.1 To respond to the consultation on the Government review of gaming machines 
and social responsibility.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Licensing Committee endorses the response to the Government’s 
gaming machine and social responsibility review, as set in Appendix B to the 
report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Ten years on from the implementation of the Gambling Act 2005, the 
gambling industry has evolved significantly, with the growth of the 
gaming machine market, increases in gambling advertising and a 
significant shift towards online gambling. While headline rates of 
problem gambling and at risk rates have been relatively stable in this 
time, the latest statistics show an increase in problem gambling rates 
from 0.6% of the population in 2012 to 0.8% of the population in 
2015. Around a further 2 million people were identified as being at 
risk of problem gambling.

3.2. There is concern about the potential harm being caused to 
vulnerable people which would not be reflected in headline problem 
gambling rates. Gambling-related harm goes wider than the harm 
experienced by those identified as problem gamblers and also 
affects families of gamblers, their employers, communities and 
society more widely.

3.3. The Government is consulting on regulatory changes to the following 
areas:
 Maximum stakes and prizes for all categories of gaming 

machines permitted under the Gambling Act 2005;
 Gaming machine allocations;
 Social responsibility measures for the industry as a whole to 

minimise the risk of gambling-related harm, including but not 
limited to gaming machines.

3.4. This is a public consultation welcoming views from all parties with an 
interest in the way that gambling is regulated in Great Britain. The 
consultation period will run for 12 weeks from the 31/10/2017 and 
the full consultation document is set out in Appendix A.



LICENSING COMMITTEE
UNDER SO 38 – DELEGATED AUTHORITY

Appendix A

3.5. The Licensing Authority’s response to the consultation questions is 
detailed in Appendix B to the report and is recommended for 
endorsement.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not Applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications As set out in the body of the report

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – DCMS Consultation Paper
Appendix B – Licensing Authority’s Response to the Consultation 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Joanne Philpott - 
Senior Licensing 
Officer
(01322) 343024

Licensing - 
Strategic

N/A



 

 
 

Consultation  on proposals for changes to 
Gaming Machines  and Social 
Responsibility  Measures 
 
 
October 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

1 

Appendix A



Contents 
 
Ministerial Foreword……………………………………………………………………….. 3 
 
Executive Summary……………………………………………………………………….. 5 
 
Chapter 1: Introduction............................................................................................... 6  
 
Chapter 2: B2 gaming machines (Fixed Odds Betting Terminals).............................. 9 
 
Chapter 3: Stakes and prizes on other gaming machines ..……………...……....…. 16 
 
Chapter 4: Gaming machine allocations……............................................................ 24  
 
Chapter 5: Social responsibility measures……………………………………………... 30 
 

i.)  Player protections on gaming machines……………………………………. 30 
 

ii.) Online gambling……………………………………………………………….. 33 
 

iii.) Gambling advertising…………………………………………………………. 40 
 
iv.) Research, education and treatment (RET) for gambling-related harm…. 51 

 
Chapter 6: Local Authorities……………………………………………………………..  56 
 
Chapter 7: Summary of questions………………………………………………………. 58 
 
Appendix A: Gaming machine summary 
Appendix B: List of respondents to the call for evidence 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 



Ministerial Foreword 
 
The Government wants a healthy gambling industry that 
responsibly generates investment and employment. For 
millions of people gambling is a leisure activity and to 
support the industry, the Gambling Act 2005 permitted 
licensed gambling to be offered and advertised within a 
well regulated framework. This Act created a strong 
independent regulator, the Gambling Commission, whose 
job it is to keep gambling free of crime, ensure it is fair and 

open, and protect children and vulnerable people from harm or exploitation. 
 
The Act was implemented under the Labour government 10 years ago.  In that time, 
we have seen significant changes to the market, to public perceptions of gambling, 
and to our understanding of harm across the gambling landscape.  
 
Upon announcing this review we set out that the objective is to look across the 
industry and determine what, if any, changes are needed to strike the right balance 
between socially responsible growth and the protection of consumers and the 
communities they live in.  This Government is determined to address this balance, to 
step up and act to ensure that appropriate measures are in place to protect the 
vulnerable people that are exposed by the current weaknesses in protections. 
 
I am clear that our approach should not just be about tackling headline problem 
gambling rates, but about managing the risk of gambling-related harm to the player 
and more widely to families, friends, employers and neighbourhoods.  With this in 
mind, this consultation brings forward a package of proposals which responds to 
strong evidence and public concerns about the risks of high stakes gambling on the 
high street, with the aim of enhancing player protections on gambling machines that 
enable high rates of loss in short periods of time. 
 
While some parts of the industry have put forward proposals to raise stake and prize 
limits, increase the number of machines, or bring new products to the market, I am 
not minded to bring forward significant changes at this time. While the Government 
welcomes ideas for socially responsible growth, any proposals must be backed up 
with clear evidence of adequate player protections and effective risk management 
strategies.  
 
I am also aware of the significant growth in online gambling in recent years, which 
now accounts for 44% of the commercial gambling sector, with 10% of adults across 
Great Britain now participating in online gambling.  The Government considers that 
more needs to be done to promote responsible play and protect consumers in this 
sector.  The Gambling Commission is examining the online sector and encouraging 
operators to increase action to identify harmful play, design and pilot better 
interventions and put in place measures that work. We want to see the online sector 
fully engage with these objectives and this programme of work.  In the meantime, we 
are strengthening existing protections relating to online gambling and outlining a 

3 



package of measures on gambling advertising to minimise the risk to the most 
vulnerable. 
 
While the outcome of this review will be better protections for players, we also want 
to take this opportunity to think carefully about how to ensure that those who are 
experiencing gambling-related harm receive the help they need. We want to see 
industry and others step up to meet this challenge, with the support of the 
Government where needed, to transform the way those with addiction or harmful 
behaviours are supported. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you on this important consultation, and I look forward 
to working with all interested parties to achieve our objective of a safe and 
sustainable industry. 
 

 
TRACEY CROUCH MP  
Minister for Sport and Civil Society  
Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport  
October 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 



Executive Summary 
 
The Government announced a review of gaming machines and social responsibility 
measures in October 2016. The objective of the review was to ensure we have the 
right balance between a sector that can grow and contribute to the economy, and 
one that is socially responsible and doing all it should to protect consumers and 
communities, including those who are just about managing. We received 275 
responses to the call for evidence and the submissions received have helped to 
inform our preferred proposals outlined below in regards to stakes and prizes on 
gaming machines, the availability of gaming machines and the wider social 
responsibility agenda.  The responses to the call for evidence (with the exception of 
responses from the general public) have also been published alongside this 
consultation so that respondents can see the evidence that we have drawn on in 
developing these proposals. The main proposals put forward in the consultation are 
as follows: 
 
 

1. We believe that the current regulation of B2 gaming machines is 
inappropriate to achieve our stated objective.  We are therefore consulting on 
regulatory changes to the maximum stake, looking at options between £50 
and £2, in order to reduce the potential for large session losses and therefore 
to potentially harmful impacts on players and their wider communities.  

 
2. While the industry proposes increases to the remaining stakes and prizes, 

permitted numbers and allocations across other categories of machine 
(B1, B3, B3A, B4, C and D gaming machines), we believe retention of the 
current regulatory environment will better protect players from potential harm 
than industry’s proposed increases.  

 
3. We are aware that the factors which influence the extent of harm to the player 

are wider than one product, or a limited set of parameters such as stakes and 
prizes. These include factors around the player, the environment and the 
product.   We are therefore also consulting on corresponding social 
responsibility measures across gaming machines that enable high rates 
of loss, on player protections in the online sector, on a package of 
measures on gambling advertising and on current arrangements for the 
delivery of research, education and treatment (RET).  Within this package, 
we want to see industry, regulator and charities continue to drive the social 
responsibility agenda, to ensure that all is being done to protect players 
without the need for further Government intervention, and that those in trouble 
can access the treatment and support they need.  

 
  

5 



1. Chapter One: Introduction 
 

1.1. Ten years on from the implementation of the Gambling Act 2005, the 
gambling industry has evolved significantly, with the growth of the 
gaming machine market, increases in gambling advertising and a 
significant shift towards online gambling.  While headline rates of 
problem gambling and at risk rates have been relatively stable in this 
time, the latest statistics show an increase in problem gambling rates 
from 0.6% of the population in 2012 to 0.8% of the population in 2015. 
Around a further 2 million people were identified as being at risk of 
problem gambling.  1

 
1.2. The Government is also concerned about the potential harm being 

caused to vulnerable people which would not be reflected in headline 
problem gambling rates.  Gambling-related harm goes wider than the 
harm experienced by those identified as problem gamblers and also 
affects families of gamblers, their employers, communities and society 
more widely. 

 
1.3. On 24 October 2016 the Government launched a review of gaming 

machines and social responsibility measures which began with a call 
for evidence.  The Government’s objective in initiating this review was 
to ensure we have the right balance between a sector that can grow 
and contribute to the economy, while also ensuring it is socially 
responsible and doing all it should to protect consumers and 
communities, including those who are just about managing. 

 
1.4. The call for evidence sought evidence-based proposals on: 
 

● Maximum stakes and prizes for all categories of gaming 
machines permitted under the Gambling Act 2005;  

● Allocations of gaming machines permitted in all licensed 
premises under the Gambling Act 2005;  

● Social responsibility measures for the industry as a whole to 
minimise the risk of gambling-related harm, including but not 
limited to gaming machines.  

  
1.5. 275 responses were received from: 

 
● Gambling industry 
● Local Authorities 
● Parliamentarians 
● Faith Groups 
● Charities 
● Members of the public 

1http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-2015.
pdf  

6 

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-2015.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-2015.pdf


● Think-tanks/Academics 
 

1.6. A full list of respondents is set out in Appendix B and related 
submissions received during the call for evidence will be published on 
the gov.uk website. 

 
Next steps 

 
1.7. The government is now bringing forward proposals across all strands 

of the review which we will consult on for 12 weeks.  An Impact 
Assessment containing a cost/benefit analysis of the proposals has 
been published alongside this document.  

 
1.8. This is a public consultation in which we welcome views from all parties 

with an interest in the way that gambling is regulated in Great Britain. 
The consultation period will run from 31/10/2017 to 23/01/2018 and 
there is a summary of the questions in chapter 7. You can respond to 
this consultation using our online survey.  

 
1.9. In addition, if you have any evidence to support your position then 

please send this to gamblingreviewconsultation2017@culture.gov.uk. 
By evidence, we are not seeking opinions, but published research, data 
or supporting analysis.  

 
1.10. Gambling is devolved in Northern Ireland, but substantially reserved in 

Scotland and Wales. However, as of 23 May 2016, the Scottish 
Parliament and Scottish Ministers have the power to vary the number 
of high-staking gaming machines  authorised by a new betting 2

premises licence in Scotland.  Under the Wales Act 2017, identical 
powers were transferred to the Welsh Ministers and the National 
Assembly for Wales.  We are committed to protecting the devolution 
settlements and will continue to work constructively with devolved 
administrations going forward. 

 
1.11. This consultation is intended to be an entirely written exercise. Please 

contact the gambling and lotteries team if you require any other format 
e.g. Braille, Large Font or Audio.  For enquiries about the handling of 
this consultation, please contact the DCMS Correspondence Team, 
heading your communication “Consultation on proposals for changes to 
Gaming Machines and Social Responsibility Measures”.  

 
1.12. Copies of responses (with the exception of responses from the general 

public) will be published after the consultation closing date on the 
Department’s website: www.gov.uk/culture. Information provided in 
response to this consultation, including personal information and any 
additional evidence supplied, may also be published or disclosed in 

2 Defined in the Scotland Act as gaming machines for which it is possible to stake more than £10 in respect of a 
single game; at present, this is possible only with sub-category B2 gaming machines.  

7 

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/3XGGFP7
mailto:gamblingreview2017@culture.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/culture


accordance with the access to information regimes (these are primarily 
the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (“FOIA”), the Data Protection Act 
1998 (“DPA”) and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004).  

 
1.13. Please notify us if any aspect of your response should be considered 

confidential.  We also intend to share responses with the Gambling 
Commission, please inform us if you do not consent to this.  If you want 
the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be 
aware that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code of Practice with 
which public authorities must comply and which deals, amongst other 
things, with obligations of confidence.  In view of this, it would be 
helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you 
have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of 
the information, we will take full account of your explanation, but we 
cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be maintained in all 
circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by 
your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the 
department. The department will process your personal data in 
accordance with the DPA, and in the majority of circumstances, this will 
mean that your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8 



2. Chapter Two: B2 gaming machines (Fixed-Odds 
Betting Terminals) 

 
Overview of findings 
 

2.1. As outlined in the call for evidence, gaming machines are divided into 
categories depending on the maximum stake and prize available, the 
nature of the prizes and the nature of gambling for which the machine 
may be used, as well as the premises where they can be provided (see 
Appendix A). Certain categories of machines are limited to fewer types 
of gambling premises, for example, sub-category B1 machines are only 
permitted in casinos, while B2 machines are permitted in casinos and 
bookmakers. The call for evidence generated a substantive proportion 
of submissions regarding B2 machines, more commonly referred to as 
Fixed-Odd Betting Terminals (FOBTs); this chapter therefore 
addresses these machines independently of the other categories.  

 
2.2. In response to the call for evidence, there was widespread support for 

a reduction in stake limits for B2 machines to £2. This is supported by 
the Local Government Association (LGA) and by 93 local authorities 
(LAs) across England and Wales from across all political parties 
(although we only received 27 submissions to the call for evidence 
from LAs, 93 LAs supported a Sustainable Communities Act 
submission in 2015 calling for a reduction to £2).  This is also 
supported by a variety of campaign groups, charities and faith groups 
(those publicly supporting this proposal include the Church of England, 
Methodist Church and Quaker Foundation). In addition we received a 
submission from the All-Party Parliamentary Group on FOBTs which is 
calling for a reduction to £2 and a petition from the campaign group, 38 
degrees, with over 100,000 signatories calling for a “crackdown on 
addictive betting machines and adverts” and “limits on how much 
people can gamble on betting machines in one go.” 

 
2.3. The main arguments referenced in these responses focused on the 

disparity between the maximum stakes on B2 machines of £100 and 
the maximum stake on other gaming machines in accessible locations 
of only £2.  Respondents argued that the £100 maximum stake was 
linked to gambling-related harm, wider harm to communities, and in 
some instances, anti-social behaviour.  
 

2.4. As part of the call for evidence, the betting sector, represented by the 
Association of British Bookmakers (ABB), did not seek an increase in 
either stake or prize limits across the gaming machine categories 
permitted in betting shops but has argued for the need to maintain the 
status quo, specifically on B2 machines. Gaming machine suppliers, 
Inspired Gaming and Scientific Games, also submitted evidence in 
support of the status quo on B2 machines. The ABB argued that 

9 



income from B2 machines has become increasingly important to 
maintaining the viability of many high street betting shops. In addition, 
the ABB stated that there is no correlation between the increased 
number of B2 machines over time and levels of at-risk and problem 
gambling during the same period, and that B2 machines do not cause 
increased harm to problem gamblers. They also argue that session 
losses and potential harm are not just about stake, but about the 
interplay between stake, spin speed and the return to player ratio. 

 
2.5. The Government acknowledges that B2 machines are important to the 

economic viability of many betting shops which currently employ 
around 53,000 people nationally. However, we cannot ignore the 
evidence put forward as part of the call for evidence to support action, 
or the persistent concerns from many stakeholders and local 
communities about these types of gaming machines and their potential 
impact on players and wider communities. 

 
2.6. Based on the evidence we received, we do acknowledge and welcome 

the shift in attitudes within industry on the social responsibility agenda. 
However, we have concerns that (i) the bookmaking sector, and indeed 
the wider industry, has provided little evidence that self-regulatory 
measures introduced since 2013 have made any significant impact on 
the rates of problem gambling, or on the degree of harm experienced 
by individuals;  (ii) measures taken to date do nothing to counter the 3

wider social impact and the potential amplification of harm for those 
living in the most deprived communities; (iii) it is not clear whether 
previous regulatory action in this area, in the form of the £50 staking 
regulations, has had a measurable impact on harm. The Government 
evaluation of this measure found that there was a drop in stakes above 
£50, but an increase in stakes between £40-50.  4

 
2.7. We therefore remain concerned about the current regulation of this 

sub-category of machine in terms of the impact on players and their 
wider communities. There are still large numbers of higher-staking 
machines in accessible locations, often in more deprived areas, where 
it is possible to lose a large amount of money very quickly.  

 
2.8. We acknowledge that headline problem gambling rates have remained 

statistically stable since the introduction of B2 machines as well as 
before this point.  However, headline problem gambling rates may not 
be significantly affected by a single form of gambling,  and an 5

over-reliance on this single metric may mask widespread harm caused 
to those who are most vulnerable.  We are concerned that there remain 
consistently high rates of prevalence of problem gamblers among 

3 https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1167/abb-early-impact-report-final-report.pdf & 
https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1335/pas-evaluation_final-report_13102016.pdf  
4https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/493714/Evaluation_of_Gaming_M
achine__Circumstances_of_Use___Amendment__Regulations_2015.pdf  
5 Participation rate on B2 gaming machines is approximately 1.5% of the adult population. 

10 

https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1167/abb-early-impact-report-final-report.pdf
https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1335/pas-evaluation_final-report_13102016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/493714/Evaluation_of_Gaming_Machine__Circumstances_of_Use___Amendment__Regulations_2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/493714/Evaluation_of_Gaming_Machine__Circumstances_of_Use___Amendment__Regulations_2015.pdf


machine players in betting shops (11.5% of players are problem 
gamblers and a further 32% are considered at risk of harm),  that a 6

high proportion of gross expenditure on machines in betting shops is 
attributed to problem gamblers;  and that a high proportion of the 7

number of problem gamblers who present for treatment identify 
machines in betting shops as their main form of gambling.   8

 
2.9. In regards to the specific issue of stake size, we know from industry 

data, published by the Gambling Commission, that the high-staking 
nature of B2 machines that offer a maximum stake of up to £100 can 
lead to significant losses in a short space of time.  In comparison to 
other gaming machines, B2 machines generate a greater proportion 
and volume of large-scale losses (for example, more than £500 in a 
session).  The same industry data, published by the Gambling 9

Commission, also found that losses are larger and sessions longer for 
those who bet at the maximum stake than those who play at a lower 
level.    The amount of money lost in a session and length of sessions 10

are good proxies for gambling-related harm, and such losses might be 
harmful even to those who would not be defined by a survey screen as 
problem gamblers. In addition, research published by GambleAware, 
while making clear that gambling-related harm is not necessarily about 
one product in one environment, also stressed that problem gamblers 
are disproportionately found at higher stakes and are more frequent 
users of the maximum stake.   11

 
2.10. We are particularly concerned that the above factors are amplified by 

the concentration of betting shops (and therefore B2 machines) in 
areas of high deprivation. The same package of GambleAware 
research found that areas containing a high density of machines tend 
to have greater levels of income deprivation and more economically 
inactive residents ; players of B2 machines also tend to live in areas 12

with greater levels of income deprivation than the population average; 
and alongside problem gamblers, those who are unemployed are more 
likely to use the maximum stake more often than any other 
socio-economic group.  13

 
 

6 Health survey for England and Scotland 2012 showed that problem gambling rate was 7.2% rate amongst 
machine players in LBOs (of which B2s are the predominant machine).  NatCen data for England, Scotland and 
Wales for 2015 showed that this figure had increased to 11.5% though this change was not considered 
statistically significant. 
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-2015.pdf  
7 http://about.gambleaware.org/media/1259/natcen-secondary-analysis-of-loyalty-card-survey-final.pdf p.6 
8 http://www.gamcare.org.uk/publications/annual-reviews-and-statistics  
9http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-g
ambling-review.aspx  
10 Ibid 
11 http://about.gambleaware.org/media/1259/natcen-secondary-analysis-of-loyalty-card-survey-final.pdf  
12 Contextualising machine gambling characteristics by location - final report - A spatial investigation of machines 
in bookmakers using industry data, Geofutures, 2015 
13 https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1259/natcen-secondary-analysis-of-loyalty-card-survey-final.pdf  

11 

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-2015.pdf
http://about.gambleaware.org/media/1259/natcen-secondary-analysis-of-loyalty-card-survey-final.pdf
http://www.gamcare.org.uk/publications/annual-reviews-and-statistics
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://about.gambleaware.org/media/1259/natcen-secondary-analysis-of-loyalty-card-survey-final.pdf
https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1259/natcen-secondary-analysis-of-loyalty-card-survey-final.pdf


Policy options for consultation 
 

2.11. Taken together, we think that the weight of evidence set out above 
justifies government action on B2 machines, but we acknowledge that 
there is limited evidence to inform exactly at what level the revised 
maximum stake should be.  In outlining options for consultation, we are 
seeking to balance the potential impact on the economy and leisure 
gamblers against the need to reduce gambling related harm.  For each 
option we outline staking patterns which set out the proportion of 
sessions which include certain stake levels, the spread of problem or 
at-risk gamblers at each staking level, and the relationship between 
high-level session losses (>£500), as a proxy for harm, and staking 
levels. 

 
2.12. These are illustrative options, and in practice, subject to views at 

consultation, the maximum stake could be changed to levels other than 
the ones set out, and could also be accompanied by corresponding 
measures to improve player protections on these machines. 

 
2.13. B2 machines offer a variety of games to players which we describe 

here as slots or non-slots.  By slots, we are referring to a game which is 
mechanical or virtual in nature and which uses spinning reels, discs or 
other representations of moving or changing symbols.  By non-slots we 
are referring to virtual games of the type played in casinos, primarily 
roulette, and other virtual sporting events such as horse and dog 
tracks.  

 
2.14. The most popular non-slot game on a B2 machine is electronic roulette 

(approx 62.8% of the total Gross Gambling Yield (GGY)  of £1.8bn 14

attributed to B2 machines is non-slots, the majority of which is 
accounted for by roulette).  B2 slot games make up 6.5% of the total 
GGY and the remaining 30.7% is made up of B3, B4 and C slot content 
(majority B3) which are also available on the same terminal in Licensed 
Betting Offices (LBOs).  The options set out below are designed to take 
into account the differences in content as well as the way in which 
players play the different games.  For example, with regard to B2 slots, 
industry data provided to the Gambling Commission  during the call for 15

evidence highlighted that there were a higher proportion of sessions 
with higher losses playing B2 slots than playing B2 roulette (see figure 
1).  Taking session losses as a proxy for potential harm, we think there 
are grounds for a greater reduction of the maximum stake for this type 
of game.  

 
 
 
 

14 GGY is defined as the amount retained by operators after the payment of winnings but before the deduction of 
the costs of the operation (e.g. fees and betting and gaming duty). 
15  Ibid 

12 



 
Figure 1. Session losses on B2 gaming machines in LBOs (source: Gambling Commission) 
 

 
Consumer loss                Consumer win 

 
2.15. We are also aware that large session losses, and therefore potential 

harm, can be influenced by a combination of factors including stake 
size, spin speed and the return to player ratio (i.e. the minimum guide 
over time at which the machine pays out to players).  We therefore 
think that options around maximum stake could be combined with 
corresponding measures aimed at other contributing factors to harm on 
machines, including the tracking and monitoring of play, spin speed 
and nudge type measures to improve player control.  We also think 
there is a case for the introduction of similar measures on other gaming 
machines, such as category B1 and B3 machines (more detail in 
chapter 5): 

 
2.15.1. We think that the tracking and monitoring of play has the 

potential to better inform policy decisions in regards to gaming 
machines as well as provide for more targeted interventions for 
problem gamblers on machines.  We have requested more 
advice on this issue from the Gambling Commission. 

2.15.2. Spin speed is another factor, alongside stake size, which can 
determine the amount that a player can lose in a given session. 
Currently the Gambling Commission’s technical standards set 
the spin speed at 20 seconds on a B2 machine. This could be 
flexed on roulette content, for example, to better reflect roulette 
in a casino which has a spin speed of over a minute.  

13 



2.15.3. Finally, nudge-type measures would be aimed at giving players 
more control over the way in which they play the machines, and 
would include tools such as time and spend limits, with hard 
stops when limits are met. 

 
2.16. A comprehensive cost/benefit analysis of all options is set out in the 

Impact Assessment published alongside this document. 
 

Option 1 - Maximum stake reduced to £50 on all B2 content 
 

2.17. In April 2015 the previous Government introduced measures on B2 
machines to limit stakes to £50 for players that did not play through an 
account card or seek approval for stakes above £50 with staff in LBOs. 
This resulted in a large shift towards plays below £50.  Under this 
option we could bar any play above £50 by bringing the maximum 
stake down to £50. This option therefore represents a minimal change 
to the status quo.  We note the following points on this option: 

 
● There is minimal play above £50 with approximately 99% of 

sessions ending with an average stake up to £50.  16

● At or above £50, 46% of players were identified as problem 
gamblers and 41% were at risk of harm. 13% were categorised 
as neither problem nor moderate/low risk gamblers.  17

● Of the sessions on B2 (non-slots) which ended with losses to 
the player greater than £500, approximately 73% of these 
sessions involved an average stake of £50 or less.  

 
Option 2 - Maximum stake reduced to £30 on all B2 content 
 

2.18. We note the following points on this option:  
 

● Approximately 90% of sessions end with an average stake up to 
£30.  18

● At or above £30, 42% of players were identified as problem 
gamblers and 42% were at risk of harm. 16% were categorised 
as neither problem nor moderate/low risk gamblers.  19

● Of the sessions on B2 (non-slots) which ended with losses to 
the player greater than £500, approximately 17% of these 
sessions involved an average stake of up to £30.  20

 
 

16http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-
gambling-review.aspx  
17  RGSB advice in relation to DCMS review - http://www.rgsb.org.uk/Publications/Publications.aspx  
18http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-
gambling-review.aspx - These are average stakes per session, not the single maximum stake per session so 
more players will be affected in practice than the percentages shown here. 
19  RGSB advice in relation to DCMS review - http://www.rgsb.org.uk/Publications/Publications.aspx  
20http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-
gambling-review.aspx  

14 

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.rgsb.org.uk/Publications/Publications.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.rgsb.org.uk/Publications/Publications.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx


 
Option 3 - Maximum stake reduced to £20 on B2 non-slots and £2 on B2 slots  

 
2.19. We note the following points on this option:  

 
● Approximately 82% of sessions end with an average stake up to 

£20.   In addition, we know that the average stake is also 21

around £20. 
● At or above £20, 42% of players were identified as problem 

gamblers and 44% were at risk of harm. 13% were categorised 
as neither problem nor moderate/low risk gamblers.   22

● Of the sessions on B2 (non-slots) which ended with losses to 
the player greater than £500, approximately 6% of these 
sessions involved an average stake of up to £20.   23

 
Option 4 - Maximum stake reduced to £2 on all B2 content 
 

2.20. We note the following points on this option: 
 

● Approximately 17% of sessions end with an average stake up to 
£2.  24

● At £2 or below, 19% of players were identified as problem 
gamblers and 49% were at risk of harm.  32% were categorised 
as neither problem nor moderate/low risk gamblers.  25

● Of the sessions on B2 (non slots) which ended with losses to the 
player greater than £500, approximately 0.001% of these 
sessions involved an average stake of £2 or less.   26

 
Q1. Do you agree that the maximum stake of £100 on B2 machines (FOBTs) 
should be reduced?  
 
If yes, what alternative maximum stake for B2 machines (FOBTs) do you support?  
 
If you have any evidence to support your position then please send to 
gamblingreviewconsultation2017@culture.gov.uk.  When sending in evidence 
please provide your name and email address so that we may contact you. By 
evidence, we are referring to published research, data or supporting analysis. 

 
 

21http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-
gambling-review.aspx  
22  RGSB advice in relation to DCMS review - http://www.rgsb.org.uk/Publications/Publications.aspx  
23http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-
gambling-review.aspx  
24http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-
gambling-review.aspx  
25  RGSB advice in relation to DCMS review - http://www.rgsb.org.uk/Publications/Publications.aspx  
26http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-
gambling-review.aspx  

15 

mailto:gamblingreview2017@culture.gov.uk
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.rgsb.org.uk/Publications/Publications.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.rgsb.org.uk/Publications/Publications.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx


3. Chapter Three: Stakes and prizes on other 
gaming machines  

 
Overview of findings 
 

3.1. As part of the call for evidence, the Government requested 
evidence-based proposals on maximum stakes and prizes for all 
categories of gaming machines permitted under the Gambling Act 
2005.  Following analysis of these submissions and the evidence 
provided in support of these proposals, the Government has put 
together two options for consultation on stakes and prizes:  

 
● Industry proposals 
● Government’s preferred options  

 
3.2. The following section summarises the Government’s considerations 

around these packages and the rationale underpinning its preferred 
options for each gaming machine category. More detail of these 
considerations and a comprehensive cost/benefit analysis is set out in 
the Impact Assessment published alongside this document. 

 
Proposals from industry 

 
3.3. The following table summarises industry proposals received as part of 

the call for evidence on stakes and prizes.  Analysis of these options is 
set out below: 

 
Table 1. Industry proposals on stakes and prizes 

Machine 
Category 

Speed of 
play 

Current Max 
Stake 

Current Max 
Prize 

Ind proposed 
Stake 

Ind proposed 
Prize 

B1 2.5 seconds £5 £10,000 No change No change 

B1 
progressive 
jackpot 

2.5 seconds As for B1 £20,000 No change £100,000 

B3 2.5 seconds £2 £500 £2.50 No change 

B3A 2.5 seconds £2 £500 No change No change 

B4 2.5 seconds £2 £400 No change No change 

C 2.5 seconds £1 £100 £2 £150 

D non-money 
prize (other 
than crane 
grab machine) 

n/a 30p £8 50p £10 

16 



D non-money 
prize (crane 
grab machine) 

n/a £1 £50 £2 £75 

D money prize n/a 10p £5 20p £8 

D combined 
money and 
non-money 
prize (other 
than coin 
pusher or 
penny falls 
machines) 

n/a 10p £8 (of which 
no more than 
£5 may be a 
money prize) 

20p £10 (of which 
no more than 
£8 may be 
money prize) 

D combined 
money and 
non-money 
prize (coin 
pusher or 
penny falls 
machine) 

n/a 20p £20 (of which 
no more than 
£10 may be a 
money prize) 

25p £22 (of which 
no more than 
£12 may be a 
money prize) 

 
Category B1 (primary markets affected: casinos, manufacture and supply) 
 

3.4. The National Casino Forum (NCF), representing the land-based casino 
sector, requested that the maximum progressive (linked machine) B1 
jackpot be raised to £100,000 (currently £20,000).  They also asked 
that machines be permitted to be linked between casino premises, 
rather than within a single premises as at present, to enable this to be 
viable.  

 
3.5. The NCF argue that progressive jackpots of this nature are well 

established in casino jurisdictions internationally, usually with higher 
prizes, and that the average stake per game in 2016 on progressive 
linked machines and non-progressive machines in UK casinos was the 
same, 90p.  

 
3.6. The sector also asked for an amendment to the Gaming Machine 

(Circumstances of Use) Regulations 2007, increasing the amount 
which can be deposited and transferred between the bank and play 
meters on a B1 from £20 to £50.  

 
Category B3 (primary markets affected: arcades, betting, bingo, casinos, 
manufacture and supply)  

 
3.7. Category B3 machines continue to be the fastest growing gaming 

machine in the market in terms of numbers and GGY.  Due to the 
availability of B3 content on gaming machines in Licensed Betting 
Offices (LBOs), this type of gaming machine is actually available on 
almost 56,000 machines across the casino, betting, arcade and bingo 
sectors. 

17 



 
3.8. Across all sectors, they now account for approximately £878m  in 27

gaming machine GGY (with a 23% increase since 2013/14).  B3s 
received an uplift in maximum stake from £1 to £2 in 2011.  

 
3.9. As outlined above, category B3 gaming machine content is available in 

a number of different gambling premises.  Only the arcade sector 
(Adult Gaming Centres and Family Entertainment Centres), 
represented by the British Amusement Catering Trade Association 
(BACTA), has proposed an increase in the maximum stake limit from 
£2 to £2.50 on the basis that this would provide an economic stimulus 
to the sector.  No other sectors that can offer B3 content proposed 
changes to stakes and prizes.  In support of its proposal, BACTA 
commissioned PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PwC) to provide estimates of 
the economic benefits this would bring.  PwC estimate that this uplift 
would generate £33m (primarily a 6-7% increase in GGY which would 
equate to £20-23m as well as resulting machine sales) and an increase 
in taxes of £5m (primarily gaming machine duty).  PwC’s assessment 
of ‘economic benefit’ does not equate to Gross Value Added (GVA) 
which would also take into account displaced expenditure from other 
sectors.  

 
Category B3A/B4 (primary markets affected: clubs, manufacture and supply)  

 
3.10. There has been no submission for changes of stake or prize limits on 

these club-only gaming machines which occupy a niche in the gaming 
machine market. There is no data currently available to allow DCMS to 
properly assess performance within this sector.  

 
Category C (primary markets affected: arcades, betting, bingo, pubs, manufacture 
and supply)  

 
3.11. Category C content (traditional fruit machines) is permitted in 

bookmakers, arcades, bingo and pubs.  Overall there are nearly 72,000 
machines across arcades and bingo premises  which generated 28

£227m in 2015/16 (up 3% since 2013/14).  In addition, there are an 
estimated 40,000 in pubs which accounts for £594m.    The stake and 29

prize limits for category C machines were increased from 50p/£35 to 
£1/£70 in 2009 and the maximum prize further increased to £100 in 
2014.  

 
3.12. On category C machines, BACTA, the British Beer and Pub 

Association (BBPA) and the Greene King pub chain have proposed an 
increase in the maximum stake to £2 and the maximum prize to £150. 

27 Includes a statistically negligible amount (0.1%) from category B4 and C play. 
28 26,715 in arcades (AGCs), 1788 in seaside arcades (FECs) and 43,410 in bingo premises (though this number 
for bingo is skewed by the use of handheld terminals which are used in large numbers but not technically 
category C machines). 
29 BACTA commissioned PWC report figures 

18 



They argue that category C machines in the pub and arcade sectors 
are not economically viable and that previous uplifts have slowed the 
decline in revenue.  Each of these organisations provided estimates of 
the expected economic impact of this change with varying degrees of 
supporting analysis.  

 
3.13. On behalf of BACTA, PwC estimate that the proposed uplift would 

generate £72m (primarily increased GGY and machine sales) and 
£10m tax revenue, with a potential corresponding benefit to the 14-15 
manufacturers who produce category C machines.  The BBPA argue 
that the income from gaming machines can be vital in maintaining the 
economic viability of many pubs. In support of this they have provided 
evidence suggesting previous increases in 2009 (stake and prize) and 
2014 (prize only) led to uplifts in machine revenue and that this 
proposed increase may see a 10% increase in gaming machine 
revenue.  The BBPA also argues that there is no evidence to show 
category C machines in pubs are responsible for any increase in 
problem gambling and do not propose any corresponding social 
responsibility measures to accompany this increase.  

 
Category D (primary markets affected: arcades; fairs; manufacture and supply)  

 
3.14. Category D content is available in high street arcades (Adult Gaming 

Centres - AGCs) and seaside arcades (Family Entertainment Centres - 
FECs). Typical examples of these kind of machines would be crane 
grabs and coin pushers, featuring both monetary and non-monetary 
prizes.  The stake and prize limits for most category D gaming 
machines were last changed in 2009, and coin pushers received a 
stake and prize increase in 2014. The most significant change was a 
new type, a crane grab machines with a £1/£50 stake/prize ratio; such 
machines previously operated at 30p/£8 ratio.  Despite these uplifts, 
overall category D machine numbers have declined significantly since 
2013/14. 

 
3.15. The arcade sector, represented by BACTA and the British Association 

of Leisure Parks, Piers and Attractions (BALPPA) is seeking changes 
across five of the sub-categories (see table 1).  BACTA argue that 
these changes would provide an essential stimulus to the sector.  They 
consider this to be important for their future sustainability, given that 
while costs to the sector are increasing, they cannot increase the price 
of play or offer more attractive prizes to increase revenue. While crane 
grabs and penny pushers have seen increases in recent years, other 
category D machines, notably reel band gaming machines, have not 
seen an increase since 1997.  PwC estimate that, taken together, 
these changes would generate £25.9m (primarily increased GGY and 
machine sales) and an additional £0.6m in tax.  They argued that the 
available evidence on harm to young people from playing category D 
machines is inconclusive. 

19 



Prize gaming 
 

3.16. The industry is calling for an increase in the maximum participation fee 
from £1 to £2 and a prize increase from £70 to £100 (and from £500 to 
£1,000 aggregate) on prize gaming.  The popularity of prize gaming 30

has waned in recent years and a number of venues have removed their 
prize gaming units in favour of amusement machines. However, there 
is still a market for the game, particularly at the seaside. It provides for 
a more elderly clientele a longer, more sociable opportunity, akin to 
bingo, but at reduced stake and prize levels in a more convenient 
location. 

 
Policy options for consultation 

 
3.17. The Government’s preferred proposals on stakes and prizes are to 

maintain the status quo across all categories covered in this chapter, 
with the exception of prize gaming.  Our assessment of the proposals 
and rationale for this position is set out in more detail below. 

 
B1 gaming machines 

 
3.18. The industry has not provided an estimate of the impact on income or 

player behaviour of raising the linked jackpot, and there were no 
specific proposals to address the risk of increased player harm. Before 
2014, the maximum progressive jackpot was £4,000, no more than the 
maximum prize on a single B1 machine. In 2014, the maximum prize 
on a single machine was raised from £4,000 to £10,000, and the 
maximum progressive jackpot from £4,000 to £20,000. Without more 
evidence the Government is therefore not minded to further increase 
the progressive prize to £100,000 at this point.  

 
3.19. The current system of cash deposits and transfers provides a basic 

social responsibility control by slowing the speed at which players can 
commit funds to gambling, allowing consumers to consider their 
actions. The industry argument for increasing the cash deposit amount 
from £20 to £50 on B1 machines is based on historical consistency. 
The current limit of £20 applied under the previous maximum stake of 
£2, and was therefore ten times the maximum stake. Since the stake 
increase to £5, however, the £20 restriction is only four times the 
maximum stake. Although an increase to £50 would restore the stake 
to deposit ratio to 10:1, it would also speed up the committed-funds 
process. We therefore do not propose to implement this proposal 
unless evidence can be provided as to how operators would manage 
the risks it generates. 

 
 

30 Prize gaming is defined in Section 288 of the Act, and is gaming in which neither the nature nor the size of a 
prize is determined by the number of persons playing or the amount paid for or raised by the gaming. 

20 



B3 gaming machines 
 

3.20. The Government acknowledges that BACTA’s proposed increase is 
likely to provide an economic stimulus to the arcade sector, but this 
should be balanced with the fact that B3 gaming machines are now the 
fastest growing gaming machine category in terms of GGY and 
responsible for much of the growth in gaming machine revenue for 
those sectors that are permitted to offer this content.  The Government 
also has concerns about an increase to the maximum stake on player 
protection grounds. Research suggests that there are significant levels 
of problem gambling amongst players of these machines (4.2% on B3 
gaming machines in bingo halls  and 11.5% on gaming machines in 31

LBOs, both significantly higher than the headline problem gambling 
rate).  The latest Health Survey data for 2015 also shows statistically 32

significant increases in problem gambling rates on slots (of which B3 
gaming machines are included) from 2.6% in 2012 to 5.7% in 2015.   33

In addition, industry data obtained by the Gambling Commission  34

during the call for evidence demonstrates that session losses and 
session duration on B3s have a comparability with B2s (see figure 2). 
High session losses and long sessions are good proxies for harm. 
Government is not therefore convinced that there is a rationale for an 
increase, but rather, a case for greater player protection measures on 
this category of machine (see chapter 5 for more detail). 

 
Figure 2 Session losses for B2 roulette and across venues for B3 (source: Gambling Commission) 

 
Consumer loss                   Consumer win 

31 http://infohub.gambleaware.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Bingo-Research-Final-140716.pdf  
32 http://about.gambleaware.org/media/1311/bingo-research-final-140716.pdf  
33 http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-2015.pdf  
34http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-
gambling-review.aspx  

21 

http://infohub.gambleaware.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Bingo-Research-Final-140716.pdf
http://about.gambleaware.org/media/1311/bingo-research-final-140716.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-2015.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx


B3A/B4 gaming machines 
 

3.21. As noted above, in the absence of relevant submissions on these 
categories, the Government is not minded to take forward any 
changes. 

 
Category C gaming machines 

 
3.22. The Government recognises the concerns that exist across the industry 

about the performance of this machine category in terms of the decline 
in revenue.  However, the Government is concerned about the 
potential impact on players of another uplift which would give it a 
comparable maximum stake to B3 gaming machines (but with a lower 
return to player ratio), which are not permitted in pubs due to the fact 
that they are less regulated environments, especially as no 
corresponding changes have been suggested by industry in terms of 
additional player protection measures.  The Government is not 
therefore minded to take industry proposals forward. 

 
Category D machines 

 
3.23. While there is an economic case to support the affected sectors, Great 

Britain is the only jurisdiction internationally to permit gambling for 
under 18s (primarily in seaside arcades and on category D machines) 
and as such Government recognises the concern among some 
respondents to the call for evidence regarding the prospect of stake 
and/or prize increases on these types of machine.  The call for 
evidence highlighted that although problem gambling rates among 
young people (12-15 years of age) are fairly static (at around 0.4%), 
there are areas of concern, primarily that there is an association 
between early gambling participation and problem gambling in 
adulthood.   Given concerns raised on the principle of stake and prize 35

increases on products available to children, and the fact that the 
industry has not proposed any strengthening of its player protections, 
we are not therefore minded to take any of the industry’s proposals 
forward.  

 
Prize gaming 

 
3.24. We are content that industry proposals to increase stake from £1 to £2 

and prizes from £70 to £100 (£1,000 aggregate) on prize gaming are in 
keeping with the objective of this review and that these activities are 
low risk. We therefore propose to take these changes forward. 
However, while the current use of prize gaming does not pose 
significant risks, we will ask the Gambling Commission to alert us to 
any developments which would change this assessment.  

35 Keatley, David Young People, Gambling and Gambling-Related Harm: Pathways into and out of danger 
Gambleaware, (2017) 

22 



 
Q2.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
category B1 gaming machines? 
 
Q3.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
category B3 gaming machines? 
 
Q4.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
category B3A gaming machines? 
 
Q5.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
category B4 gaming machines? 
 
Q6.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
category C gaming machines? 
 
Q7.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on all 
category D gaming machines? 
 
Q8. Do you agree with the government’s proposals to increase the stake and prize 
for prize gaming, in line with industry proposals? 
 
If you have any evidence to support your position then please send to 
gamblingreviewconsultation2017@culture.gov.uk.  When sending in evidence 
please provide your name and email address so that we may contact you. By 
evidence, we are referring to published research, data or supporting analysis. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

23 

mailto:gamblingreview2017@culture.gov.uk


4. Gaming machine allocations 
 
Overview of findings 
 

4.1. The Government also requested evidence-based proposals on 
allocations of gaming machines permitted in all licensed premises 
under the Gambling Act 2005. Most proposals received were from the 
casino sector.  This chapter outlines the proposals received from each 
sector, and the assessment which the Government has made following 
analysis of the submissions and evidence provided. 

 
Casinos 
 
Proposals from industry 
 

4.2. The National Casino Forum (NCF) requested the following changes to 
machine allocations: 

 
Table 2. Casino overview 

Casino type Numbers of 
casinos in 
operation 

Current 
machine 
maximum 

Current 
machine: table 
ratio 

Industry 
request 

Small (defined 
under the 2005 
Act) 

2 (one more in 
development) 

80  2:1 3:1 ratio, no 
change to 
maximum 

Large (defined 
in 2005 Act) 

4 150 5:1 No change to 
ratio, increase 
maximum to 
500 

Converted 1968 
Act licences 

139 20 (category B)  No ratio 3:1 ratio, 
maximum 80 
machines 

 
4.3. The sector argued that current machine entitlements (as outlined in the 

table above) are restrictive by international standards. They said that 
customers often queue for machines at busy times, that terrestrial 
casinos are the most highly-regulated part of the gambling sector and 
that they have been leaders on player protection. NCF also argued that 
the 2:1 ratio in Small 2005 Act casinos makes the model financially 
unviable.  Other responses from casino operators mirrored the NCF’s 
submission, although one proposed an increase in the Large 2005 Act 
casino machine:table ratio to 8:1.  

 
4.4. The industry estimated that the benefits of allowing an 80 machine cap 

with 3:1 ratio across Small and 1968 Act casinos would be: £100m 

24 



Gross Value Added (GVA) to UK economy; an extra 1,000 jobs, 75% 
outside London; increased casino revenue of £175m (from all activities, 
not just machines) and increased tax of £65m. 

 
4.5. The NCF’s submission also included the following requests:  

 
4.5.1. Allow a new higher stakes machine for high-end (Mayfair) 

casinos, which they said cater for a ‘high roller’ international 
clientele. Mayfair casinos currently have few or no machines, as 
B1 stake and prize limits mean that such machines hold no 
interest for their customers. They suggested that the limits for 
this new machine could be a £50 stake and £100,000 prize. 

4.5.2. Allow the provision of dedicated tablets for customers to access 
their online accounts, not to count against machine allocation or 
to be subject to stake and prize limits. 

 
4.6. Casinos are more highly regulated than other environments in that their 

numbers and locations are limited, in recognition of the levels of high 
stakes gambling they offer. However, they are permitted to serve 
alcohol and many are open 24 hours a day. The majority are no longer 
member-only venues.  

 
4.7. There are currently around 3,000 machines in all casinos in total 

(compared to around 35,000 in betting shops, 63,000 in bingo 
premises and 76,000 in arcades). However, B1 gaming machines offer 
the highest prize limit, which is the reason that they were reserved for 
casinos. 

 
4.8. According to the Ernst & Young report ‘Stimulating Growth in the UK 

casino industry’, which was commissioned by the industry, aligning the 
1968 Act casino and small 2005 Act casinos with a 3:1 
machine-to-table ratio and new overall cap of 80 machines would result 
in an estimated 2,175 more machines across the casino estate, an 
increase of just over 70%. 

 
4.9. A recent study of tracked play on B1 machines  showed the majority of 36

card holders visited infrequently and either won or lost small sums. 
However, a small (but not insignificant) proportion did show signs 
associated with harm, such as prolonged play and heavy losses. In 
2014, 8% of play sessions studied resulted in a loss of more than £200 
(3% more than £300), and 11% of sessions lasted three hours or more.  

 
4.10. The report found that intensity of play, measured by machine player 

losses per minute, was significantly higher late at night and in the early 
hours compared with other times. Casinos (including B1 machines) 

36 https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1368/tracked-play-revision-14-12-16.pdf  
https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1164/evaluating-the-impact-of-the-uplift-of-stakes-and-prizes-on-b1-gaming
-machines-in-casinos.pdf  

25 

https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1368/tracked-play-revision-14-12-16.pdf
https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1164/evaluating-the-impact-of-the-uplift-of-stakes-and-prizes-on-b1-gaming-machines-in-casinos.pdf
https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1164/evaluating-the-impact-of-the-uplift-of-stakes-and-prizes-on-b1-gaming-machines-in-casinos.pdf


were busiest at 10 pm but they were as busy at 2am as at 6pm. A 
report by the same authors evaluating the effect of the increase in B1 
stakes and prizes in 2014 found that “greater increases in B1 spending 
after uplift occurred in these relatively vulnerable groups: the young, 
those from deprived areas, late night players.”  37

 
Policy options for consultation 

 
4.11. We welcome progress that the casino sector has made on player 

protection. This includes introducing the first national self-exclusion 
scheme, as well as developing capabilities for real-time machine play 
tracking, increasing slot supervision and commissioning and trialling 
work on algorithms to help identify risky play and intervene with 
customers. However, as with gaming machines across the industry, 
there is currently little direct evidence to show the impact that these 
measures have had on gambling-related harm. Further, B1 machines 
do not currently provide players with any facilities to help them manage 
their own gambling (for example, the opportunity for the customer to 
set limits which is available on B2 machines). 

 
4.12. While the Gambling Commission confirms that allowances for 

machines in 1968 Act converted casinos in Great Britain are currently 
significantly lower than in the majority of comparable jurisdictions (for 
example other European countries), machine allocations are 
determined by what is right for this country rather than being brought 
automatically in line with international comparators.  

 
4.13. The Government is therefore minded to maintain the status quo on 

casino machine allocations at present. We encourage casinos to work 
with the Gambling Commission on measures to enhance protections 
for machine players, as outlined in chapter 5. We would want to 
evaluate the impact of changes such as these before considering 
further changes to gaming machine regulation.  

 
4.14. Regarding the proposals for a new higher stake machine for high-end 

casinos, these casinos are distinct in practice and in their clientele, but 
not in the nature of their premises licences. Little evidence was 
provided by the sector to support this proposal, and a key challenge 
would be how it could be implemented so that only high-end casinos 
could make the new category available for use. The Government 
therefore does not support this proposal. 

 
4.15. We are not minded to allow casinos to provide dedicated tablets to 

access remote accounts, without these tablets counting against 
machine allocation or being subject to stake and prize limits. This 
would effectively circumvent the rules which govern the maximum 

37 Forest, McHale and Wardle, Evaluating the impact of the uplift of stakes and prizes on B1 gaming machines in 
casinos, GambleAware 2015 

26 



stake and prize levels on slots games offered on casino premises. 
There is nothing to stop customers accessing their remote accounts on 
their own devices if they wish, but we do not think it appropriate for a 
casino to offer tablets restricted to its own online offerings (presumably 
with incentives for customers to use those tablets rather than their own) 
where that would not count as a ‘gaming machine’. 

 
4.16. The Government also proposes to amend the Gambling Act 2005 

(Gaming Tables in Casinos) (Definitions) Regulations 2009 to make 
clear that only tables for multi player live gaming, operated by a casino 
dealer , will qualify as a gaming table for the purposes of attracting a 38

machine allowance in both Small and Large Casinos. Neither partially 
automated nor wholly automated gaming tables will count as “gaming 
tables” for these purposes. The Government’s intention is to preserve 
the approach underpinning the Act that there should be a balanced mix 
on casino premises of real gaming tables (which are staffed by dealers 
or croupiers, monitored by inspectors and should be the core of a 
casino’s product offer) and gaming machines and automated gaming 
equipment. A balanced offer means that customers can make a choice 
about whether to play on gaming tables, which are more social in 
nature, as opposed to gaming machines and other automated gaming 
equipment where there is less potential for human interaction.  

 
Qualified alcohol licensed premises (public house) 
 
Proposals from industry 
 

4.17. The Greene King pub chain (though not the BBPA) submitted a 
proposal to raise the automatic entitlement to category C or D gaming 
machines from two to four in pubs. This proposal seems to be 
predicated on a combination of factors including the fact that LBOs are 
permitted four B2 gaming machines and, they argue, the lack of 
evidenced gambling problems related to category C machines.  

 
Policy options for consultation 
 

4.18. The Government notes that this proposal was only submitted by one 
pub chain and was not supported by the trade body representing the 
pub industry.  It also notes that the Gambling Act 2005 allows pubs two 
category C or D gaming machines as of right and that Local Authorities 
(LAs) can permit an increase in this number if it deems appropriate.  In 
addition, the Government notes that pubs are ambient gambling 
establishments and therefore lack both dedicated staff for the gambling 
function and more thorough social responsibility codes as there are 
with premises that are permitted more gaming machines.  The 
Government is therefore minded to retain the status quo with local 

38 Those defined as “ordinary gaming tables” in the Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and Default Conditions) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2007  

27 



authorities determining the appropriate number of machines in pubs 
beyond two. 

 
Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) 
 
Proposals from industry 

 
4.19. The arcade sector (represented by BACTA) have proposed the 

introduction of a new sub-category of gaming machine (sub-category 
B5).  The proposal is for the B5 gaming machine to have a maximum 
stake of £10 and maximum prize of £125 with a proposed spin cycle of 
30 seconds.  BACTA argues that this new category of machine would 
allow operators to offer a more varied selection of products including, 
what they describe as “low stake roulette” or horse racing style 
products which, due to their popularity, would ensure the machine’s 
commercial viability.   BACTA has estimated that each new machine 
would generate GGY of approximately £300 per week.  In support of 
this proposal PwC has submitted that the manufacture of 10,000 of 
these gaming machines would generate an economic benefit of £165m 
and increased taxes of £25m.  There would be a one off benefit from 
additional machines sales of £39m with £9m in VAT being generated. 
Accompanying the proposal to introduce a new sub-category of gaming 
machine (as set out above), BACTA propose introducing a 10% cap on 
the number of new B5 machines permitted in an AGC.  A cap of 20% 
for category B3 machines currently exists; this proposal would 
therefore create a new 30% cap for category B gaming machines in 
AGCs. 

 
Policy options for consultation 

 
4.20. While government recognises the case for innovation in the sector, 

there are concerns around the introduction of a new category of 
machine on the high street in light of potential changes to B2 
machines.  We would want to evaluate the impact of other changes 
outlined in this document before considering further changes to gaming 
machine regulation.  We would also seek to explore in more detail how 
this machine would function and any corresponding player protection 
measures.  We are therefore not minded to agree to this request for a 
new category of higher stakes machine at this time.  

 
Q9. Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
allocations for casinos, arcades and pubs?  
 
If you have any evidence to support your position then please send to 
gamblingreviewconsultation2017@culture.gov.uk.  When sending in evidence 
please provide your name and email address so that we may contact you. By 
evidence, we are referring to published research, data or supporting analysis. 

 

28 

mailto:gamblingreview2017@culture.gov.uk


Other gaming machine issues: Contactless payments on gaming machines 
 
Proposals from industry 
 

4.21. Industry respondents from across all sectors, with the exception of 
bookmakers, submitted proposals for the introduction of contactless 
payments on gaming machines.  Industry respondents cited the 
increase in contactless payments on the high street as the primary 
rationale for change, and argued that contactless payments on gaming 
machines are required to align with customer spending habits. It was 
also argued that this would increase gaming machine revenue and 
increase customer protection.  

 
Policy options for consultation 
 

4.22. Current legislation prevents the use of credit or debit cards as a means 
of direct payment for gaming machines and so the introduction of 
contactless payments would be a significant shift from the current 
regulatory framework.  The rationale for not allowing the use of credit 
and debit cards as a means of direct payment to gaming machines is to 
give players more control over their play which may result from 
uninterrupted play generated by the use of cards as opposed to cash.  39

It remains the Government’s view that the use of credit or debit cards 
as a direct form of payment to gaming machines would be a backward 
step in the protection of vulnerable players and it does not intend to 
progress this proposal. 

 
 

Q10. Do you agree with the government’s proposals to bar contactless payments 
as a direct form of payment to gaming machines?  
 
If you have any evidence to support your position then please send to 
gamblingreviewconsultation2017@culture.gov.uk.  When sending in evidence 
please provide your name and email address so that we may contact you. By 
evidence, we are referring to published research, data or supporting analysis. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

39 https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1362/pbhm-final-report-december-2016.pdf  

29 

mailto:gamblingreview2017@culture.gov.uk
https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1362/pbhm-final-report-december-2016.pdf


5. Social responsibility (SR) measures 
 

5.1. As part of the call for evidence, Government requested responses on 
the effectiveness of social responsibility measures implemented by 
industry since 2013 and on the effects of gambling advertising.  

 
5.2. This chapter sets out findings in four areas covering: player protection 

measures on gaming machines, online gambling, gambling advertising 
and the provision of research, education and treatment (RET) into, and 
in response to, gambling-related harm. 

 
(i) Player protection measures on gaming machines 
 
Overview of findings 
 

5.3. A number of respondents to the call for evidence highlighted the 
perceived inadequacies of industry codes on social responsibility, 
specifically on gaming machines, primarily citing the lack of evidence of 
impact and effect of the measures.  Where evaluation has taken place, 
primarily of the measures introduced by the bookmakers on B2 
machines, it is not clear that the measures have been as effective as 
they could have been. While these evaluations proved inconclusive, we 
think there is value in trialling interventions and further refining and 
evaluating as appropriate.  

 
5.4. The evaluation of the Association of British Bookmakers’ (ABB) code 

on social responsibility,  of which the headline measure related to the 40

introduction of voluntary time and money limit setting on B2 gaming 
machines, was published in May 2015 and concluded that only 0.5% of 
machine sessions in the first month after implementation included a 
voluntarily set threshold. They could not establish if this was because 
players did not want to use the function, or did not know about it.  Due 
to the small proportion of sessions that included a voluntarily set 
threshold they were unable to draw any conclusions on the impact of 
this tool on players’ behaviour.  In addition, we welcome that the 
evaluation of the Player Awareness System (PAS) rolled out by ABB 
members on B2 machines was published in October 2016.   It found 41

that although this measure had potential, there was a considerable way 
to go before it could be considered successful.  

 
5.5. We also recognise the effort and resource now being put into 

responsible gambling activities across the industry as a whole, but we 
believe there is a need for considerable improvement in methods of 
identifying harmful play on all gaming machines that enable high losses 
(B1, B2 and B3 gaming machines across all venues) and in the 

40 https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1167/abb-early-impact-report-final-report.pdf  
41 https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1335/pas-evaluation_final-report_13102016.pdf  

30 

https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1167/abb-early-impact-report-final-report.pdf
https://about.gambleaware.org/media/1335/pas-evaluation_final-report_13102016.pdf


development of interventions to help players who might be suffering 
harm.  The RGSB publication analysing industry progress echoes this, 
concluding that “there is still much to do if the [National Responsible 
Gambling] Strategy is to make visible progress towards its objectives”, 
with a need to increase the pace of delivery over the next 12 months.  42

 
5.6. One of the areas of agreement captured in the responses to the call for 

evidence on this issue is that the factors which influence the extent of 
harm to the player are wider than one product or a limited set of 
parameters, such as stakes and prizes, and include factors around the 
player, the environment and the product.  It also highlighted risks 
associated not just with B2 gaming machines but with other category B 
gaming machines, specifically B3s. 

 
Government position and options for consultation 

 
5.7. As part of the work that industry is taking forward under the objectives 

of the National Responsible Gambling strategy,  we would therefore 43

like to see industry trial and evaluate additional measures on B1, B2 
and B3 gaming machines to improve player protections and to create 
parity across category B gaming machines, the majority of which are in 
highly accessible locations.  

 
5.8. As previously referenced, we think there is particular merit in the 

introduction of the following measures across B1, B2 and B3 gaming 
machines based on stake and prize levels available and what we know 
about the way in which these machines are played, and would like to 
see industry work with the Gambling Commission on these issues.  If 
there is insufficient progress in this space, we and the Gambling 
Commission will consider whether additional requirements need to be 
placed on affected licence holders: 

5.8.1. Evidence suggests that voluntary time and spend limit setting is 
more effective than compulsory limits in terms of players 
keeping to the limits that they set, but that take up has been 
negligible in regards to existing measures on B2s.  We would 
like to see further work done to encourage take up on existing 
measures (on B2 gaming machines) and work done on the 
introduction of these measures on B1 and B3 gaming machines. 
‘Hard stops’ when limits are met, i.e. the ending of sessions, 
should also be considered as an accompanying measure; 

5.8.2. Mandatory alerts when certain time and spend benchmarks are 
reached.  Evidence suggests that these can be effective at 
improving player control but must be trialled and evaluated 
routinely to ensure effectiveness with players;  

5.8.3. Prohibiting mixed play between B2 and B3 (only applies in 
practice to gaming machines in betting shops).  Industry data 

42 http://www.rgsb.org.uk/PDF/Strategy-progress-report-2016-2017.pdf  
43 http://www.rgsb.org.uk/PDF/Strategy-2016-2019.pdf  

31 

http://www.rgsb.org.uk/PDF/Strategy-progress-report-2016-2017.pdf
http://www.rgsb.org.uk/PDF/Strategy-2016-2019.pdf


obtained by the Gambling Commission  as part of the call for 44

evidence highlighted that session losses were high on sessions 
that contained mixed play.  We think this measure will improve 
player control by making it more apparent to players when they 
are transitioning between different content on a single terminal; 
and 

5.8.4. The utilisation of algorithms to identify problematic play on 
gaming machines.  Although there is a long way to go to utilise 
the wealth of data available on gaming machines, we believe 
that this measure has the potential to be an effective 
intervention tool for those most at risk. 

 
5.9. In addition, we have asked the Gambling Commission to advise us on 

the costs and benefits of introducing a form of tracked play on B1, B2 
and B3 gaming machines.  By tracked play, we do not necessarily 
mean that players would be required to provide verified personal 
information about themselves to their gambling operators. It could be a 
process by which players would register and be given some way of 
tracking their play (e.g. a number, a QR code) without providing this 
information. An approach like this would address player concerns 
about sharing personal data with gambling operators, but still provide 
data to better understand harm and the effectiveness of interventions. 
We note that there are significant potential benefits to this measure, 
including improved data about gaming machine play and therefore 
enhanced ability to target interventions, prevent underage and 
self-excluded players from gambling, and to evaluate the impact of 
interventions.  We would also welcome views from industry and others 
about this measure, including potential costings and process and 
timing of implementation.  Finally, we would like to see industry 
establish a process with the RGSB, GambleAware and the Gambling 
Commission in which data on how gaming machines are played is 
routinely shared, for the purposes of monitoring, evaluation and 
research.  

 
Q.11 Do you support this package of measures to improve player protection 
measures on gaming machines? 
 
If you have any evidence to support your position then please send to 
gamblingreviewconsultation2017@culture.gov.uk.  When sending in evidence 
please provide your name and email address so that we may contact you. By 
evidence, we are referring to published research, data or supporting analysis. 

For industry: 
Can you provide estimates about (a) the potential implementation and running 
costs of this package of measures; and (b) the potential delivery timescales for 
these changes? 

44http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-
gambling-review.aspx  

32 

mailto:gamblingreview2017@culture.gov.uk
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/New-data-to-inform-government-gambling-review.aspx


(ii) Online gambling 
 
Overview of findings 
 

5.10. The call for evidence invited views on the effectiveness of social 
responsibility measures across the gambling industry.  A number of 
respondents raised online gambling, with some respondents 
questioning in particular whether the controls in place to protect young 
and vulnerable people are effective.  

 
5.11. The Government is committed to ensuring young and vulnerable 

people are protected from gambling-related harm - both online and 
offline.  The recently published Internet Safety Strategy  looks at how 45

we can ensure Britain is the safest place in the world to be online. The 
Strategy considers the responsibilities of companies to their users, the 
use of technical solutions to prevent online harms and government’s 
role in supporting users.  Alongside this, the Government is clear that 
the gambling industry must play its part in limiting online harms and 
protecting consumers. 

 
5.12. Like other consumer products and services, gambling has seen a rapid 

growth in the online sector.  With many of the online operators based 
offshore, the Government moved to tackle the risks this posed by 
bringing forward legislation in 2014.  The Gambling (Licensing and 
Advertising) Act 2014 brought offshore online gambling websites within 
the regulatory remit of the British regulator, meaning that all online 
websites - no matter where they are based - offering gambling services 
to consumers in Britain require a licence from the Gambling 
Commission and must adhere to the Licence Conditions and Codes of 
Practice (LCCP)  attached to their operating licence.  These include 46

requirements to prevent underage gambling and money laundering, 
and to ensure that gambling is provided in a socially responsible way. 
Player protection requirements include ensuring that consumers have 
access to gambling management tools such as financial limits, reality 
checks, ‘time-outs’ and can request to self-exclude from a gambling 
website.  The licence conditions are kept under review to ensure they 
reflect developments in the industry or emerging evidence on the most 
effective means of promoting socially responsible gambling. 

 
5.13. Statistics published  by the Gambling Commission in May 2017 show 47

that the online sector generated £4.5bn in GGY and the Commission 
estimates there are around seven million individual consumers 
gambling online in Britain.  Just over half of this gross profit was 
generated by online casino and slot games.  While land-based venues 

45  https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/internet-safety-strategy-green-paper 
46 http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LCCP/Licence-conditions-and-codes-of-practice.pdf  
47http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/Latest-industry-statistics-publishe
d.aspx  

33 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/internet-safety-strategy-green-paper
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/LCCP/Licence-conditions-and-codes-of-practice.pdf
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/Latest-industry-statistics-published.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/news-action-and-statistics/news/2017/Latest-industry-statistics-published.aspx


account for 56% of the profits made by the commercial gambling 
market in Britain  the online sector has grown rapidly. Alongside this, 48

there has been a corresponding growth in the volume of advertising for 
online gambling which is considered in the next section of this 
document.  

 
5.14. The most recent statistics on gambling participation and problem 

gambling are taken from the report on Gambling Behaviour in Great 
Britain 2015 , published in August 2017, which showed an increase in 49

problem gambling rates and participation in online gambling - although 
the proportion deemed ‘at-risk’ had declined since the last survey in 
2012. The results found that 10% of the adult population participated in 
online gambling or betting in the past year (7% in 2012).  Among those 
who did participate in online gambling, problem gambling rates were 
5.1% (4.2% in 2012).  Looking at more specific products within the 
online market, the survey found that 4% of the adult population 
participated in online slots, casino or bingo (3% in 2012), while problem 
gambling prevalence rates among this group were 10.6% (6.3% in 
2012). We are clear that developments in the online gambling sector 
need to be monitored closely and the Gambling Commission are 
keeping this under review.  

 
5.15. While all online operators are subject to the same or equivalent 

regulatory requirements as land-based operators, there have been 
cases where operators’ compliance with the rules has fallen short. This 
is being tackled, with the Gambling Commission recently introducing a 
revised enforcement strategy which includes higher penalties for those 
found to have breached the licence conditions. This will act as a strong 
deterrent to those who do not take their obligations seriously.  In 
addition, a number of new requirements or initiatives which aim to 
improve standards across the online sector and enhance the social 
responsibility measures currently in place are in progress.  

 
Figure 3. Tougher approach to enforcement 
 

In July 2017, the Gambling Commission introduced a revised enforcement strategy which aims to 
put customers first and raise standards across the industry.  The strategy includes higher penalties 
for those found to have breached the licence conditions, particularly where the Commission 
identifies systemic and repeated failings.  The Commission have removed the previous bias in 
favour of settlement, putting all regulatory tools, including licence review, on an equal footing.  This 
revised approach will act as a strong deterrent to those who do not take their obligations seriously.  
  
In September 2017, the Commission imposed a record £7.8m penalty package against online 
operator 888 as a result of serious failings in its handling of vulnerable customers between 
September 2014 and September 2016.  The Commission also ordered an independent audit of 
888’s processes relating to customer protection. 

 
48 Excludes National Lottery and large society lotteries. 
49  This report provides information about gambling behaviour in Great Britain using data combined from the 
Health Survey for England 2015, the Scottish Health Survey 2015 and the Wales Omnibus in 2015. 

34 



Free bets and sign-up offers 
 

5.16. The Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) are currently 
investigating possible unfair terms and misleading practices around 
online gaming sign-up promotions and free bet promotions. In June 
2017, the CMA opened enforcement cases against several online 
gambling firms suspected of breaking consumer protection law. In 
addition to this enforcement action, the CMA opened a new line of 
investigation into unfair terms and practices that could restrict 
customers’ rights to withdraw money in their online gaming and betting 
accounts. 

 
5.17. The CMA will provide an update on its investigation later this year. The 

Gambling Commission is working with the CMA to deliver sector-wide 
change in the areas of concern identified and to drive improved 
compliance with consumer protection law in the gambling sector.  The 
Government fully expects the gambling industry to ensure terms and 
conditions are clear to consumers. 

 
5.18. Bonus and promotional offers must only be made available in a socially 

responsible manner which is consistent with the licensing objectives.  
Such offers should never be marketed at young or vulnerable people, 
those who have self-excluded or those who have been identified as at 
risk of gambling-related harm.  The Gambling Commission has the 
power to restrict the use of bonus and promotional offers which are 
designed to induce and encourage gambling.  The Commission are 
monitoring the industry’s approach to managing risks to the licence 
conditions arising from such offers and will consider whether regulatory 
intervention is required if operators fail to demonstrate they are 
sufficiently managing the risks. The Gambling Commission has the 
Government’s full support in this work and we will continue to monitor 
this area to ensure these types of promotions are effectively regulated.  

 
Customer interaction - identifying those at risk of gambling-related harm and 
making effective interventions 
 

5.19. Unlike land-based gambling, all online gambling is account-based, 
which means operators know who their customers are, what they are 
spending their money on, and their patterns of gambling.  This provides 
opportunities for operators to use customer data to identify and 
minimise gambling-related harm.  

 
5.20. The Commission has found that standards and approaches to 

identifying those at risk of gambling-related harm and making effective 
interventions vary widely across the industry in their approach and 
delivery of customer interactions. While a number of operators are 
already developing and operating algorithm-based systems to identify 

35 



harmful behaviours and activity, very few operators were able to review 
and evaluate the effectiveness of their approach. 

 
5.21. The industry is working collaboratively with GambleAware to identify 

good practice, pilot responsible gambling messaging and understand 
the information players need to help them manage their own gambling, 
as well as new approaches to staff training around social responsibility. 

 
5.22. In August 2017 GambleAware published phase two of the research 

they commissioned to explore the potential usefulness of industry-held 
data and behavioural analytics to identify harmful or risky behaviour.  50

This research found the industry could accurately detect problem 
gamblers using data held by operators today, with a refined set of 22 
predictive markers used to create a customer specific risk score.  The 
markers could be used to inform tailored interventions based on 
different risk thresholds.  This is a key area of opportunity for operators 
to strengthen their processes to identify and minimise gambling-related 
harm. 

 
5.23. The next phase of GambleAware’s research into harm minimisation 

online is expected to conclude in 2019.  The research aims to provide a 
best practice model that can be used by online gambling companies in 
their responsible gambling operations, including recommended 
interventions which have been evaluated for their effectiveness to 
reduce the risk of gambling-related harm.  

 
5.24. The Government welcomes steps taken by some operators to 

incorporate behavioural analytics into their responsible gambling 
systems and the Commission’s work to raise standards across the 
sector. 

 
5.25. The Commission intend to draw on the findings and outcomes of the 

GambleAware research to inform their ongoing approach to raising 
standards across the industry. The Commission have already 
concluded that, in order to raise standards in this important area of 
player protection, they will need to make changes to the Licence 
Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) and to issue guidance to the 
industry setting out expectations around customer interaction.  The 
Commission will continue to enhance their understanding of the most 
effective methods of identifying people at risk of gambling-related harm 
and intervening to assist them, ahead of a consultation on changes to 
the LCCP next year. 

 
Enhanced player protection 
 

5.26. All licensees are required to make information readily available to their 
customers on how to gamble responsibly and how to access 

50 https://about.gambleaware.org/research/research-publications/  

36 

https://about.gambleaware.org/research/research-publications/


information about, and help in respect of, problem gambling.  There are 
a range of online gambling management tools which operators must 
provide including: 

 
● measures to help individuals monitor or control their gambling, 

such as restricting the duration of a gambling session or the 
amount of money they can spend; 

● timers or other forms of reminders or ‘reality checks’ where 
available; 

● self-exclusion options; and 
● information about the availability of further help or advice. 

 
5.27. The Gambling Commission recently announced revised technical 

standards placing new requirements on online operators.  From April 
2018, operators must: 

 
● ensure consumers are able to directly access 3 months’ worth of 

account and gambling information, with a minimum period of 12 
months available on request; 

● Ensure customers can access information about their net 
deposits (defined as the running total of all deposits minus 
withdrawals for the lifetime of the account); 

● set financial limits across their entire gambling account as well 
as individual games.  

 
5.28. These improvements will ensure greater consistency and clarity across 

the sector and help consumers to manage their gambling. 
 

Self-exclusion 
 

5.29. Self-exclusion is an important harm minimisation tool for those people 
who recognise they have a problem with gambling.  It is a requirement 
under the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of 
Practice that every operator must exclude individuals upon their 
request. 

 
5.30. A new multi-operator self-exclusion scheme for online gambling, called 

GAMSTOP, is expected to be in place by the end of 2017.  This will 
allow customers to self-exclude from all online gambling operators 
licensed by the Commission in a single step.  The website will also set 
out other measures that are available to help people manage their 
gambling and will signpost specialist advice and support services. 

 
5.31. We welcome this important development, that will significantly 

strengthen the self-exclusion arrangements available for online 
gamblers. We want to see the industry promote awareness of the 
scheme and do more to increase the take up of this, and other 
responsible gambling tools that are available.  

37 



Government position for consultation 
 

5.32. While we welcome the positive industry led initiatives outlined above, 
we also note concerns expressed by the Gambling Commission that 
the pace of change by the industry to enhance the measures currently 
in place to protect consumers and promote responsible gambling has 
not been fast enough.  

 
5.33. We expect the industry to accelerate its work wherever possible.  In 

particular, we expect industry to: 
 

● Ensure that implementation of the new multi-operator online 
self-exclusion scheme is completed at the earliest opportunity. 
Industry must promote awareness of the scheme, and other 
responsible gambling tools that are available, so that more 
customers who would benefit from them use them. And there 
should be an evaluation of this scheme (GAMSTOP) to ensure it 
is delivering the benefits we want to see for those who want to 
self-exclude;  

● Act on the findings of GambleAware’s existing research into 
harm minimisation in the online sector and trial a range of harm 
minimisation measures to strengthen their responsible gambling 
policies and processes; 

● Evaluate the action they take and share outcomes among 
industry, to raise standards across the sector; 

● Respond constructively to the interim findings from the next 
phase of GambleAware’s research into harm minimisation in the 
online sector, expected later this year, and adopt any findings 
which could strengthen existing responsible gambling policies;  

● Commit to adopt in full the final findings of the next phase of 
GambleAware’s research, expected to be completed in 2019.  

 
5.34. We want to see a robust and consistent approach to harm minimisation 

and the prevention of gambling-related harm across the industry. We 
do not believe it is acceptable for operators to wait for the final outcome 
of the research to improve their processes when significant findings 
have already been published by GambleAware. While evidence of the 
most effective methods of identifying gambling-related harm and 
providing effective interventions continues to build, we consider that 
operators should look to adopt a more risk-based approach to their 
responsible gambling policies. The Government, and the Gambling 
Commission, will be paying close attention to industry progress in this 
area and will act accordingly. 

 
5.35. The Government welcomes and supports the Gambling Commission’s 

work on driving up standards across the online industry to address the 
risk of harm.  It is essential that the regulatory action taken by the 
Commission results in better approaches to harm minimisation. 

38 



 
5.36. The Gambling Commission has made clear it will consider restricting 

the use of bonus and promotional offers if operators cannot 
appropriately manage the risks presented by such offers. The 
Government is also concerned about the prevalence of free bet offers 
and fully supports the Commission’s stance in this area.  We will 
continue to monitor closely developments in this area and keep the 
need for further intervention under review.  

  
5.37. While gambling on virtual games on gaming machines is subject to 

stakes and prize limits, there are currently no limits placed on virtual 
games offered by online operators.  The Responsible Gambling 
Strategy Board (RGSB) provided advice to the Gambling Commission 
in relation to the Government’s call for evidence and commented that 
the justification for this could only be that, when compared to operators 
of gambling premises based in Great Britain, online operators have 
better (account based) data to monitor play and intervene where harm 
is identified.  We agree with the RGSB that it is vital that the online 
sector capitalises on the data it holds and demonstrates it is actively 
supporting its customers and helping to manage the risk of harm from 
gambling.  We are clear that the risk of harm should not be affected by 
whether individuals are gambling online or in land-based venues.  

 
5.38. As such, the Government acknowledges that the Commission has a 

broad range of powers to regulate and respond to changes in this 
sector.  We want to see the Commission exercise the full breadth of the 
powers available to it to manage the risks arising from the rapid growth 
of the online sector.  Wherever Gambling Commission identifies 
specific risks to the licensing objectives we expect it to take prompt 
action to ensure that young and vulnerable people are protected from 
gambling-related harm. If the Commission’s powers prove insufficient 
to manage any new or emerging issue or risks, then the Government 
will consider putting in place additional legislative controls.  

 
5.39. As part of the Gambling Commission’s commitment to raise standards 

across all gambling sectors it is currently undertaking a wide-ranging 
review of the online sector.  The Commission is examining data, market 
trends, consumer participation and action by online operators on social 
responsibility and crime.  This will build the evidence base over the 
next year and inform any future action in relation to online gambling.  

 
Q.12 Do you support this package of measures to improve player protection 
measures for the online sector? 
 
If you have any evidence to support your position then please send to 
gamblingreviewconsultation2017@culture.gov.uk.  When sending in evidence 
please provide your name and email address so that we may contact you. By 
evidence, we are referring to published research, data or supporting analysis. 

39 

mailto:gamblingreview2017@culture.gov.uk


(iii) Gambling Advertising  
 

5.40. The call for evidence asked if existing rules were appropriate to protect 
children and vulnerable people from the possible harmful impact of 
gambling advertising. Responses were received from broadcasters, the 
advertising industry and Advertising Standards Authority (ASA)/ 
Committees for Advertising Practice (CAP), sporting bodies, 
academics, charities and members of the public.  

 
Overview of findings 

 
5.41. Numbers of betting and gaming advertisements have increased 

substantially over the past decade. Before provisions in the Gambling 
Act 2005 came into force in September 2007, only bingo and lotteries 
could advertise on TV. The lifting of restrictions led to rapid growth; this 
also coincided with the dramatic increase in online gambling (as 
outlined in the section above), with most gambling advertising on 
television and in other media now being for online gambling sites.  

 
5.42. In 2013 a major Ofcom study showed that gambling advertising 

impacts on TV - one person seeing one advert, the primary measure 
for advertising - rose more than fivefold for adults between 2005 and 
2012, growing from 5.8bn impacts to 30.9bn. Children were seeing 
more than three times as many gambling adverts in 2012 than 2005. 
Since 2005 the use of social media, and advertising via social media 
sites, has also grown very significantly. 

 
5.43. In 2014 the Government asked the Advertising Standards Authority 

(ASA), Committees for Advertising Practice (CAP/ BCAP), gambling 
industry and the Gambling Commission to carry out a four-strand 
review of gambling advertising. This concluded that there was no 
evidence that would justify further restrictions at that time. Industry took 
voluntary steps to tighten the Gambling Industry Code for Socially 
Responsible Advertising, including banning sign-up offers targeted 
solely at new customers before 9pm.  This was announced in August 51

2015 and the new code came into effect in February 2016. The 
Gambling Commission also tightened its Licence Conditions and 
Codes of Practice (LCCP) to increase the sanctions available to it in 
cases of misleading advertising.  In 2015 CAP/BCAP consulted on 
whether they should tighten their guidance on content but received 
very few responses. 

 
5.44. The 2014 reviews took into account a major research survey by Dr Per 

Binde, Associate Professor of Anthropology at Gothenburg University, 
published by the Responsible Gambling Trust (now GambleAware). 
This concludes that advertising’s impact on problem gambling 

51http://igrg.org.uk/wp/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Gambling-Industry-Code-for-Socially-Responsible-Advertising
-Final-2nd-Edition-August-2015.pdf  

40 

http://igrg.org.uk/wp/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Gambling-Industry-Code-for-Socially-Responsible-Advertising-Final-2nd-Edition-August-2015.pdf
http://igrg.org.uk/wp/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Gambling-Industry-Code-for-Socially-Responsible-Advertising-Final-2nd-Edition-August-2015.pdf


prevalence is ‘likely to be neither negligible nor considerable, but rather 
relatively small’. It is one of many environmental factors which 
contribute to prevalence (the total effect of the environment may be 
substantial). It identified that further research still needed to be done, 
including on the impact of different types of message. 

 
5.45. Problem gambling has remained statistically stable despite the rise in 

advertising, although gambling-related harm is harder to measure. 
Children’s participation in gambling and their levels of problem 
gambling have declined since 2007. 

 
5.46. CAP/ BCAP rules, as well as the industry voluntary code, already 

restrict the content of gambling advertising and where it can be shown. 
Adherence to these rules is also reflected in the Gambling 
Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice (LCCP). 

 
Figure 4. Existing restrictions on advertising (CAP/ BCAP rules) 

Broadcast gambling adverts may not be placed in or around programmes aimed at under-18s or 
likely to appeal particularly to them (the prohibition is below 16 in the case of lotteries and pools).  
 
Advertisements for gambling must not: 
 

● Portray, condone or encourage gambling behaviour that is socially irresponsible or could 
lead to financial, social or emotional harm 

● Exploit the susceptibilities, aspirations, credulity, inexperience or lack of knowledge of 
children, young people or other vulnerable people 

● Suggest that gambling can provide an escape from personal, professional or educational 
problems such as loneliness or depression 

● Suggest that gambling can be a solution to financial concerns, an alternative to 
employment or a way to achieve financial security 

● Portray gambling as indispensible or as taking priority in life; for example over family, 
friends or professional or educational commitments 

● Suggest that gambling can enhance personal qualities, for example, that it can improve 
self-image or self-esteem, or is a way to gain control, superiority, recognition or admiration 

● Suggest peer pressure to gamble nor disparage abstention 
● Link gambling to seduction, sexual success or enhanced attractiveness 
● Portray gambling in a context of toughness or link it to resilience or recklessness 
● Suggest gambling is a rite of passage 
● Suggest that solitary gambling is preferable to social gambling 
● Be of particular appeal to children or young people, especially by reflecting or being 

associated with youth culture 
● Feature anyone gambling or playing a significant role in the ad if they are under or appear 

to be under 25 years old. No-one may behave in an adolescent, juvenile or loutish way 
● Exploit cultural beliefs or traditions about gambling or luck 
● Condone or encourage criminal or anti-social behaviour 
● Condone or feature gambling in a working environment (with an exception for licensed 

gambling premises) 
 
Under the voluntary industry code, the only forms of gambling advertising permitted before 9pm 
on TV are for bingo, lotteries and sports betting (only around sporting events). Free sign up offers 
targeted at new customers are banned before 9pm and the website address for GambleAware 
must remain on the screen for at least 10% of an advert’s length. There are other stipulations for 
online, print and radio advertising. All television and print adverts must carry an 18+ or ‘no under 
18s’ message, except for lotteries, where the equivalent age is 16. 

41 



 
5.47. Content rules apply to all media, including online advertising. Children 

are not allowed to participate in most forms of gambling and it is an 
offence under the Gambling Act to invite a child to gamble. 

 
5.48. Between January and September 2017, 631 complaints about 

gambling advertising were received, resulting in 500 discrete ASA 
cases. 34 of these were investigated formally and 25 were upheld or 
upheld in part. A further 42 cases were resolved with advertisers 
informally by their agreement to change or withdraw an advertisement. 
Compared with the average quarter in the preceding 12 months, Q3 
2017 saw a 20% decrease in complaints about gambling 
advertisements. 
 

5.49. The majority of complaints received by ASA relate to misleading free 
bet and bonus offers rather than breach of the codes regarding 
protection of vulnerable people. All television adverts must be 
pre-cleared by Clearcast, and all radio adverts by RadioCentre, which 
helps ensure compliance. 

 
Call for evidence responses 

 
5.50. Responses to the call for evidence focused mainly on television 

adverts but several pointed out that advertising is moving increasingly 
online. Of the public responses, 145 included comments on advertising 
and the campaigning organisation 38 Degrees submitted a 100,000 
signature petition calling for action on advertising as well as B2 gaming 
machines (FOBTs). 

 
Volume and scheduling of advertising 

 
5.51. Many of the 145 public responses argued that there is too much 

gambling advertising on TV, citing the devastating effects of problem 
gambling and calling for advertising to be banned or heavily restricted 
because it promotes or ‘normalises’ gambling. This included, but was 
not limited to, concern about children seeing adverts during the day.  

 
5.52. Responses from academics pointed out that many children watch 

television after the watershed, especially from the age of 11. On 
advertising in general, they argued for a need to focus on the impact on 
vulnerable people, not the general population. A mental health 
campaign group suggested a ban on broadcast adverts between 12am 
and 6am, to protect the mentally ill and those impaired by drink or 
drugs. It also said that a tool to block online gambling sites and 
advertising should be made available to vulnerable people. 

 
5.53. Broadcasters, the ASA/CAP, the Advertising Association and sporting 

bodies cited the conclusion of Per Binde that the impact of advertising 
on problem gambling is small, the lack of any rise in problem gambling 

42 



to correspond with the increase in advertising since 2007, and the 
conclusion of the reviews into gambling advertising in 2014. They 
pointed out that investment in sport and sports coverage, in particular 
free-to-air coverage, depends heavily on gambling advertising. 

 
5.54. Broadcasters provided figures for gambling advertising impacts since 

Ofcom’s research in 2012. These show that the number of adverts 
seen by children and young people aged 16-24 continued to rise until 
2013, and has declined since. In 2016 children aged 4-15 saw 25% 
fewer gambling adverts than they did in 2012, and children aged 10-15 
saw 28% fewer. This is in line with Ofcom research showing children 
spending more time online.   The number of adverts seen by adults 52

has remained stable with a small decline from the peak in 2013. 
 

Tone and content of advertising 
 

5.55. Relatively little was said in the responses about the tone and content of 
current gambling advertising. Several public responses argued that it 
gives a false impression that winning is likely and there is too little 
information about the risks. Academics pointed out that it is difficult to 
make an advert which appeals to adults without appealing to 
teenagers. Industry bodies offered to work with government if it was felt 
that changes to tone and content were required. 

 
5.56. A campaign group suggested tougher and financial sanctions for 

breaches of the CAP and BCAP content codes,  arguing that the ASA 
stopping an advert was insufficient sanction as the campaign has 
usually run its course anyway. Others suggested that the exemption in 
the voluntary industry code which allows daytime advertising of bingo is 
outdated, as online bingo sites also offer casino and betting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

52 Children and parents: media use and attitudes report, Ofcom, November 2016 

43 



Figure 5.  Gambling advert impacts 
 

 
 

 
 

44 



 
 
Government position for consultation 
 

5.57. For millions of people gambling is a leisure activity and the Gambling 
Act 2005 permits licensed gambling to be offered and advertised. The 
Act also makes clear that regulation of gambling is subject to the key 
licensing objectives: keeping gambling free of crime, ensuring it is fair 
and open, and protecting children and vulnerable people from harm or 
exploitation. 

 
5.58. The Government’s objective for this review is to ensure it continues to 

strike the right balance between socially responsible growth and the 
protection of consumers and wider communities. 

 
5.59. The increase in both broadcast and online gambling advertising in the 

years following the 2005 Act has clearly been a noticeable social 
change and caused concern, especially regarding the exemptions to 
the voluntary industry code which allow daytime advertising around 
sports events on television. Scheduling restrictions in the advertising 
codes ensure that no adverts are included in or around programmes 
targeted at children.  

 
5.60. In considering the proposals in this document, the Government has 

taken into account the current state of evidence linking gambling 
advertising to harm, the existing regulatory environment and the 
protections that are in place, and whether there is a need for further 
action to protect vulnerable people. 

 
5.61. Regarding the link between gambling advertising and harm, the 

evidence base has not changed significantly since the survey of 

45 



evidence by Per Binde which was published by GambleAware in 2014. 
As outlined above, this found that the impact of advertising on problem 
gambling was likely to be rather small, as one factor among many 
which make up the environment.  

 
5.62. The study found that the prevalence of advertising did not appear to be 

linked with the prevalence of problem gambling, with some countries 
with little gambling advertising having high problem gambling rates and 
others with average or low prevalence and relatively heavy advertising. 
In the UK, problem gambling has remained relatively stable below 1% 
of the adult population, despite a very significant rise in advertising. 
However, the survey did identify the need for further research, in 
particular on the effect of different messages on vulnerable groups, 
including children and those with an existing gambling problem. This 
has been commissioned by GambleAware (see below).  

 
5.63. The Government is clear that on gambling advertising, as with other 

aspects of social responsibility, more should be done by operators and 
others who benefit from gambling to minimise the risks to vulnerable 
people. 

 
5.64. The following section outlines a package of measures and initiatives by 

regulators, including the Gambling Commission and ASA/CAP, by 
broadcasters and the gambling industry and by GambleAware. These 
are intended to address concerns about gambling advertising on a 
number of levels; by addressing the tone and content of adverts to 
strengthen protections further, by providing counterbalancing 
messages to raise awareness of risks associated with gambling and by 
making sure the Gambling Commission has the right sanctions 
available to ensure that operators comply with the advertising codes.  

 
Regulators  
 

5.65. Advertising in general in the UK is currently regulated through a 
combination of self-regulation and regulation by Ofcom (the 
self/co-regulatory system). This system works well and the Government 
continues to support it.  Gambling advertising (like that for other 
sensitive products such as alcohol) clearly requires particular 
protections.  

 
ASA/ CAP guidance 
 

5.66. Since the last gambling advertising review in 2014, CAP has continued 
to monitor the protections provided by the UK Advertising Codes and 
the ASA continues to enforce them. 
 

5.67. As shown in Figure 4, the codes require gambling operators to behave 
responsibly and protect the vulnerable. Adverts must not be targeted 

46 



through their placement or content at under-18s. For example, 
gambling adverts may not appear in children’s media and appeals to 
youth culture or use of individuals (sportspeople or even characters) 
who are under 25 are prohibited. The codes also prohibit approaches 
that are irresponsible or might cause harm to people at risk of problem 
gambling. For example, adverts that play on people’s financial worries 
or that condone specific problem gambling behaviours are prohibited. 
 

5.68. CAP has published additional guidance to support compliance with the 
rules. This gives advertisers more clarity on what the ASA is likely to 
consider unacceptable when it enforces against specific 
advertisements. 
 

5.69. Following the recent publication of guidance on the use of social media 
marketing and guidance on targeting advertising appropriately to avoid 
significant child audiences, CAP is also working on dedicated guidance 
around gambling promotions and the use of affiliates by operators. 
These will be published by the end of 2017.  
 

5.70. On a wider level, CAP has committed to produce new guidance to 
protect those at risk of problem gambling. The work will look at, among 
other things, ‘urgent calls to action’, where offers are presented in a 
manner and context that limits the time people have to decide whether 
to participate. There is some evidence to suggest that such adverts 
could encourage impulsive behaviour and therefore risk exploiting 
problem gamblers in particular.  

 
5.71. Problems with impulse control are known to play an important role in 

problem gambling. Social responsibility measures across sectors often 
focus on encouraging players to take a break from gambling and 
ensure gambling is mindful rather than impulsive or automatic. The rise 
of online gambling means a greatly increased availability of instant 
opportunities to gamble, at all times of day and without in-person 
interaction with providers. In this context advertising needs to be 
especially responsible. 
 

5.72. CAP’s guidance will draw on insights from ASA enforcement work and 
new research and statistics published this year on problem gambling, 
as well as from our call for evidence. Once it is published, the ASA will 
use it to interpret the Codes and begin to enforce against individual 
advertisements. At the same time, Clearcast and RadioCentre, which 
pre-clear adverts, will begin to apply the guidance in their work. 

  
5.73. The new problem gambling-related guidance is likely to be published 

early in the new year. CAP will then carry out a similar exercise, to 
produce another piece of gambling advertising guidance focused on 
protection of children and young people. That is expected to be 

47 



concluded in mid to late 2018. This new dedicated suite of guidance 
will help reinforce the protections provided by the Advertising Codes.  

 
Gambling Commission  

 
5.74. The Gambling Commission will consult on making compliance with the 

CAP/BCAP advertising codes a social responsibility code requirement 
of its Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP), which means 
that breaches could be subject to the full range of the Commission’s 
regulatory powers. This is already the case for the rules relating to 
misleading marketing practices.  

 
5.75. As mentioned in the preceding section on online gambling, the 

Commission is also supporting the Competition and Markets Authority 
investigation to examine possible unfair terms and misleading practices 
around online gaming sign-up promotions and free bet promotions.  

 
5.76. The Commission published an advice note earlier this year on ensuring 

direct marketing is not sent to those who have self-excluded from 
gambling. It has also been working closely with the ASA to address the 
issue of irresponsible advertorials. These include advertising which 
purports to be news and often seriously breaches the content 
restrictions in the advertising codes.  The ASA ruled against several 
operators this year following publication of these stories by rogue 
affiliates. A condition in the LCCP holds licensed operators responsible 
for the actions and behaviours of their affiliates.  

 
Online advertising, targeting and social media 

 
5.77. Online advertising uses a number of techniques to work out who is 

likely to be interested in a product. This includes using information on 
recent browsing on a particular device (Online Behavioural 
Advertising), as well as advertising on social media sites. 

 
5.78. This type of marketing is also governed by the CAP codes and must be 

responsible. For example, Appendix 3 on Online Behavioural 
Advertising requires that targeted advertisements are clearly labelled 
and that users can easily opt out.  Operators and affiliates must comply 
with the requirements of the Privacy and Electronic Communications 
Regulations and the Data Protection Act, and the Information 
Commissioner’s Office may take enforcement action if there is 
evidence of a breach. The ASA also has the power to take action if it 
receives evidence of irresponsible targeting.  
 

5.79. However, because advertising is linked to interests, a regular gambler 
who may now wish to limit or stop their gambling will tend to continue 
seeing adverts for a time. Being aware of how to use settings to opt out 
can help to reduce this. 

48 



 
5.80. The Gambling Commission will encourage social media companies, 

with GambleAware support, to develop user-friendly guides on how a 
person wishing to limit their exposure to gambling advertising can do 
so by using settings and preferences within the platforms. This will help 
those wishing to control or stop their gambling. GambleAware is also 
commissioning an evaluation of the effectiveness of software which 
blocks gambling-related content. 

 
5.81. As set out earlier, a new online multi-operator self-exclusion scheme 

known as GAMSTOP is due to be in place by the end of this year, 
allowing consumers to self-exclude from all online gambling operators 
licensed by the Commission in a single step. This will also include 
removing them from all marketing databases.  
 

5.82. The Industry Group for Responsible Gambling (IGRG) has additionally 
strengthened the Industry Code on responsible gambling advertising to 
require operators to age-gate gambling content and gambling channels 
on social media. This will require them to use the tools provided by 
social media platforms to ensure their content is inaccessible to 
under-18s. This will reinforce the CAP guidance published this spring 
on targeting advertising away from children.  

 
5.83. Through the Digital Charter the Government is looking to create a 

framework for how businesses, individuals and wider society should act 
online. This will include how big tech companies can play their part in 
tackling emerging challenges, such as online harms. We will look to 
examine the full range of possible solutions, including working with 
industry and regulators where appropriate. 

 
Responsible gambling advertising campaign  
 

5.84. GambleAware, broadcasters and gambling industry groups have drawn 
up proposals for a major responsible gambling advertising campaign, 
to run for two years with a budget of £5-7 million in each year. This will 
include television adverts, including around live sport, as well as radio, 
cinema, print and online. The scale is equivalent to or larger than the 
scale of a major Government public awareness campaign. The aim will 
be to raise public awareness of risks associated with gambling, as well 
as signposting to further advice and support where necessary.  

 
5.85. Proposals for the campaign involve new funding from online gambling 

operators, with airspace and digital media provided by broadcasters. 
The bodies which are members of the responsible gambling group, 
Senet, will continue to fund its existing messaging and responsible 
gambling advertising work but bring this in line with the wider 
campaign. We would encourage others who benefit from gambling 

49 



advertising, including social media platforms and sports bodies, to look 
at how they can contribute to raising awareness of the potential risks. 

 
5.86. GambleAware will lead the campaign, ensuring the content is 

independently approved and meets the campaign objectives. It intends 
to set up a Campaign Board and Delivery Unit, appointing an 
independent chair of the Board and approving all campaign content.  

 
5.87. The Government welcomes the initiative by broadcasters and the 

gambling industry to fund and work with GambleAware to deliver a 
major responsible gambling advertising campaign.  

 
Strengthening evidence base 

 
5.88. New research on the effects of marketing and advertising on children, 

young people and vulnerable groups has been commissioned by 
GambleAware after being identified as a priority in the Responsible 
Gambling Strategy Board’s research strategy.  

 
5.89. The overall objectives for this project are to: 

● Explore whether gambling marketing and advertising influences 
children and young people’s attitudes towards gambling, in what 
ways and the impact of this; 

● Examine the tone and content of gambling marketing and 
advertising across all media, including social media affiliates, 
and explore the potential impact of this on children, young 
people, and vulnerable people; and 

● Identify specific themes and features of gambling advertising 
that children, young people and vulnerable groups are 
particularly susceptible to. 

 
5.90. The findings of this research will help inform the development of 

guidance and protections going forward. 
 

5.91. The ASA and BCAP, with support from Ofcom, are currently 
developing their approach to monitoring television advertising for 
several types of products including gambling. This will enable the 
regulators to check up-to-date information about how much gambling 
advertising is broadcast, and who is seeing it, with a particular focus on 
children. 

 

Q.13 Do you support this package of measures to address concerns about 
gambling advertising? 
 
If you have any evidence to support your position then please send to 
gamblingreviewconsultation2017@culture.gov.uk.  When sending in evidence 
please provide your name and email address so that we may contact you. By 
evidence, we are referring to published research, data or supporting analysis. 

50 

mailto:gamblingreview2017@culture.gov.uk


(iv) Research, Education and Treatment (RET) 
 
Overview of findings  
 

5.92. In order to ensure appropriate and effective player protection systems 
and to minimise the risk of harm from gambling we want to see industry 
support for relevant research to build the evidence base, action to raise 
awareness of the risks and where to find help and support, and support 
services to those at risk of or experiencing harm.  If this voluntary 
system fails to deliver on these issues, the Government will consider 
alternative options, including the introduction of a mandatory levy. 

 
The current voluntary system 

 
5.93. Currently, industry are required by the Gambling Commission to make 

an annual financial contribution to one or more organisation(s) which 
between them research into the prevention and treatment of 
gambling-related harm, develop harm prevention approaches and 
identify and fund treatment to those harmed by gambling.  The vast 
majority of operators donate to GambleAware (formerly the 
Responsible Gambling Trust) who recommend a voluntary donation of 
0.1% of an operator’s GGY.  In 2016/17, GambleAware raised over 
£8m from industry, which was then allocated to research, education 
and treatment services for gambling-related harm, guided by the 
National Responsible Gambling Strategy published by the Responsible 
Gambling Strategy Board (RGSB).   We welcome progress made 53

recently in this space including: 
 

● The publication of a new National Responsible Gambling 
Strategy by the Responsible Gambling Strategy Board (RGSB) 
in April 2016 on which all stakeholders were consulted and now 
work from to deliver responsible gambling initiatives, including 
annual progress reports on the delivery of its objectives; 

● A complementary research strategy, also published by the 
RGSB, setting out research priorities until 2019;  

● The publication of a refreshed 5 year strategy from 
GambleAware which aims to treble the number of people who 
receive treatment in that time and increase its funding target to 
£10m per year.  This revised fundraising target was endorsed by 
the RGSB as an appropriate sum to meet the current objectives 
set out in GambleAware’s 5 year strategy, but came with the 
caveat that requirements around, for example treatment, could 
increase;  and 54

● GambleAware now has an independent chair and a much 
greater proportion of non-industry members on its board. In 

53 This arrangement between the Gambling Commission, RGSB and GambleAware is referred to as the ‘Tripartite 
system’. 
54 RGSBs current assessment of the funding required by GambleAware to deliver its part in the National 
Responsible Gambling Strategy equates to £9.3m in 17/18 and £9.5m in 18/19 

51 



addition, it has made other governance changes around how it 
commissions research, and how it manages contracts for 
treatment to address any concerns of industry influence. 

 
5.94. While progress has been made, this system must remain fit for 

purpose.  We therefore want the three bodies who make up the 
tripartite system, alongside industry, to work together to continue to 
build on and improve these arrangements.  In addition, we would 
welcome views, particularly from those currently in or who have 
received treatment under this system, experts in the field and industry, 
on how the delivery of RET can be improved in order to achieve its 
objective of reducing gambling-related harm. 

 
Research 
 

5.95. Research to improve our understanding of gambling-related harm is 
crucial to the success of the National Responsible Gambling Strategy 
as well as guiding policy and regulation on gambling matters.  We 
therefore welcome the RGSB’s publication in May 2017 of a research 
programme which sets out the priorities for research to be 
commissioned in the period from April 2017 to March 2019.   We 55

support the aim to fill current evidence gaps, particularly around 
whether there exists a treatment gap between demand and supply, and 
encourage a wide range of academics, research agencies, industry 
and others to help deliver the work.  

 
5.96. At the national level the Department of Health, working with Public 

Health England, are considering what scope there is for commissioning 
further research to better understand the impacts of gambling-related 
harm on health.  We will work closely with them to develop this strand 
of work. 

 
Education/Prevention 

 
5.97. We welcome and support work that GambleAware are taking forward in 

this space. On prevention/education, this includes:  
 

● Training frontline staff in GP surgeries, Citizen Advice Bureaus 
(CABs), housing offices and community nurses to help them 
identify gambling issues, provide interventions and signpost to 
further support.  GambleAware have already funded some CABs 
to develop a model around this; 

● Making funding and resources available to local authorities and 
charities to support interventions and help tackle and prevent 
problem gambling; 

● Marketing material to promote sources of help and advice, for 
local authorities to distribute; and 

55 http://www.rgsb.org.uk/PDF/Research-programme-2017-2019-May-2017.pdf  

52 

http://www.rgsb.org.uk/PDF/Research-programme-2017-2019-May-2017.pdf


● Leading a public information campaign (see gambling 
advertising). 

 
5.98. We are encouraged that the Local Government Association (LGA) will 

be working with GambleAware to help identify interested local 
authorities (LAs) to ensure maximum reach for this programme of work, 
which could also include: access to frontline staff; consideration being 
given to the inclusion of gambling-related harm in LAs Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessments; and support in gathering data to help better 
understand the extent and nature of the problems facing local 
communities in relation to gambling-related harm. 

 
5.99. In addition, the LGA will shortly be developing updated guidance on 

problem gambling for LAs, which will provide an opportunity to highlight 
the materials that GambleAware are developing.  

 
Treatment 
 

5.100. While problem gambling figures may under or overestimate the total 
population of people who could benefit from treatment, the latest data 
estimated that the problem gambling prevalence rate among adults in 
Great Britain was 0.8%, which equated to approximately 430,000 
people.   56

 
5.101. Problem gamblers can already access treatment services in primary 

and secondary care including specialised mental health services. 
Local authority commissioned specialist drug and alcohol services may 
also be able to offer treatment where a service for broader addictions 
has been specified.  

 
5.102. In addition, we know that problem gambling can cause physical and 

mental health problems, including anxiety disorders and depression. 
The Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) programme 
began in 2008 and has transformed treatment of adult anxiety 
disorders and depression in England. Over 900,000 people now 
access IAPT services each year, and the Five Year Forward View for 
Mental Health is committed to expanding services further, alongside 
improving quality. Although problem gambling is not listed amongst the 
provisional diagnosis categories that IAPT treats, IAPT practitioners 
would be able to treat common mental health disorders such as 
depression and anxiety, which problem gamblers may present with. 

 
5.103. Elsewhere, the Royal College of General Practitioners (RCGP) have 

developed an online gambling diagnosis and treatment training 
resource that is available free to all health professionals and Public 
Health England (PHE) promotes the RCGP online training resource 
among all health professionals.  Going forward: 

56 http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-2015.pdf  

53 

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/survey-data/Gambling-behaviour-in-Great-Britain-2015.pdf


 
● PHE has previously developed guidance for local authorities on 

gambling and is exploring what the local needs are; and 
● The National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE), Department 

of Health and National Health Service England (NHSE) are 
considering whether NICE should produce treatment guidance 
on gambling. 

 
5.104. Currently, the majority of dedicated treatment for gambling disorders is 

funded by GambleAware who fund the National Gambling Helpline and 
commissions a national network of treatment services which are locally 
accessible across Great Britain.  While there is insufficient data to 
demonstrate the extent of a treatment gap, GambleAware aim to treble 
the number of those receiving treatment over the next 5 years. 
Currently, this is mostly delivered through GamCare which has 
networks across Great Britain and is funded by GambleAware.  In 
addition, the National Problem Gambling Clinic, a specialist NHS clinic 
for problem gamblers, provides services for a proportion of those 
requiring treatment in England and Wales.  

 
Government position for consultation 

 
5.105. Going forward, we support GambleAware’s ambition to open more 

clinics regionally, and to connect them to the existing 
GambleAware-funded network of treatment services; in particular, the 
initiative currently under development with Leeds City Council to 
establish a Northern NHS Gambling Clinic that would provide treatment 
to cities across the region.  We encourage further engagement with 
relevant authorities in England, Scotland and Wales that have an 
interest in investing in the sort of initiative being developed in Leeds.  

 
5.106. We also welcome the progress that has been made to bolster the 

current voluntary arrangements, including the work that has been done 
to cost the short term work of delivering the RGSB’s National 
Responsible Gambling Strategy, providing GambleAware with targets 
for 2017/18 and 2018/19.  

 
5.107. The industry must step up and fulfil their duties under these new 

targets.  We would also like to see more work done to understand the 
longer term funding requirements for RET, particularly around 
treatment.  For example, if treatment were to reach a materially greater 
proportion of problem gamblers, and if prevention efforts were 
increased to pre-empt gambling-related harm more generally, then the 
funding requirement could be much greater.  The voluntary 
arrangements must be ready to scale up as and when required. 

 
5.108. We will continue to work closely with the Gambling Commission, RGSB 

and GambleAware to monitor the progress made against objectives set 

54 



out in both the RGSB’s and GambleAware’s strategies and on the 
issues set out above.  We want to see all gambling operators engaging 
fully with the objectives set out in these strategies as well as the 
published funding targets. If there is insufficient support for the 
fundraising targets set by the RGSB, or related concerns about the 
ability of the current system to deliver the RGSBs strategy, the 
Government will consider alternative options, including the introduction 
of a mandatory levy.  

 
 
Q14. Do you agree that the Government should consider alternative options, 
including a mandatory levy, if industry does not provide adequate funding for RET? 
  
If you have any evidence to support your position then please send to 
gamblingreviewconsultation2017@culture.gov.uk.  When sending in evidence 
please provide your name and email address so that we may contact you. By 
evidence, we are referring to published research, data or supporting analysis. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

55 

mailto:gamblingreview2017@culture.gov.uk


6. Chapter Six: Local Authorities 
 
Overview of findings 
 

6.1. The call for evidence included a catch all question asking respondents 
for views on any other issue that they deemed relevant.  Under this 
question, the predominant issue that was raised came from the Local 
Government Association (LGA) and a number of Local Authorities 
(LAs), who proposed the introduction of cumulative impact 
assessments (CIAs) to give more powers to manage gambling at the 
local level. 

 
6.2. We received responses from 29 local authorities and one submission 

from the Local Government Association (LGA) to the call for evidence. 
We did not receive submissions from relevant authorities in Scotland 
and Wales, but our assessment below applies to the whole of Great 
Britain.  Submissions received called for: 

 
● Further powers for LAs  to control gambling at the local level - 57

suggestions focused primarily on the introduction of cumulative 
impact assessments (CIA) to allow LAs to reject applications for 
new gambling premises licences; and 

● To ensure effective use of a CIA, the introduction of additional 
licensing objectives in the Gambling Act 2005, which as well as 
requiring that gambling be fair and open, free of crime and 
disorder and protect the young and vulnerable, would also cover 
the ‘prevention of public nuisance’ and ‘improved public safety’. 

 
6.3. In addition, a number of LAs acknowledged the effectiveness of the 

new planning laws that came into force in April 2015 in England which 
required a planning application for change of use of a building to a 
betting shop or the development of new betting shops. 

 
Government position for consultation 

 
6.4. The LGA, alongside a number of LAs, suggested that the introduction 

of local CIAs for gambling premises may be an effective tool in 
preventing further clustering, specifically of betting shops.  We are 
keen to support LAs (in England and Wales) and Licensing Boards (in 
Scotland) in their management of gambling at a local level, but we 
believe that their objectives can be achieved using existing powers. 
Specifically, LAs can already set out the same assessment of the risk 
in a given location under their licensing statement of policy.  The 
Gambling Commission advise that the implementation of this tool 
varies from one LA to another, but where it is used effectively and 
updated regularly, for example in Westminster Council, it can be an 

57  Including Licensing Authorities in Scotland 

56 



effective tool at rejecting licence applications or imposing conditions on 
new licences, as would be the case with the introduction of CIAs.  We 
encourage LAs to continue to work closely with the Gambling 
Commission to ensure the effective deployment of the existing tools at 
their disposal. 

 
6.5. In addition, where an increase in the number of betting shops is 

considered to be a local issue, having an up-to-date, relevant local plan 
policy in place will support the local planning authority in the 
determination of any applications for planning permission. The National 
Planning Policy Framework provides the framework within which local 
planning authorities and their communities can produce their own 
distinctive local plan which reflects the specific needs and priorities of 
their area.  

 
 

Q.15 Do you agree with our assessment of the current powers available to local 
authorities? 
 
If you have any evidence to support your position then please send to 
gamblingreviewconsultation2017@culture.gov.uk.  When sending in evidence 
please provide your name and email address so that we may contact you. By 
evidence, we are referring to published research, data or supporting analysis. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

57 

mailto:gamblingreview2017@culture.gov.uk


Chapter Seven: Summary of questions 
 
Q1. Do you agree that the maximum stake of £100 on B2 machines (FOBTs) should be 
reduced? If yes, what alternative maximum stake for B2 machines (FOBTs) do you support? 
  
Q2.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on category 
B1? 
  
Q3.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on category 
B3? 
  
Q4.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on category 
B3A? 
  
Q5.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on category 
B4? 
  
Q6.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on category C? 
  
Q7.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on category D? 
  
Q8. Do you agree with the government’s proposals to increase the stake and prize for prize 
gaming, in line with industry proposals? 
  
Q9. Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on allocations 
for casinos, arcades and pubs?  
  
Q10. Do you agree with the government’s proposals to bar contactless payments as a direct 
form of payment to gaming machines? 
  
Q.11 Do you support this package of measures to improve player protection measures on 
gaming machines? 
  
Q.12 Do you support this package of measures to improve player protection measures for 
the online sector? 
  
Q.13 Do you support this package of measures to address concerns about gambling 
advertising? 
  
Q.14 Do you agree the Government should consider alternative options including a 
mandatory levy if industry does not provide adequate funding for RET? 
  
Q.15 Do you agree with our assessment of the current powers available to local authorities 
 
Q16. Are there any other relevant issues, supported by evidence, that you would like to raise 
as part of this consultation but that has not been covered by questions 1-15? 
 
 
 

58 



Appendix A: Gaming Machine Summary 
 

Machine category Maximum 
stake 

Maximum prize Allowed premises 

B1 £5 £10,000 (£20,000 
linked progressive 
jackpot on a 
premises basis) 

Casinos  

B2 £100 £500 Betting premises and tracks 
occupied by pool betting and all of 
the above 

B3 £2 £500 Bingo premises, Adult Gaming 
Centre and all of the above 

B3A £2 £500 Members’ club, commercial club 
or Miners’ welfare institute only 

B4 £2 £400 Members’ club or Miners’ welfare 
club, commercial club and all of 
the above. 

C £1 £100 Family Entertainment Centre, 
Qualifying alcohol licensed 
premises and all of the above. 

D (money prize) 10p £5 Travelling fairs, unlicensed 
(permit) Family Entertainment 
Centre and all of the above 

D non-money prize (other than 
crane grab machine) 

30p £8 All of the above 

D non-money prize (crane grab 
machine) 

£1 £50 All of the above 

D combined money and 
non-money prize (other than coin 
pusher or penny falls machines) 

10p £8 (of which no 
more than £5 may 
be a money prize) 

All of the above 

D combined money and 
non-money prize (coin pusher or 
penny falls machine) 

20p £20 (of which no 
more than £10 
may be a money 
prize) 

All of the above 

 
 
 
 
 

59 



Appendix B: List of respondents to the call for 
evidence 
 
Industry/Trade Associations 
 
ADP Gauselmann UK Ltd 
Advertising Standards Authority 
Aspers Group 
Association of British Bookmakers 
Association of Licensed Multiple Retailers 
At the Races 
Betfred 
Bingo Association 
British Amusement & Catering Trade Association 
British Association of Leisure Parks, Piers and Attractions 
British Beer and Pub Association 
British Horseracing Authority 
Castle Leisure 
Commercial Broadcasters Association 
Electrocoin 
English Football League 
Gala Leisure 
Gambling Business Group 
Genting Casinos UK Ltd 
Global Gaming Ventures (Developments) Limited 
Greene King 
Industry Group for Responsible Gambling 
Inspired Gaming 
ITV 
Hippodrome Casino 
Ladbrokes-Coral 
Les Ambassadeurs Club Limited  
Marston’s plc 
Mirage Leisure 
National Casino Forum 
NB Leisure Ltd 
Novomatic UK 
Opera House Casino 
Paddypower Betfair 
People’s Postcode Lottery 
Praesepe 
Rank Group plc 
Remote Gambling Association 
Satellite information Service 
Senet Group 
SG Gaming 
Shipley Leisure Ltd 

60 



Sky Betting and Gaming 
Sky UK 
Sport and Recreation Alliance 
Tombola 
Viacom 
William Hill 
 
Local Authorities 
 
Local Government Association 
Barking & Dagenham 
Bradford 
Ealing 
Enfield 
Greenwich 
Hackney 
Haringey 
Hounslow 
Islington 
Knowlsey 
Leeds 
Leicester 
Lewisham 
Medway 
Newcastle 
Newham 
North East Lincolnshire 
Peterborough 
Rochdale 
Sedgemoor 
Sheffield 
Sunderland 
Tower Hamlets 
Wandsworth 
Wolverhampton 
 
Parliamentarians 
 
All Party Parliamentary Group on Fixed Odds Betting Terminals 
Patrick Grady MP 
Fabian Hamilton MP 
Margaret Hodge MP 
 
Faith Groups 
 
Baptist Union 
Christian Centre for Gambling Rehabilitation 
Christian Institute 

61 



Church of England 
Church of Scotland 
Methodist Church 
Quaker Action on Alcohol and Drugs 
Salvation Army 
United Reformed Church  
 
Charities 
 
Christian Action, Research and Education 
GambleAware 
 
Members of the public 
 
We received 167 individual responses from the general public.  We also received a 
petition containing over 100,000 signatures from campaign group, 38 degrees, 
calling for government to ‘Crackdown on addictive betting machines and adverts.’ 
 
Interest Groups/Academics 
 
Advertising Association 
Campaign for Fairer Gambling  
Gambling Reform and Society Perception 
Gamserve 
Institute of Economic Affairs 
Landman Economics 
Law Society of Scotland 
London Chinatown Chinese Association 
Money and Mental Health Policy Institute 
The Outcomes Group 
Rethink Gambling 
University of Birmingham/Gambling Watch UK, Professor Jim Orford 
University of Bristol, Dr Sean Cowlishaw 
University of London, City, Dr Margaret Carran 
University of London, Goldsmith, Professor Rebecca Cassidy 
University of London, Queen Mary, Dr Julia Hӧrnle 
 
 

 
 
 

62 



APPENDIX B

GAMING MACHINES AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY CONSULTATION - Response 

Q1. Do you agree that the maximum stake of £100 on B2 machines (FOBTs) should 
be reduced?

A fixed odds betting terminal (FOBT) is a type of electronic slot machine normally 
found in betting shops in the United Kingdom. The terminals allow players to bet on 
the outcome of various games and events which have fixed odds, with the theoretical 
percentage return to player (RTP) being displayed on the machine by law. One can 
expect slot machines FOBTs to have an RTP of between 90%, up to 94% depending 
on the chosen stake, and standard roulette FOBT to have a long term average RTP 
of 97%. Fixed odds betting terminals were introduced to UK shops in 2001. 

Yes – The medical report 1259 by Gambleaware shows that there is a link between 
a high gross expenditure on machines in betting shops and problem gamblers. This 
is backed up by Gamcare’s annual review and statics report which shows that a high 
proportion of problem gamblers who present for treatment identify machines in 
betting shops as their main form of gambling. 

If yes, what alternative maximum stake for B2 machines (FOBTs) do you support?

£2 – This would bring the stake for FOBTs in line with other gaming machines in 
accessible locations. However the run rate would need to be looked at as well as the 
stake.

Q2.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
category B1?

Gaming machines only located in casinos

Yes – Changes have not been proposed by any party

Q3.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
category B3?

Gaming machines located in casinos, arcades, betting and bingo premises 

Yes – The changes proposed by the British Amusement Catering Trade Association 
(BACTA), to increase the stake by 50p and the prize by £50, are for economic 
reasons and do not cover the effect an increase in stake will have on the player. 

Q4.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
category B3A?

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Slot_machine
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Betting_shop
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom


Gaming machines located in registered club and licensed under the Licensing Act 
2003

Yes – Changes have not been proposed by any party

Q5.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
category B4?

Gaming machines located in registered club and licensed under the Licensing Act 
2003

Yes – Changes have not been proposed by any party

Q6.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
category C?

Gaming machines located in arcades, pubs, betting and bingo premises 

Yes – Although it is noted that the proposal to double the stake to £2 and the prize 
by £50 on traditional fruit machines is to make the machines more economically 
viable and to slow the decline in revenue, this increase would make the category C 
machine comparable to a category B3 machine without the additional player 
protection measures that apply to a category B machine.

Q7.Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
category D?

Gaming machines located in arcades and fairs 

Yes – While there is an economic case for the proposed increase in stake for 
category D machines concern is raised as these types of machines are typically 
aimed at and available to children.

Q8. Do you agree with the government’s proposals to increase the stake and prize 
for prize gaming, in line with industry proposals?

Crane Machines and similar machines where the prize is determined before play 
located at seaside arcades and amusement areas.

Yes – There is no evidence that an increase in stake for prize gaming poses a 
significant risk to problem gamblers.

Q9. Do you agree with the government’s proposals to maintain the status quo on 
allocations for casinos, arcades and pubs?

Yes – Public houses have an automatic entitlement for 2 category C or D machines 
but can apply to the local authority to increase this number if it is deemed 
appropriate, therefore an increase in allocation for public houses is not required. 



Q10. Do you agree with the government’s proposals to bar contactless payments as 
a direct form of payment to gaming machines?

Yes – The use of contactless credit/debit cards on gaming machines would reduce 
player control through uninterrupted play generated by the use of cards over cash.

Q.11 Do you support this package of measures to improve player protection 
measures on gaming machines?

Yes – Any additional measures, whether voluntary adhered to by the player or 
mandatory by the premises, which improves player protection is welcome. 

Q.12 Do you support this package of measures to improve player protection 
measures for the online sector?

Yes – Any additional measures, whether voluntary adhered to by the player or 
mandatory by the on-line operator, which improves player protection is welcome. 

Q.13 Do you support this package of measures to address concerns about gambling 
advertising?

Yes – These measures will address concerns about gambling advertising and raise 
awareness of risks associated with gambling. They will also give the Gambling 
Commission new sanctions to ensure operators comply with advertising codes.

Q.14 Do you agree the Government should consider alternative options including a 
mandatory levy if industry does not provide adequate funding for RET (Research, 
Education and Treatment)?

Currently, industry are required by the Gambling Commission to make an annual 
financial contribution to one or more organisation(s) which between them research 
into the prevention and treatment of gambling-related harm, develop harm 
prevention approaches and identify and fund treatment to those harmed by 
gambling. The vast majority of operators donate to GambleAware (formerly the
Responsible Gambling Trust) who recommend a voluntary donation of 0.1% of an 
operator’s GGY. In 2016/17, GambleAware raised over £8m from industry, which 
was then allocated to research, education and treatment services for gambling-
related harm, guided by the National Responsible Gambling Strategy published by 
the Responsible Gambling Strategy Board (RGSB).

Yes – If the industry is not supporting the current voluntary contribution towards RET 
then mandatory measures will need to be introduced to ensure longer tem funding 
requirement for RET, particularly around treatment. 

Q.15 Do you agree with our assessment of the current powers available to local 
authorities

Yes - The Licensing Authority would be interested in Cumulative Impact 
Assessments which allowed consideration to be given to the cumulative harm arising 



from new betting shop applications. Where CIAs have been used appropriately it can 
be an effective tool at rejecting applications or imposing conditions on new licenses. 

Q16. Are there any other relevant issues, supported by evidence, that you would like 
to raise as part of this consultation but that has not been covered by questions 1-15?

No



Appendix B




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 14 March 2017
	4 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meetings of the Licensing sub - committee held on 6 December 2017, 21 May 2018 and 10 September 2018.
	Minutes
	Officer.Agreed.DRAFT.Minutes.Licensing Sub-Committee 21 May 2018

	6 Draft Statement of Licensing Policy: Consultation
	StatementofLicensingPolicy_v1

	7 Draft Statement of Gambling Policy Consultation
	Gambling Statement 2019-2022

	8 Review of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Knowledge Test
	10 Delegated Action under Standing Order 38 : Consultation on Changes to Gaming Machines and Social Responsibilities: January 2018
	SO 38 Appendix A to cover report
	SO38 Appendix A to Delegated Authority report - Consultation_on_proposals_for_changes_to_Gaming_Machines_and_Social_Responsibility_Measures
	SO 38 Appendix B to Delegated authority report.doc
	SO38 Appendix B to delegation report - Redacted SO38 form


